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Illinois Tool Works Inc.

3600 West Lake Avenue

Glenview, Illinois 60026

Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Friday, May 3, 2013

3:00 P.M.

The Northern Trust Company

50 South LaSalle Street

Chicago, Illinois 60603

ITW is holding its 2013 Annual Meeting for the following purposes:

1. To elect the twelve directors named in this proxy statement for the upcoming year;

2. To ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as ITW�s independent registered public
accounting firm;

3. To hold an advisory vote on executive compensation;

4. To consider a stockholder proposal to adopt simple majority vote right, if presented at the Annual
Meeting; and
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5. To conduct any other business as may be properly brought before the meeting.
The Board of Directors recommends that you vote �FOR� each of the director nominees, �FOR� ratification of the
appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as ITW�s independent registered public accounting firm for 2013, �FOR�
approval of the compensation of ITW�s named executive officers, and �AGAINST� the stockholder proposal, if
presented at the meeting.

Only stockholders of record at the close of business on March 5, 2013 are entitled to vote.

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. Please return your proxy card or vote via the Internet or by telephone so that your
shares will be voted and represented at the meeting, even if you plan to attend the meeting. Please note that brokers
may not vote your shares on the election of directors, the advisory vote on executive compensation or on the
stockholder proposal in the absence of your specific instructions as to how to vote.

The Company�s annual report to stockholders for fiscal year 2012 is enclosed with this proxy statement.

By Order of the Board of Directors,
Maria C. Green

Secretary
March 22, 2013
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Illinois Tool Works Inc.

Proxy Statement

Internet Availability of Proxy Materials

We are furnishing proxy materials, which include our 2012 annual report, to many of our stockholders through the
Internet. If you received a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (E-Proxy Notice) by mail or
electronically, you will not receive a printed copy of the proxy materials unless you specifically request one. Instead,
the E-Proxy Notice provides instructions on how you may access and review our proxy materials online. The E-Proxy
Notice also instructs you on how you may submit your proxy via the Internet. If you received the E-Proxy Notice and
would still like to receive a printed copy of our proxy materials, you should follow the instructions for requesting such
materials included in the E-Proxy Notice. On or about March 22, 2013, we will begin mailing printed copies of our
proxy materials to all stockholders who previously submitted a valid election to receive all future proxy materials and
other stockholder communications in written format, and sending the E-Proxy Notice to all other stockholders.

Receiving Future Proxy Materials Electronically: Stockholders may also sign up to receive future proxy materials,
including E-Proxy Notices and other stockholder communications electronically, instead of by mail. This will reduce
our printing and postage costs and eliminate bulky paper documents from your personal files. To sign up to receive
stockholder communications electronically, follow the instructions on your proxy card or E-Proxy Notice under �Vote
by Internet.� You will need the 12-digit number that is printed in the box marked by the arrow g, which appears on
your proxy card or E-Proxy Notice. This 12-digit number is sometimes called the control number. In order to receive
the communications electronically, you must have an e-mail account and access to the Internet. If you own your
shares through a broker or other nominee, you may contact them directly to request electronic access. Your consent to
electronic access will be effective until you revoke it. You may revoke your consent by going to www.proxyvote.com
and using the 12-digit number that is printed in the box marked by the arrow g to complete the revocation.
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Questions and Answers

Below are questions often asked by stockholders of publicly held companies. We hope that the answers will assist you
in casting your vote.

What am I voting on?

We are soliciting your vote on:

1. The election of the twelve directors named in this proxy statement for the upcoming year;

2. The ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public
accounting firm for 2013;

3. An advisory vote on ITW�s executive compensation;

4. A stockholder proposal to adopt simple majority vote right; and

5. Any other business as may be properly brought before the meeting.
Who may vote?

Stockholders at the close of business on March 5, 2013, the record date, may vote. On that date, there were
451,466,551 shares of ITW common stock outstanding.

How many votes do I have?

Each share of ITW common stock that you own entitles you to one vote.

How do I vote?

You may vote your shares in one of the following four ways:

1.  In person:   Attend our Annual Meeting, where ballots will be provided; or
2.  By telephone:   See the instructions at www.proxyvote.com; or
3.  By Internet:   See the instructions at www.proxyvote.com; or
4.  By mail:   If you received a printed copy of these proxy materials by mail, by   signing, dating and

mailing the enclosed proxy card.
If you vote by telephone or Internet, you should have your proxy card or E-Proxy Notice in hand when you call or go
to the proxy vote site. If you hold your shares through a bank or broker that does not offer telephone or Internet
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voting, please complete and return your proxy card by mail.

When must I submit my vote by Internet or by phone?

If you vote by Internet or by phone, you must transmit your vote by 10:59 p.m., Central Time, on May 2, 2013.

If I hold shares through an ITW Savings and Investment 401(k) Plan, when must I submit my vote?

Shares held through an ITW 401(k) plan must be voted by 10:59 p.m., Central Time, on April 30, 2013 in order to be
tabulated in time for the meeting.

3
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How does discretionary voting authority apply?

Stockholders of Record.  If you are a stockholder of record and you vote by proxy, the individuals named on the proxy
card (your proxies) will vote your shares in the manner you indicate. If your proxy card does not indicate how you
want to vote, your proxy will be voted �FOR� the election of each director nominee, �FOR� the ratification of the
appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm, �FOR� approval of ITW�s
executive compensation, �AGAINST� the stockholder proposal to adopt simple majority voting, and �FOR� or �AGAINST�
any other properly raised matter at the discretion of Susan Crown, Robert S. Morrison and Pamela B. Strobel, or any
one of them.

Beneficial Owners.  If your shares are held in a brokerage account or by a nominee, and you do not provide your
broker or nominee with voting instructions, the broker or nominee may represent your shares at the meeting for
purposes of obtaining a quorum, but may not exercise discretion to vote your shares at the meeting unless the proposal
is considered a routine matter. The only matter being proposed for stockholder vote at the 2013 Annual Meeting that
is considered a routine matter is the proposal to ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent
registered public accounting firm. As a result, your broker or nominee will not have discretion to vote on the election
of directors, ITW�s executive compensation, or the stockholder proposal to adopt simple majority voting in the absence
of voting instructions from you. If you are a beneficial owner, it is important that you provide instructions to your
bank, broker or other holder of record so that your vote is counted.

May I revoke my proxy?

You may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted at our Annual Meeting in one of four ways:

1. Notify our Secretary in writing before our Annual Meeting that you wish to revoke your proxy;

2. Submit another proxy with a later date;

3. Vote by telephone or Internet after you have given your proxy; or

4. Vote in person at our Annual Meeting.
What does it mean if I receive more than one E-Proxy Notice or set of proxy materials?

Your shares are likely registered differently or are in more than one account. For each notice, proxy and/or voting
instruction card or e-mail notification you receive that has a 12-digit number, you must vote separately to ensure that
all shares you own are voted.

What constitutes a quorum?

The presence, in person or by proxy, of the holders of a majority of ITW shares entitled to vote at our Annual Meeting
constitutes a quorum. Your shares will be considered part of the quorum if you return a signed and dated proxy card or
if you vote by telephone or Internet. Abstentions and broker non-votes are counted as �shares present� at the meeting for
purposes of determining if a quorum exists. A broker non-vote occurs when your bank, broker or other holder of
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vote as to a non-routine proposal because that holder has not received voting instructions from you and, therefore,
does not have voting authority for that proposal.

What vote is required to approve each proposal, assuming a quorum is present?

Election of Directors:  The number of shares voted �FOR� a director must exceed the number of shares voted
�AGAINST� that director to constitute approval by the stockholders.

Ratification of the Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm:  The affirmative vote of a
majority of the shares present in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote will constitute
approval by the stockholders.

Advisory (Non-Binding) Vote on ITW�s Executive Compensation:  The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares
present in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote will constitute approval by the stockholders.

Stockholder Proposal to Adopt Simple Majority Vote Right:  The affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present
in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote will constitute approval by the stockholders.

What is the effect of a broker non-vote generally and on each proposal?

A broker non-vote occurs when a broker or other nominee does not receive voting instructions from the beneficial
owner and does not have the discretion to direct the voting of the shares. Broker non-votes will be counted for
purposes of calculating whether a quorum is present at the Annual Meeting, but will not be counted for purposes of
determining the number of votes present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote with respect to a
particular proposal. Broker non-votes will not, therefore, impact our ability to obtain a quorum and will have no effect
on the matters being submitted for approval at the Annual Meeting.

What if I �abstain� from voting?

An abstention on the election of directors will have no effect on the outcome. An abstention on the other proposals
will have the effect of a vote against those proposals.

How do I submit a stockholder proposal?

To be considered for inclusion in our proxy statement for our May 2014 Annual Meeting, a stockholder proposal must
be received no later than November 22, 2013. Your proposal must be in writing and must comply with the proxy rules
of the Securities and Exchange Commission or SEC. You should send your proposal to our Secretary at our address
on the cover of this proxy statement.

You also may submit a proposal that you do not want included in the proxy statement, but that you want to raise at our
May 2014 Annual Meeting. We must receive your proposal in writing on or after January 3, 2014, but no later than
February 2, 2014. As detailed in the advance notice procedures described in our by-laws, for a proposal other than the
nomination of a director to be properly brought before an annual meeting, your notice of proposal must include:
(1) your name and address, as well as the name and address of the beneficial owner of the shares, if any; (2) the
number of shares of ITW stock owned beneficially and of record by you and any beneficial owner

Edgar Filing: ILLINOIS TOOL WORKS INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents 12



5

Edgar Filing: ILLINOIS TOOL WORKS INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents 13



Table of Contents

as of the date of the notice (which information must be supplemented as of the record date); (3) a description of
certain agreements, arrangements or understandings entered into by you or any beneficial owner with respect to the
shares (which information must be supplemented as of the record date) or the business proposed to be brought before
the meeting; (4) any other information regarding you or any beneficial owner that would be required under the SEC�s
proxy rules and regulations; and (5) a brief description of the business you propose to be brought before the meeting,
the reasons for conducting that business at the meeting, and any material interest that you or any beneficial owner has
in that business.

How do I nominate a director?

If you wish to nominate an individual for election as a director at our May 2014 Annual Meeting, our Secretary must
receive your written nomination on or after January 3, 2014, but no later than February 2, 2014. As detailed in the
advance notice procedures described in our by-laws, for a nomination to be properly brought before an annual
meeting, your notice of nomination must include: (1) your name and address, as well as the name and address of the
beneficial owner of the shares, if any; (2) the number of shares of ITW stock owned beneficially and of record by you
and any beneficial owner as of the date of the notice (which information must be supplemented as of the record date);
(3) a description of certain agreements, arrangements or understandings entered into by you or any beneficial owner
with respect to the shares (which information must be supplemented as of the record date); (4) the name, age and
home and business addresses of the nominee; (5) the principal occupation or employment of the nominee; (6) the
number of shares of ITW stock that the nominee beneficially owns; (7) a statement that the nominee is willing to be
nominated and serve as a director; (8) a statement as to whether the nominee, if elected, intends to tender his or her
resignation in accordance with our Corporate Governance Guidelines; (9) an undertaking to provide any other
information required to determine the eligibility of the nominee to serve as an independent director or that could be
material to stockholders� understanding of the nominee�s independence; and (10) any other information regarding you,
any beneficial owner or the nominee that would be required under the SEC�s proxy rules and regulations had our Board
of Directors nominated the individual. Any nomination that you make must be approved by our Corporate Governance
and Nominating Committee, as well as by our Board of Directors. The process for the selection of director candidates
is described under �Corporate Governance Policies and Practices � Director Candidate Selection Process� below.

Who pays to prepare, mail and solicit the proxies?

We will pay the cost of solicitation of proxies including preparing, printing and mailing this proxy statement and the
E-Proxy Notice. We will also authorize brokers, dealers, banks, voting trustees and other nominees and fiduciaries to
forward copies of the proxy materials to the beneficial owners of ITW common stock. Upon request, we will
reimburse them for their reasonable expenses. In addition, our officers, directors and employees may solicit proxies in
person, by mail, by telephone or otherwise. In the event that we decide to engage a proxy solicitation firm to assist
with the solicitation of proxies, we would expect to engage Georgeson and that the additional cost to be borne by us
would be approximately $10,000 plus reasonable and approved out-of-pocket expenses.

6
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Election of Directors

Stockholders are being asked to elect the twelve directors named in this proxy statement at our Annual Meeting. The
individuals listed below have been nominated by the Board of Directors as recommended by the Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committee. See �Corporate Governance Policies and Practices� for more information
regarding our candidate selection process. Each director will serve until the May 2014 Annual Meeting, until a
qualified successor director has been elected, or until he or she resigns or is removed.

We will vote your shares as you specify on the proxy card, by telephone, by Internet or by mail. If you do not specify
how you want your shares voted, we will vote them �FOR� the election of all the nominees listed below. If unforeseen
circumstances (such as death or disability) make it necessary for the Board of Directors to substitute another person
for any of the nominees, we will vote your shares �FOR� that other person. The Board of Directors does not anticipate
that any nominee will be unable to serve.

Each nominee for director brings a strong and unique background and set of skills to the Board, giving the Board as a
whole competence and experience in a variety of areas. Set forth below is biographical information provided by the
nominees, as well as a description of the experiences, qualifications, skills and attributes that led the Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committee and the Board to conclude that each nominee should serve as a director of the
Company.

Daniel J. Brutto, 56, has served as Senior Vice President of United Parcel Service, Inc., a
global package delivery, supply chain management and freight forwarding company, and
President of UPS International since January 2008 and has announced his plan to retire from
these positions at the end of April 2013. Previously he served as President, Global Freight
Forwarding, for UPS from 2006 to 2007, and corporate controller from 2004 to 2006. Mr.
Brutto has over 38 years of experience at UPS, serving over the years in various functional
areas with increasing levels of responsibility, including operations, finance, information
systems, mergers & acquisitions, marketing, business development and international. Mr.
Brutto was elected as a director of ITW in February 2012 and has not served as a director of
any other publicly traded company in the last five years. Mr. Brutto serves on the boards of
various civic and not-for-profit organizations. In addition, he serves on the board of the
US-China Business Council, and in the past he has served on the Guangdong Economic
Council, the Turkish Economic Council and as a delegate to the World Economic Forum,
Davos, Switzerland. Mr. Brutto�s experience integrating multiple freight forwarding units and
establishing UPS operations in 35 countries across Europe and Asia, as well as his global
perspective, are considered valuable additions to the Board.

7
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Susan Crown, 54, has served as Vice President of Henry Crown and Company, a business with
diversified investments, since 1984. Ms. Crown is currently a director of Northern Trust
Corporation and its subsidiary, The Northern Trust Company, and has not served as a director
of any other publicly traded company in the last five years. Ms. Crown has served as a director
of ITW since 1994. Ms. Crown�s experience includes executive experience in diversified
manufacturing, cellular phone, home furnishings and real estate businesses. She has extensive
experience with civic and not-for-profit organizations, having served on the boards of many
such organizations and having received a number of awards for her distinguished civic service.
Her experience as a board member at Northern Trust Corporation, The Northern Trust
Company and various large not-for-profit organizations has given her a valuable perspective on
many current corporate responsibility topics.

Don H. Davis, Jr., 73, retired as Chairman of the Board of Rockwell Automation, Inc., a
leading global provider of industrial automation power, control and information products and
services, in February 2005, a position he had held since 1998. From 1997 to 2005, he also
served as Rockwell�s Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Davis is not currently a director of any
publicly traded company other than ITW; however, he was formerly a director of Ciena
Corporation, Journal Communications, Inc. and Rockwell Automation, Inc. Mr. Davis has
served as a director of ITW since 2000. In addition to his experience as chief executive officer
of a major global industrial manufacturing company, Mr. Davis has an extensive background in
mechanical engineering. He also has many years of experience on public company boards, as
well as on the boards of civic and other not-for-profit organizations. His experience and
background have enabled him to develop a deep operational understanding of our global
businesses and work force.

James W. Griffith, 59, has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of The Timken
Company, a manufacturer of bearings, alloy and specialty steels and components, since 2002,
and previously served as President and Chief Operating Officer from 1999 to 2002. Mr. Griffith
joined Timken in 1984, and has held positions in various functional areas of Timken with
increasing levels of responsibility, including purchasing and logistics, manufacturing and
international operations. From 1996 to 1999, he led Timken�s automotive business in North
America and Timken�s bearing business activities in Asia and Latin America. Prior to joining
Timken, he held production and engineering positions at Martin Marietta, Bunker Hill
Company and Homestake Mining Company. Mr. Griffith is currently a director of The Timken
Company and was elected as a director of ITW in March 2012. He served as a director of
Goodrich Corporation until July 2012. He also serves on the board of the US-China Business
Council and a number of other industry and not-for-profit organizations. Mr. Griffith�s broad
experience in manufacturing and engineering and his international perspective are considered
valuable additions to the Board.
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Robert C. McCormack, 73, is an Advisory Director of Trident Capital, Inc., a venture capital
firm, and was a Partner of Trident from 1993 to 2004. From 1987 to 1993, Mr. McCormack
served successively as Deputy Under Secretary of Defense and Assistant Secretary of the Navy
(Finance and Comptroller). Within the past five years, Mr. McCormack was a director of
MeadWestvaco Corporation, Northern Trust Corporation and its subsidiary, The Northern Trust
Company, and DeVry Inc. Mr. McCormack has served as a director of ITW since 1993 and
previously served as a director of ITW from 1978 through 1987. Mr. McCormack�s extensive
experience in the investment banking industry and private equity investment, in addition to his
service in the Navy, where he was responsible for the operating financial systems throughout
the United States Department of the Navy, has given him vast experience in managing complex
financial systems. He also has extensive experience as a director of other large cap public
companies, as well as financial institutions.

Robert S. Morrison, 70, retired as Vice Chairman of PepsiCo, Inc., a beverage and food
products company, having served in that position from 2001 to 2003. From 1997 to 2001, prior
to its merger with PepsiCo, he was Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of The
Quaker Oats Company. He also served as interim Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 3M
Company from June to December 2005. Mr. Morrison is currently a director of 3M Company
and Aon Corporation, was formerly a director of The Tribune Co., has served as a director of
ITW since 2003 and currently serves as ITW�s non-executive Chairman. Mr. Morrison�s
experience as a former top executive of three public global companies and his long-standing
experience as a director of 3M Company and Aon Corporation, as well as other public
companies and civic and not-for-profit organizations, provide valuable insight and
understanding of global operations.

E. Scott Santi, 51, has served as President and Chief Executive Officer of ITW since November
2012 and as President and Chief Operating Officer from October to November 2012.
Previously, Mr. Santi served as Vice Chairman from December 2008 to October 2012 and
Executive Vice President from October 2004 to December 2008. He has served as a director of
ITW since November 2012, and currently serves as a director of W.W. Grainger, Inc. He has
not served as a director of any other publicly traded company in the last five years. Mr. Santi
also has significant experience as a participating board member of a number of professional and
not-for-profit organizations. With close to 30 years of experience at ITW, Mr. Santi has a deep
understanding of its business operations, operating philosophy, and culture.

9
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James A. Skinner, 68, retired as Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of McDonald�s
Corporation, a global restaurant chain, having served in those positions from 2004 to June
2012. Previously, Mr. Skinner served as Vice Chairman from 2003 to 2004; as President and
Chief Operating Officer of McDonald�s Restaurant Group from February 2002 to December
2002; as President and Chief Operating Officer of McDonald�s Europe, Asia/Pacific, Middle
East and Africa from 2001 to 2002; and as President of McDonald�s-Europe from 1997 to 2001.
Mr. Skinner is currently the non-executive Chairman of Walgreen Co. and a director of
McDonald�s Corporation. He has served as a director of ITW since 2005. He has not served as a
director of any other publicly traded company in the last five years. Mr. Skinner�s valuable
experience serving as the chief executive officer of one of the world�s largest companies and
holding various positions within the organization, including executive positions in McDonald�s
international operations throughout the world, gives him a variety of experiences in many
different management and executive roles. His broad experience gives him valuable insights
and perspectives to our global operations.

David B. Smith, Jr., 46, has served as Executive Vice President for Policy & Legal Affairs and
General Counsel of Mutual Fund Directors Forum, a not-for-profit membership organization for
independent investment company directors and an advocate on important policy matters, since
2005. From 1996 to 2005, Mr. Smith held several positions at the Securities and Exchange
Commission serving as Associate Director, Division of Investment Management, from 2001 to
2005; Assistant General Counsel for Investment Management, Office of the General Counsel,
from 1998 to 2001; and Attorney, Office of the General Counsel, from 1996 to 1998. Mr. Smith
is currently a director of Northern Trust Corporation and its subsidiary, The Northern Trust
Company, and has not served as a director of any other publicly traded company in the last five
years. Mr. Smith has served as a director of ITW since 2009. Mr. Smith�s extensive legal and
regulatory experience from serving in various legal and supervisory capacities at the Securities
and Exchange Commission, as well as his executive experience in a mutual fund industry
organization, enable him to bring to the Board the perspective of both a regulator and industry
participant, and his experience working with independent fund directors gives him a unique
perspective as an independent Board member of ITW. Mr. Smith is a nephew of Mr. Harold B.
Smith, an emeritus director of ITW.

Pamela B. Strobel, 60, retired as Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer of
Exelon Corporation and President of Exelon Business Services Company, an electric and gas
utility company, in October 2005, a position she had held since 2003, previously serving as
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Exelon Energy Delivery from 2000 to 2003. Prior to
that, she served as Executive Vice President of Unicom and its chief subsidiary, ComEd, having
joined ComEd as General Counsel in 1993. Ms. Strobel is currently a director of Domtar
Corporation and State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company. Ms. Strobel has served as
a director of ITW since 2008. With her extensive executive and legal experience in the energy
industry, her experience as a director of other large public companies and her involvement in
civic activities and not-for-profit organizations, Ms. Strobel�s experience and perspectives are
valuable contributions to the Board�s overall expertise.
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Kevin M. Warren, 50, has served as President of U.S. Client Operations for Xerox Corporation
since June 2010. Since 1984, Mr. Warren has held several positions at Xerox with increasing
levels of responsibility, including serving as Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
of Xerox Canada, from 2007 to 2010; Senior Vice President, Acquisition Transition Office in
2007; and Senior Vice President, U.S. Eastern Sales, U.S. Solutions Group from 2004 to 2007.
He also serves as a director of a number of professional, civic and not-for-profit organizations.
Mr. Warren has served as a director of ITW since 2010 and has not served as a director of any
other publicly traded company in the last five years. Mr. Warren�s extensive experience in
executive management, global operations and sales gives him valuable insights and
perspectives to our global sales and operations.

Anré D. Williams, 47, has been President, Global Merchant Services, of American Express
Company since 2011. From 2007 to 2011, Mr. Williams was President, Global Commercial
Card, of American Express. From 1989 to 2007, Mr. Williams held several positions at
American Express, serving as Executive Vice President, U.S. Commercial Card, from 2003 to
2007; Senior Vice President, U.S. Middle Market, from 2000 to 2003; Vice President and
General Manager, Western Region, Corporate Services, from 1999 to 2000; and Vice President,
Acquisition and Advertising, from 1996 to 1999. Mr. Williams has served as a director of ITW
since 2010 and is a former director of Ryerson Inc. Mr. Williams has not served as a director of
any other publicly traded company in the last five years. Mr. Williams� extensive experience in
executive management, leading global businesses and financial services, and his experience as a
director of another large public company are valuable contributions to the Board�s overall
expertise, as well as to our global operations.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote �FOR� the election of all of the above nominees.
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Board of Directors and Its Committees

The Company�s Board of Directors met eight times during 2012. In addition to these Board meetings, directors
attended meetings of Board committees. Non-employee directors, all of whom are independent, met five times in
regularly scheduled executive sessions in conjunction with regular board meetings and once in a separately convened
meeting of independent directors. Mr. Robert S. Morrison, who was named non-executive Chairman of the Board in
November 2012 and served as lead director prior to that date, serves as the Chairman of executive sessions of the
independent directors.

As stated in the Company�s Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Board believes that it is in the best interests of the
Company to examine whether the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be combined each time the
Board elects a new chief executive officer. E. Scott Santi was elected President and CEO in November 2012, after the
death of David B. Speer. The Board decided to separate the roles of CEO and Chairman at that time and elected
Robert S. Morrison, who was then lead director, as non-executive Chairman. Our Corporate Governance Guidelines
also state that the Board has the discretion to combine or separate the offices of CEO and Chairman at such time or
times as it deems appropriate.

The Board of Directors has standing audit, compensation, corporate governance and nominating, finance, and
executive committees. Under the terms of their charters, each member of the audit, compensation, and corporate
governance and nominating committees must meet applicable New York Stock Exchange (�NYSE�) and SEC
independence requirements. The Company encourages its directors to attend all Board and committee meetings and
the Annual Meeting of Stockholders. In 2012, during the time they were serving, all of the directors attended at least
75% of the meetings of the Board and the committees on which they serve, and all of the directors then serving
attended our 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for the engagement of our independent registered public accounting firm and
assists the Board with respect to matters involving and overseeing accounting, financial reporting and internal audit
functions. In addition, the Committee is responsible for the integrity of the Company�s financial statements,
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the independence and performance of ITW�s independent
registered public accounting firm, and the performance of the Company�s internal audit function. Finally, the Audit
Committee reviews and evaluates our policies and practices with respect to risk assessment and risk management and
steps taken by management to monitor and control such exposures. Additional information on the Committee and its
activities is set forth under �Audit Committee Report� below.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee establishes and oversees executive compensation policies, including issues relating to
pay and performance, targeted positioning and pay mix. The Compensation Committee recommends to the other
independent directors compensation for the chief executive officer, reviews and approves the chief executive officer�s
recommendations regarding the compensation of our other executive officers, and makes recommendations regarding
new incentive compensation and equity-based plans or amendments to any such existing plans. The
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Compensation Committee also is responsible for reviewing and evaluating risks arising from our compensation
policies and practices and providing input to management on whether such policies and practices may have a material
adverse effect on the Company.

Under its charter, the Compensation Committee may retain an independent compensation consultant or other advisors.
The Compensation Committee engaged Frederic W. Cook & Co., an independent consultant (�Cook�), as its
independent advisor to review the Company�s overall executive compensation program, review the peer group of
companies used by the Compensation Committee for comparison purposes and assess our compensation governance
process. Cook was asked to review materials relevant to the overall compensation of our executives and to meet with
our management and members of the Compensation Committee in order to gain strategic insight into the Company�s
compensation programs. Cook also provided market data to the Compensation Committee regarding retainer fees for
non-executive chairmen. Based on representations from Cook and executive officers of the Company, the
Compensation Committee has determined that Cook and its individual compensation advisor to the committee are
independent.

On a limited basis, Company management has engaged Aon Hewitt and Towers Watson & Co. to provide competitive
market data (including information with respect to the Company�s peer group companies). From time to time, the
Compensation Committee reviews the materials provided by Aon Hewitt and Towers Watson & Co. to management.

Additional information on the Compensation Committee, its activities, its relationship with its compensation
consultant and the role of management in setting compensation, is provided under �Compensation Discussion and
Analysis� below.

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee identifies, evaluates and recommends director candidates;
develops, administers and recommends corporate governance guidelines; oversees the evaluations of the performance
and procedures of the Board and individual directors; and makes recommendations as to Board committees and Board
size. This committee also oversees and makes recommendations to the independent directors regarding non-employee
director compensation. See �Corporate Governance Policies and Practices � Director Candidate Selection Process� below
for a description of the director selection process.

Finance Committee

The Finance Committee reviews, evaluates and recommends management�s proposals to the Board relating to the
Company�s financing, investment portfolio and real estate investments, and reviews and evaluates an annual summary
of the funding and investment status of significant benefit plans sponsored by the Company globally. The Finance
Committee also periodically reviews and evaluates risks arising from the Company�s investments, treasury function
(such as derivatives and interest rates) and liquidity.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee may act on behalf of the Board if a matter requires Board action between meetings of the
full Board. The Executive Committee�s authority in certain matters is limited by law and our by-laws.

13
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Committee Memberships

The following table shows the committee membership and the number of meetings held by each committee during
2012:

Director
Audit

Committee
Compensation
Committee

Corporate
Governance

and Nominating
Committee

Finance
Committee

Executive
Committee

Daniel J. Brutto X(1) X(1)

Susan Crown X X Chair
Don H. Davis, Jr. X X
James W. Griffith X(2) X(2)

Robert C. McCormack X Chair A(3)

Robert S. Morrison X Chair X
E. Scott Santi X(4)

James A. Skinner Chair X X
David B. Smith, Jr. X X
David B. Speer X(5)

Pamela B. Strobel Chair X A(3)

Kevin M. Warren X X
Anré D. Williams X X
Fiscal 2012 meetings 4 3 3 3 1

(1) Committee member since February 2012.

(2) Committee member since March 2012.

(3) Alternate member of Executive Committee.

(4) Committee member since December 2012.

(5) Committee member until his death in November 2012.
Board�s Role in Risk Oversight

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk oversight of the Company. While the Board has delegated to
the Audit Committee the responsibility to review and evaluate the Company�s overall risk policies and practices, the
responsibility for the review and evaluation of risks relating to investments and other treasury functions has been
delegated to the Finance Committee, and risks arising from the Company�s compensation policies and practices has
been delegated to the Compensation Committee. Each of these committees reports their findings to the full Board, and
the Compensation Committee is also responsible for providing input to management on whether the Company�s
compensation policies and practices may have a material adverse effect on the Company.

The Company has identified key business risks of the Company, including, but not limited to, the Company�s business
structure simplification initiative, emerging markets, tax, acquisitions and divestitures, business environment
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(including industry, market, sourcing, competition and operations), legal (including product liability), pension
funding, financial, regulatory and investment risks, and has established a formal process for continuous review of such
risks. At each Audit Committee meeting, Company management gives a presentation on at least one of these risks,
providing the Audit Committee members an opportunity to discuss the risks and the risk mitigation processes. Certain
risks are reviewed and discussed annually, while others are considered on a rotating basis. The Audit Committee
reports its evaluation of each risk presentation to the full Board after each Audit Committee meeting.

The risk reviews conducted by the Compensation and Finance Committees are also reported to the full Board on a
regular basis. The Company believes that because each of these committees is comprised of independent directors, the
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company is subject to the risk oversight of independent directors.
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Corporate Governance Policies and Practices

General

We have long believed that good corporate governance is important to assure that the Company is managed for the
long-term benefit of its stockholders. Accordingly, we continuously review our corporate governance policies and
practices not only for compliance with applicable law, the rules and regulations of the SEC, and the listing standards
of the NYSE, but also for good corporate governance principles and standards of behavior. In 2010, we adopted a new
Global Anti-Corruption Policy, which supplements our Statement of Principles of Conduct and provides detailed
guidance to our employees on prohibited actions under anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws. We also adopted a
hedging policy that prohibits our key employees and directors from hedging the risk of ownership in ITW stock and a
clawback policy that provides for the recovery of incentive compensation payments from our senior officers in the
event of an accounting restatement (whether or not based on misconduct) due to material noncompliance with
financial reporting requirements. Effective April 1, 2013, we added a prohibition against future pledges of ITW stock
to our hedging policy.

Our Board of Directors has adopted and annually reviews charters for our Audit, Compensation, and Corporate
Governance and Nominating Committees. We maintain a corporate governance section on our website that includes
the charters of these committees, the Company�s Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Company�s Statement of
Principles of Conduct (our code of business conduct and ethics for directors, officers and employees), Global
Anti-Corruption Policy and the Company�s Code of Ethics for the Chief Executive Officer and key financial and
accounting personnel. In addition, we will promptly post any amendments to or waivers of the Code of Ethics on our
website. You can find this and other corporate governance information at www.itw.com. We also will provide copies
of this information upon request.

Communications with Directors

Stockholders and other interested parties may communicate with any of our directors, including Robert S. Morrison,
our Chairman, or with the independent directors as a group by sending an e-mail to independentdirectors@itw.com
or by writing to the independent directors as a group or to any of our directors c/o Illinois Tool Works Inc., 3600 West
Lake Avenue, Glenview, IL 60026, Attention: Secretary, with a designation on the outside of the envelope as a �Board
Communication.� Relevant communications will be forwarded by the Secretary to the appropriate directors depending
on the facts and circumstances outlined in the communication.

Board Independence

Our Board conducts an annual review as to whether each of our directors meets the applicable independence standards
of the NYSE. In accordance with the NYSE listing standards, our Board of Directors has adopted categorical
standards for director independence. A copy of the Company�s Categorical Standards for Director Independence is
attached as Appendix A. A director will not be considered independent unless the Board of Directors determines that
the director has no material relationship with the Company (directly, or as a partner, stockholder or officer of an
organization that has a material relationship with the Company).

The Board has determined that each of the current directors, except E. Scott Santi, has no material relationship with
the Company other than as a director and is independent within the
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meaning of the Company�s Categorical Standards for Director Independence and the listing standards of the NYSE. In
making its independence determinations, the Board of Directors has broadly considered all relevant facts and
circumstances including that: (1) Ms. Crown and Mr. Smith serve as directors of Northern Trust Corporation and its
subsidiary, The Northern Trust Company, with which the Company has a commercial banking relationship as
described under �Certain Relationships and Related Transactions� below; (2) Messrs. Morrison and Skinner serve as
directors, and Mr. Griffith serves as a director and officer, of companies that have an existing customer or supplier
relationship with the Company; (3) Ms. Crown and immediate family members have direct and indirect interests in a
company with which we conduct business; (4) Ms. Strobel serves as a director of two companies with which we
conduct business, one of which owns approximately 5.1% of the Company�s common stock; (5) Mr. David B.
Smith, Jr. is the nephew of Harold B. Smith, emeritus director of the Company; and (6) each of Messrs. Brutto,
Warren and Williams is an officer of a company with which we conduct business. The Board has concluded that these
relationships are not material and, therefore, do not impair the independence of the directors.

Director Qualifications

Our directors play a critical role in guiding the Company�s strategic direction and oversee the management of the
Company. Board candidates are considered based upon various criteria, such as their personal integrity and judgment,
broad-based business and professional skills and experiences, a global business and social perspective, and concern
for the long-term interests of our stockholders. Although there is no specific policy regarding Board diversity, racial,
ethnic and gender diversity are also important factors considered in the director selection process. In addition,
directors must have time available to devote to Board activities and to enhance their knowledge of the global
manufacturing environment. Accordingly, we seek to attract and retain a diverse board composed of highly qualified
directors who have sufficient time to attend to their duties and responsibilities to the Company. Of the twelve directors
currently on our Board, two are women and two are African American.

Director Candidate Selection Process

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee, or other members of the Board of Directors, may identify a
need to add new members to the Board of Directors with specific skills or simply to fill a vacancy on the Board. At
that time the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee would initiate a search, seeking input from Board
members and senior management and, to the extent it deems appropriate, engaging a search firm. An initial qualified
candidate or a slate of qualified candidates would be identified and presented to the Committee for its evaluation and
approval. The Committee would then seek full Board endorsement of the selected candidate(s).

Our by-laws permit stockholders to nominate directors for consideration at an annual meeting of stockholders. The
policy of the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee is to consider a properly submitted stockholder
nomination for election as director. For a description of the process for submitting a director candidate in accordance
with the Company�s by-laws, see �Questions and Answers � How do I nominate a director?� above.

Assuming that a properly submitted stockholder recommendation for a director candidate has been received, the
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee will evaluate that
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candidate by following substantially the same process, and applying substantially the same criteria, as for candidates
submitted by other sources, but the Committee has no obligation to recommend that candidate for nomination.

Director and Officer Succession Planning

The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee has worked with several search firms in recent years to assist
in identifying and evaluating potential candidates for the Board. In 2010, Russell Reynolds Associates, Inc.
recommended Kevin M. Warren and Anré D. Williams. In 2011, Spencer Stuart, Inc. recommended James W.
Griffith, and James Drury Partners recommended Daniel J. Brutto. The Corporate Governance and Nominating
Committee evaluated Messrs. Warren, Williams, Griffith and Brutto and found that they were all desirable additions
to the Board, especially in light of their diverse executive experience and extensive operational and international
perspectives. The Committee recommended and the Board elected Messrs. Warren and Williams in August 2010.
Messrs. Griffith and Brutto were considered and elected to the Board in early 2012.

Leadership development, including succession planning, has long been a priority of our senior executive team, as we
recognize the importance of identifying and developing candidates for the full range of management positions. This is
reflected in the fact that the individual performance goals of our senior executive officers, including the CEO, over the
last several years have included leadership development and/or succession planning as a significant element of annual
incentive compensation. See �Compensation Discussion and Analysis � Annual Cash Incentives � Personal
Objectives-Based Annual Cash Incentive (O Factor)� below. The CEO oversees the leadership development efforts by
the named executive officers other than the CEO, and the Board oversees the leadership development efforts by the
CEO. The Company has a rigorous process for annual talent review and leadership development for senior executive
management. In addition, the Company has built a pipeline of qualified potential candidates for executive vice
presidents, senior vice presidents, vice presidents, group presidents and general managers.

Director Election

Our by-laws provide for the election of directors in uncontested elections by majority vote. Under this majority vote
standard, each director must be elected by a majority of the votes cast with respect to that director. For this purpose, a
majority of the votes cast means that the number of shares voted �for� a director exceeds the number of shares voted
�against� that director. In a contested election, directors will be elected by a plurality of the votes represented in person
or by proxy at the meeting. An election is contested if the number of nominees exceeds the number of directors to be
elected. Whether an election is contested or not is determined ten days in advance of when we file our definitive proxy
statement with the SEC. This year�s election is uncontested, and the majority vote standard will apply.

If a nominee who is serving as a director is not elected at an annual meeting, Delaware law provides that the director
would continue to serve on the Board as a �holdover director� until his or her successor is elected. Our Corporate
Governance Guidelines, however, require any nominee for director who fails to receive a majority of the votes cast for
his or her election to tender his or her resignation. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee of the
Board will consider the resignation and recommend to the Board whether to accept or reject it. In considering the
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resignation, the Committee will take into account such factors as any stated reasons why stockholders voted against
the election of the director, the length of service and qualifications of the director, the director�s contributions to the
Company, and our Corporate Governance Guidelines. The Board will consider the Committee�s recommendation, but
no director who failed to receive a majority of the votes cast will participate. We will disclose the results of the
Committee�s review within 90 days of such annual meeting. At our 2012 Annual Meeting, each director received a
majority of the votes cast for his or her election.

Director Compensation

Annual Retainer and Chair Fees

In 2012, the annual cash retainer for non-employee directors was $135,000. In addition, retainer fees for lead director
and for the chair of the Audit, Compensation, Corporate Governance and Nominating, Finance, and Executive
Committees were as follows: lead director retainer fee, $20,000; Audit and Compensation Committee chair fees,
$20,000; Corporate Governance and Nominating and Finance Committee chair fees, $10,000; and Executive
Committee chair fee, $5,000. In November 2012, the lead director became the non-executive Chairman. Commencing
November 18, 2012, the non-executive Chairman receives an annual retainer fee of $100,000. Non-employee directors
are given the opportunity to elect annually to receive all or a portion of their annual retainer and chair fees in an
equivalent value of ITW common stock pursuant to our Illinois Tool Works Inc. 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the
�Long-Term Incentive Plan�). The number of ITW shares to be issued to a director is determined by dividing the dollar
amount of the fee subject to the election by the fair market value of ITW common stock on the date the fee otherwise
would have been paid in cash.

Directors� Deferred Fee Plan

Non-employee directors can defer receipt of all or a portion of their annual retainer and chair fees until retirement or
resignation. Deferred cash amounts are credited with interest quarterly at current rates. A director can also elect to
defer receipt of any ITW common stock to be received in lieu of a cash payment, in which case the deferred shares are
credited as stock units to an account in the director�s name. The account receives additional credit for cash dividends
and is adjusted for stock dividends, splits, combinations or other changes in ITW common stock upon retirement,
resignation or a corporate change (as defined in our Long-Term Incentive Plan), with any fractional shares paid in
cash.

ITW Common Stock

The Company grants stock to its non-employee directors under our Long-Term Incentive Plan, which links this
element of compensation to long-term performance. Under our director compensation program, non-employee
directors serving in 2012 received an annual stock grant equivalent in value to approximately $105,000. Our
non-executive Chairman receives an additional annual stock grant equivalent in value to $100,000.

Phantom ITW Stock

To further tie a portion of their compensation to our long-term performance, non-employee directors of the Company
were awarded 1,000 units of phantom stock upon first becoming a
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director. The value of each unit equals the market value of one share of ITW common stock. Additional units are
credited to a director�s phantom stock account in an amount equivalent to cash dividends paid on ITW stock. Accounts
are adjusted for stock dividends, stock splits, combinations or similar changes. A director is eligible for a cash
distribution from his or her account at retirement or upon approved resignation. Directors may elect to receive their
distribution in either a lump sum or in up to ten annual installments. Directors receive the value of their phantom stock
accounts immediately upon a change in control. The Board discontinued the grant of phantom stock units in May
2012.

Director Compensation in Fiscal Year 2012

The following table summarizes the compensation for our non-employee directors who served during 2012. Fees for
Messrs. Brutto and Griffith are based on the dates they became ITW directors. Fees and stock awards shown for
Mr. Morrison include a pro-rated portion of additional fees and an additional stock award for his services as
non-executive Chairman.

Name

Fees Earned or
Paid in
Cash

($)(1)(2)

Stock
Awards
($)(3)

Total
($)

Daniel J. Brutto $ 120,164 $ 104,934 $ 225,098
Susan Crown $ 140,000 $ 104,934 $ 244,934
Don H. Davis, Jr. $ 135,000 $ 104,934 $ 239,934
James W. Griffith $ 112,500 $ 104,959 $ 217,459
Robert C. McCormack $ 145,000 $ 104,934 $ 249,934
Robert S. Morrison $ 177,000 $ 154,909 $ 331,909
James A. Skinner $ 155,000 $ 104,934 $ 259,934
David B. Smith, Jr. $ 135,000 $ 104,934 $ 239,934
Pamela B. Strobel $ 155,000 $ 104,934 $ 259,934
Kevin M. Warren $ 135,000 $ 104,934 $ 239,934
Anré D. Williams $ 135,000 $ 104,934 $ 239,934

(1) The following directors elected to convert some or all fees earned in 2012 to shares of ITW common stock and to defer receipt of those
shares:

Name Fees Deferred in 2012 Number of Shares
Susan Crown $ 70,000 1,221
Don H. Davis, Jr. $ 135,000 2,354
Robert S. Morrison $ 177,000 3,067
James A. Skinner $ 155,000 2,703
Pamela B. Strobel $ 155,000 2,703

(2) Fees include the $135,000 annual retainer, lead director fee, non executive Chairman fee and committee chair fees prorated where
applicable.
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(3) Each director serving in 2012 received an annual stock grant of 1,879 shares equivalent in value to approximately $105,000, except that
Mr. Griffith, part of whose stock grant was issued on a different date than other directors, received 1,860 shares. Mr. Morrison received a
pro-rated stock grant of 817 shares equivalent in value to approximately $50,000 on December 7, 2012 for his services as non-executive
Chairman. In addition, as of December 31, 2012, the directors� phantom stock accounts had phantom stock unit balances as follows:
Mr. Brutto, 1,026; Ms. Crown, 5,371; Mr. Davis, 2,571; Mr. Griffith, 1,026; Mr. McCormack, 5,371; Mr. Morrison, 2,467; Mr. Skinner,
2,399; Mr. Smith, 1,090; Ms. Strobel, 1,150; Mr. Warren, 1,069; and Mr. Williams, 1,069.
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Ownership of ITW Stock

Directors and Executive Officers

The following table shows the amount of ITW common stock beneficially owned by the directors, the named
executive officers, and all directors and executive officers as a group as of December 31, 2012. The �named executive
officers� as shown in the table are our current Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and the next three
most highly-compensated executive officers who were serving at the end of the last fiscal year (based on total
compensation, less the increase in pension value and nonqualified deferred compensation earnings). The �percent of
class� calculation is based on 455,047,668 shares of ITW common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2012.

Beneficial ownership is a technical term broadly defined by the SEC to mean more than ownership in the usual sense.
In general, beneficial ownership includes any shares a director or executive officer can vote or transfer and stock
options and restricted stock units that are currently vested or that become vested within 60 days. Except as otherwise
noted, the stockholders named in this table have sole voting and investment power for all shares shown as beneficially
owned by them.

The number of the directors� phantom stock units disclosed in the table represents an equivalent number of shares of
ITW common stock as of December 31, 2012. Phantom stock units are not transferable and have no voting rights. The
units are payable in cash and are not included in the �percent of class� calculation.

Name of Beneficial Owner
Shares of Common Stock

Beneficially Owned
Phantom
Stock Units

Percent
of Class

Directors (other than Executive Officers)
Daniel J. Brutto 2,922 1,026 *
Susan Crown 47,807  (1) 5,371 *
Don H. Davis, Jr. 46,805  (2) 2,571 *
James W. Griffith 3,860 1,026 *
Robert C. McCormack 12,116,469  (3) 5,371 2.7% 
Robert S. Morrison 77,529  (4) 2,467 *
James A. Skinner 28,766  (5) 2,399 *
David B. Smith, Jr. 128,751  (6) 1,090 *
Pamela B. Strobel 22,267  (7) 1,150 *
Kevin M. Warren 6,789  (8) 1,069 *
Anré D. Williams 9,147 1,069 *
Named Executive Officers
E. Scott Santi 458,233  (9) � *
Ronald D. Kropp 296,451(10) � *
David C. Parry 340,738(11) � *
Craig A. Hindman 356,507(12) � *
Roland M. Martel 305,668(13) �

Directors and Executive Officers as a Group (26 Persons) 15,419,448(14) 24,609 3.4% 

* Less than 1%

  (1) Includes (a) 4,000 shares owned by Ms. Crown�s spouse, which are pledged to secure bank borrowings, and as to which she disclaims
beneficial ownership; (b) 4,000 shares held in trusts of which Ms. Crown�s children are beneficiaries, as to which she disclaims beneficial
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  (2) Includes 32,000 deferred shares in lieu of director�s fees.

  (3) Includes (a) 800 shares owned in a trust, as to which Mr. McCormack shares voting and investment power with The Northern
Trust Company; (b) 8,826,114 shares owned in 8 trusts, as to which Messrs. McCormack and Harold Smith, one other individual, and The
Northern Trust Company are trustees and share voting and investment power; (c) 12,550 shares owned in a limited partnership in which
Mr. McCormack owns 99% of the limited partnership units; (d) 2,715,470 shares owned in 4 trusts, as to which Mr. McCormack, two
other individuals and The Northern Trust Company are trustees and share voting and investment power (all of these shares are pledged to
secure lines of credit); (e) 548,750 shares owned in three limited partnerships, in which Mr. McCormack has a beneficial interest through
trust ownership of the limited partnership units; and (f) 12,785 shares owned in a revocable trust for Mr. McCormack, as to which he has
sole investment authority.

  (4) Includes 24,940 deferred shares in lieu of director�s fees.

  (5) Includes 19,413 deferred shares in lieu of director�s fees.

  (6) Includes (a) 102,901 shares owned jointly with Mr. Smith�s spouse (all of which are pledged to secure lines of credit); (b) 14,986 shares
held in trusts of which Mr. Smith�s children are beneficiaries, as to which he disclaims beneficial ownership; and (c) 2,000 shares owned in
two trusts as to which Mr. Smith shares voting and investment power.

  (7) Includes 16,266 deferred shares in lieu of director�s fees.

  (8) Includes 1,000 shares beneficially owned by Mr. Warren�s spouse.

  (9) Includes (a) 3,369 shares allocated to Mr. Santi�s account in the ITW Savings and Investment Plan; (b) 407,734 shares covered by options
exercisable within 60 days; and (c) 16,279 performance restricted stock units which vest within 60 days.

(10) Includes (a) 279,283 shares covered by options exercisable within 60 days; and (b) 7,122 performance restricted stock units which vest
within 60 days.

(11) Includes (a) 1,115 shares allocated to Mr. Parry�s account in the ITW Savings and Investment Plan; (b) 332,055 shares covered by options
exercisable within 60 days; and (c) 7,122 performance restricted stock units which vest within 60 days.

(12) Includes (a) 326,981 shares covered by options exercisable within 60 days; and (b) 8,139 performance restricted stock units which vest
within 60 days.

(13) Includes (a) 8,660 shares allocated to Mr. Martel�s account in the ITW Savings and Investment Plan; (b) 230 shares in Mr. Martel�s dividend
reinvestment plan account; (c) 276,693 shares covered by options exercisable within 60 days; and (c) 7,122 performance restricted stock
units which vest within 60 days.

(14) Includes (a) 2,678,216 shares covered by options exercisable within 60 days; (b) 90,195 restricted stock units and performance restricted
stock units which vest within 60 days; and (c) 2,822,371 shares pledged as security.
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Other Principal Stockholders

The following table shows, as of December 31, 2012, the only stockholders that we know to be beneficial owners of
more than 5% of ITW common stock. The �percent of class� calculation is based on 455,047,668 shares of ITW
common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2012. See �Certain Relationships and Related Transactions� for a
description of the commercial banking services provided by The Northern Trust Company and its subsidiaries to the
Company and the amount paid by the Company for these services.

Name and Address of

Beneficial Owner
Shares of Common Stock

Beneficially Owned
Percent
of Class

The Northern Trust Company 45,969,405(1) 10.1% 
50 South LaSalle Street
Chicago, IL 60603
Harold B. Smith 33,565,559(2) 7.4% 
c/o Illinois Tool Works Inc.
3600 West Lake Avenue
Glenview, IL 60026
State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company 23,350,712(3) 5.1% 
One State Farm Plaza
Bloomington, IL 61710

(1) The Northern Trust Company and its affiliates act as sole fiduciary or co-fiduciary of trusts and other fiduciary accounts that own an
aggregate of 45,969,405 shares. They have sole voting power with respect to 15,997,996 shares and shared voting power with respect to
28,653,204 shares. They have sole investment power with respect to 5,033,732 shares and shared investment power with respect to
34,244,696 shares. The information above was provided in a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2013. In addition, The
Northern Trust Company holds in other accounts, but does not beneficially own, 33,165,326 shares, resulting in aggregate holdings by The
Northern Trust Company of 79,134,731 shares, or 16.9%.

(2) Includes (a) 3,542 shares directly owned; (b) 22,274,827 shares owned in 11 trusts, one family limited partnership, and one limited liability
company as to which Mr. Smith shares voting and investment power with The Northern Trust Company and others (all 22,274,827 of these
shares are pledged to secure lines of credit); (c) 1,862,237 shares owned in 15 trusts as to which Mr. Smith shares voting and investment
power (1,268,507 of these shares are pledged to secure lines of credit); (d) 8,826,114 shares owned in 8 trusts as to which Messrs. Smith
and McCormack and The Northern Trust Company are trustees with a third individual and share voting and investment power;
(e) 600,145 shares owned in a revocable trust; and (f) 2,236 shares owned by a charitable foundation of which Mr. Smith is a director.

(3) Includes 196,012 shares as to which State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company (State Farm) has shared voting power and
196,012 shares as to which State Farm has shared dispositive power. The information above was provided in a Schedule 13G filed with the
SEC on February 8, 2013.
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership

Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires that the Company�s executive officers, directors and
greater than 10% stockholders file reports of ownership and changes of ownership of ITW common stock with the
SEC and the NYSE. Based on a review of copies of these reports provided to us during fiscal 2012 and written
representations from executive officers and directors, we believe that all filing requirements were timely met during
2012, except that a transfer from the ITW Stock Fund of the ITW Savings and Investment Plan in April 2012 on
behalf of Sharon Brady was reported on a Form 5 in January 2013.

Availability of Form 10-K and Annual Report

The Company is providing its annual report and its Annual Report on Form 10-K to stockholders who receive this
proxy statement. The Company will provide copies of these reports to brokers, dealers, banks, voting trustees and their
nominees for the benefit of their beneficial owners of record. Additional copies of this proxy statement, the annual
report and the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 are available
without charge upon written request to Illinois Tool Works Inc., 3600 West Lake Avenue, Glenview, IL, 60026,
Attention: Secretary. You may also review the Company�s SEC filings by visiting the Company�s website at
www.itw.com.
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Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Executive Summary

The Company emphasizes a total compensation approach in establishing individual executive compensation levels,
with each element of compensation serving a specific purpose. In addition to paying a competitive base salary, we use
a mix of different performance-based elements of compensation that reward different aspects of both Company and
individual performance. The Company�s executive compensation program consists primarily of three elements:
short-term cash compensation (base salaries and annual cash incentives), long-term incentive compensation (stock
options, restricted stock units and cash), and retirement benefits, as illustrated below:

Component Objective Alignment with
Shareholder

Value Creation

Annual Cash Compensation

� Base Salary � Provide a base wage that is competitive to
attract and retain highly qualified leaders

� Reflective of individual performance,
experience, and scope of responsibility

� Annual Incentive (�P&O�) � Motivate executives to achieve annual
business and individual goals

Focused on income
growth and
individual objectives
designed to
deliver strategic
business
imperatives

Long-Term Incentives

� Stock Options � Motivate executives to make decisions that
focus on long-term stockholder value

� Retain highly qualified leaders

� Reward executives for delivering on critical
strategic long-term goals

Award value based on
sustained
long-term growth in
ITW stock
price

� Performance-Based RSUs (�PRSUs�) Use Earnings Per
Share (�EPS�)
metric and payout
based on
sustained long-term
growth in
ITW stock price

� Cash:
Company-wide Growth Plan (�CGP�)

Focused on Return on
Average
Invested Capital
(�ROIC�),
Operating Margins and
Revenue
Growth
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Retirement Plans

� Two retirement savings plans: a 401(k) plan and a nonqualified deferred compensation plan
� Two pension plans: a qualified pension plan and a nonqualified pension plan to restore benefits otherwise lost due to IRS limitations on
qualified plan compensation

Other Programs

� Severance Policy: Two times annual cash compensation (base salary plus average annual incentive) and a pro rata payout of outstanding
cash incentive awards upon termination after change in control

� Employment Agreements/Perquisites: No perquisite programs or individual employment agreements for elected officers
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ITW achieved strong results in 2012 versus 2011 as the Company focused on its 2012-2017 Enterprise Strategy
through its three key initiatives announced in 2012: Portfolio Management, Business Structure Simplification, and
Strategic Sourcing. The Company�s 2012 operating revenues of $17.9 billion compare to $17.8 billion in 2011 and
$15.4 billion in 2010. Divestitures reduced revenues in 2012, which reflects the Company�s ongoing focus on divesting
businesses that are no longer aligned with its enterprise strategies and long-term objectives. On October 31, 2012, the
Company divested a 51% interest in its Decorative Surfaces segment.

Organic revenues, or base revenues, increased 1.7% in 2012 versus 2011. Operating margins for 2012 were 15.9%,
compared to 15.4% in 2011 and 14.6% in 2010. In addition, the closing price of our stock was $46.71 at the end of
2011 and $60.81 at the end of 2012, an increase of 30.2%.

Despite the challenges in the macroeconomic environment, ITW�s core capabilities (80/20 business model, sustainable
differentiation, and our entrepreneurial culture) drove profitable growth in a slower growth economy. We leverage
these core capabilities as we execute our key strategic initiatives, and we believe that each element of our
compensation structure plays an important role in motivating our employees to achieve profitable growth with strong
returns on capital.

The Company�s decentralized operating style enables our business managers to make decisions in light of local end
market conditions and customer needs. We expect this to continue as we implement our Business Structure
Simplification initiative, which will increase the size of each separate business division and reduce the number of
individual business divisions. Our executive management is responsible for ensuring that the decisions of our
individual business managers are carried out in accordance with our values and expectations for the near and long
term and are, in general, in the best interests of our stockholders.

Our target pay mix is intended to create a strong correlation between corporate and business division performance and
the executive�s pay. The compensation elements based on corporate or business division performance include our
annual cash incentive, long-term cash incentive, and equity incentives. The largest single element of pay is delivered
through equity awards with multi-year vesting schedules to align the interests of our executive officers with the
long-term interests of the Company and its stockholders. The following table illustrates the allocation of our total
direct compensation opportunity at target levels for 2013 between fixed and variable elements, as well as between
short- and long-term elements.

% of Total
Target

Compensation*
Allocated to
Base Salary

(%)

% of Total Target Compensation* Allocated to
�At-Risk� Short-Term and
Long-Term Incentives

Annual
Cash

Incentive
(%)

Long-Term
Cash

Incentive
(%)

Long-Term
Equity

Incentives
(%)

Target CEO Compensation Mix 10% 15% 25% 50% 
Target Other Named Executive Officers Compensation Mix 13% 22% 22% 43% 

* Total target compensation as used in the table above is the sum of base salary, target annual cash incentives and the grant date fair value of
long-term cash and equity incentives.
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The Compensation Committee and management regularly review best practices related to executive compensation. In
addition, we have responded to both the economic environment and new government regulations. Examples of
changes to our compensation practices related to the compensation of the named executive officers shown in the
Summary Compensation Table on page 40 (�NEOs�) are:

� Leadership Change

¡ In October 2012, E. Scott Santi was promoted to President and Chief Operating Officer, or COO.
In addition, Mr. Santi was appointed acting Chief Executive Officer, or CEO, due to Mr. Speer�s
medical leave of absence.

¡ Mr. Speer served as Chairman and CEO until his death on November 17, 2012. Mr. Santi was
elected President and CEO on November 18, 2012 to succeed Mr. Speer.

� Base Salary

¡ Mr. Santi, in recognition of his promotions first to President and COO, then to President and
CEO, received base salary increases to $800,000 and $1 million, respectively. Our other NEOs
received salary increases in 2012 in the range of 2% to 4%.

� Annual Incentive Plan

¡ In 2011, the payment provisions upon a change in control of the Company were changed for
awards made after March 1, 2011. First, payment will now only occur following both a change in
control and termination of employment (a �double-trigger�) for awards that are continued or
replaced, and second, the payment amount was reduced to payment at Target (or actual
achievement, if greater) from payment at Maximum award levels.

� Long-Term Incentive Plan

¡ In 2013, the weighting of the long-term incentive award components was adjusted to decrease
the stock option component in order to emphasize key financial performance metrics. In 2012,
the weighting was 50% stock options, 30% PRSUs and 20% long-term cash, or CGP, for all
NEOs. For 2013, the weighting for the CEO is 40% stock options, 30% PRSUs and 30% CGP,
and the weighting for the other NEOs is 33% each for options, PRSUs and CGP.

¡
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For 2013, we added operating margins as a third metric to our CGP award to more closely align
this award with the Company�s 2012-2017 enterprise strategy and increased the weighting of this
award as described above.

¡ 2012 was the final year in the three-year performance cycle of the first CGP awards granted in
2010. The goals for CGP grants made prior to 2012 were based 50% on ROIC and 50% on
revenue. The 2012 grants were based 60% on ROIC and 40% on revenue in order to place more
emphasis on profitable growth, and the 2013 grants were based 40% on operating margins, 30%
on ROIC and 30% on revenue growth to better align the award with our enterprise strategy as
described above.
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¡ Effective in 2011, we amended the plan to:

¯ require a �double trigger� rather than a single trigger for payment after a change in control for
awards that are replaced or continued,

¯ prohibit the Company�s purchase of underwater options,

¯ provide that awards are subject to any Company policy regarding the recovery of
erroneously awarded incentive-based compensation,

¯ add a 10-year term limit on stock appreciation rights,

¯ provide that interest/dividends on shares subject to outstanding grants are subject to the
same vesting and performance requirements as the underlying grant,

¯ add a minimum 3-year vesting on restricted full-value stock awards (1-year if performance
based), and

¯ change the plan name to the 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

� Policies

¡ In 2013, we amended our Hedging Policy to prohibit future pledges of ITW stock after April 1,
2013.

¡ In 2013, we excluded pledged shares from the determination of stock ownership guideline
compliance.

¡ In 2011, we adopted a Compensation Recovery Policy (a �clawback policy�) and increased the
guideline for stock ownership for our CEO to six times base salary from five; and

¡ Effective in 2011, created a double trigger change-in-control severance policy by providing our
elected officers severance at two-times annual cash compensation (base salary plus average
annual incentive) and a pro rata payout of outstanding cash incentive awards upon an actual or
constructive termination following a change in control, with no tax gross-ups.
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� Perquisites:

¡ Except for the personal use of private aircraft by our former CEO, which was done at the request
of our Board for health reasons, our executives have received no perquisites since 2008.

� Compensation Governance

¡ The Compensation Committee engaged an independent advisor, Frederic W. Cook & Co., Inc.
(�Cook�), to work on its behalf in cooperation with management to review ITW�s executive
compensation program, confirm appropriateness of our comparison (peer) companies, and assess
our compensation governance process.

¡ With Cook, we reviewed our programs and believe that our compensation programs and policies
are not designed to encourage our employees to take unnecessary or excessive risks that could
harm the long-term value of the Company.
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¡ Response to 2012 �Say on Pay� advisory stockholder vote: at our 2012 Annual Meeting, our
stockholders approved the compensation of our NEOs with 97.0% of the total votes cast in favor
of our executive compensation.

¡ The Company�s recommendation in 2011 that the advisory vote on our executive compensation
take place annually was approved, on an advisory basis, by our stockholders, and the Board
therefore intends to continue to hold an advisory vote to approve the Company�s executive
compensation annually.

We believe these practices reflect good corporate governance in our compensation policies while continuing to
recognize and reward superior company, divisional and individual performance. The Compensation Committee has
conducted a review of its practices and the executive compensation of our senior officers pursuant to its normal annual
review process and determined that in light of the goals of the Company�s enterprise strategy communicated to
investors in 2012, it was appropriate to add operating margins as a performance metric for its CGP long-term cash
incentive awards in 2013. It also decided to realign the weighting of the-long term incentive components (options,
PRSUs and CGP) in 2013 to decrease the stock option component and increase the PRSU and CGP components in
order to emphasize key financial metrics. As part of its annual assessment, the Compensation Committee also
considered the 97% stockholder approval of our 2012 Say on Pay proposal and determined that no adjustments to its
executive compensation practices were necessary as a result of the Say on Pay vote.

In making its executive compensation decisions and recommendations, the Compensation Committee is guided by the
following factors:

� Our compensation philosophy;

� Compensation comparisons from a peer group of diversified multinational industrial companies; and

� Management�s contribution to our short- and long-term growth.
See �Board of Directors and Its Committees � Compensation Committee� for more information about the function of the
Compensation Committee.

Compensation Philosophy

Our executive compensation philosophy is designed to deliver competitive total compensation, upon the achievement
of individual and/or corporate performance objectives, which will attract, motivate and retain leaders who will drive
the creation of stockholder value. It is reflective of our overall operating philosophy and is based on the following key
elements:

� Total pay targeted at market median over the long-term:

¡ Above-median pay for above-median performance;
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¡ Below-median pay for below-median performance; and

¡ Less weighting to fixed base salaries and more weighting to short- and long-term performance-based
incentive programs.

� Amount of short- and long-term pay at risk increases with responsibility and influence.
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� Pay for performance through short-term incentive, linking pay to individual and business division
performance.

� Increased long-term incentive portion of �pay-at-risk� aligns executive and stockholder interests by
influencing decisions that help ensure the long-term growth and health of ITW.

Peer Companies

We have established a group of comparable companies, which we refer to as the peer group, to benchmark executive
pay and provide competitive market data to be used in establishing and recommending each element of compensation.
The peer group was selected using the following criteria:

� Companies that are within a reasonable size range in various measures, such as revenue, operating income,
total assets, total equity, employees, and market cap;

� Companies with comparable financial characteristics that investors view similarly, such as multinational,
diversified, and industrial;

� Companies that compete for the same customers with similar products/services; and

� Companies with whom we may compete for executive talent.
Every year the Compensation Committee reviews the peer group to ensure the appropriateness of the companies in the
group. After receiving Cook�s report of its review in early 2012, we removed ITT Corporation because it spun off its
defense and fluid segments in 2011 and no longer has comparable revenues. In its place, we added E. I. DuPont De
Nemours and Co., which has similar lines of business to ITW. The following 18 companies were used as the peer
group:

3M Company E. I. DuPont De Nemours and Co. Masco Corp.
Caterpillar Inc. Eaton Corp. Parker-Hannifin Corp.
Cooper Industries Ltd. Emerson Electric Company Textron Inc.
Danaher Corp. Honeywell International Inc. TRW Automotive Holdings Corp.
Deere & Company Ingersoll-Rand Company Ltd. Tyco International Ltd.
Dover Corp. Johnson Controls, Inc. United Technologies Corp.
The revenue median (as of the latest fiscal year end) of the peer group is $17.4 billion, and the median net income is
$1.2 billion versus $17.9 billion and $2.9 billion for ITW.

The nature of the Company�s decentralized and diverse lines of business present challenges in identifying similar
organizations for comparison purposes; however, we believe that the peer group selected provides relevant
comparisons. While peer group data is not directly used to set any particular element of compensation, the
Compensation Committee believes that in order to attract, retain and motivate our named executives, total
compensation levels for these executives should be considered against the median peer group level over the long term.
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Management�s Contributions to Our Growth

The Company�s decentralized structure allows us to enable business managers to make decisions in light of local end
market conditions and customer needs. It is also an important
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element in developing and retaining our senior managers and in creating high job satisfaction. Our business managers
are empowered to make the decisions necessary to serve their customers and grow their businesses and are
accountable for their results. Our compensation philosophy supports this business model by emphasizing appropriate
performance incentive programs. For example, business managers who grow operating income or achieve personal
objectives through innovation are rewarded through the annual incentive program. Our executive management�s role is
to ensure that these decisions are carried out in accordance with our values and expectations for the near and
long-term and are, in general, in the best interests of our stockholders.

Compensation Decisions and Individual Compensation Levels

On an annual basis, the CEO reviews the total compensation of senior executives and makes recommendations to the
Compensation Committee based on his assessment of each executive�s individual performance and the peer group
compensation information. The Compensation Committee makes recommendations to the independent directors
regarding the CEO�s compensation based on an assessment of the CEO�s performance and data relative to
compensation of CEOs of the peer group. The Compensation Committee believes that it is appropriate to benchmark
the levels of base salary, annual incentive, and longer-term incentives of our CEO to the total compensation being
provided to CEOs of our peer group. There are no material differences in the policies and decision processes used in
setting compensation for the CEO and the other NEOs. However, the different levels of compensation for the NEOs as
shown in the Summary Compensation Table of this proxy statement reflect internal factors such as each executive�s
scope of responsibility, impact on profitable growth, breadth of experience and length of Company service, as well as
external market data from the peer group.

Use of Discretion in Setting Compensation

The Company�s compensation programs recognize the importance of ensuring that discretion is provided to the CEO
and Compensation Committee in determining compensation levels and awards. In setting base salaries and cash
incentive award maximums, and in determining grants of longer-term equity awards, the CEO and Compensation
Committee use judgment to align compensation with both external data and individual responsibilities, potential and
achievement.

Role of Compensation Consultants

Cook is the Compensation Committee�s independent compensation consultant. In 2012, Cook provided analysis and
advice on the compensation of the CEO, the CFO and the Vice Chairmen. To support the Committee�s annual review
of our executive compensation, Cook conducted a marketplace review of the compensation we pay to our executive
officers. Cook provided the Committee with relevant market data and alternatives to consider when making
compensation decisions for the executive officers. Cook benchmarked our compensation against our peer companies.
Cook also performed a look-back review of pay and performance compared to our peers and, in 2011, assisted the
Committee in its review of the Illinois Tool Works Inc. 2011 Cash Incentive Plan, Long-Term Incentive Plan, Change
in Control Severance Compensation Policy and Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy for senior management.
Further, Cook reviewed the �Compensation Discussion and Analysis� and �Executive Compensation� sections prior to
inclusion in this proxy statement.
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In October 2012, the Compensation Committee reviewed information presented by Cook addressing the independence
of Cook and the senior advisor serving the Committee, including the following factors: (i) other services provided to
us by Cook, (ii) fees paid by us as a percentage of Cook�s total revenue, (iii) policies or procedures of Cook that are
designed to prevent conflicts of interest, (iv) any business or personal relationships between the senior advisor and the
members of the Committee, (v) any Company stock owned by the senior advisor or any immediate family member,
and (vi) any business or personal relationships between our executive officers and the senior advisor. Based on this
information, the Committee concluded that the work performed by Cook and its senior advisor involved in the
engagement did not raise any conflict of interest.

Base Salary

In determining base salary, the CEO and the Compensation Committee consider the size and scope of the executives�
responsibilities, the executive officers� past experience, performance, future potential and the median base salary of
similar positions at our peer group companies. The Compensation Committee believes that the median base salary is
an appropriate general reference point to use for encouraging solid performance. Base salaries are reviewed annually,
and adjustments are intended to recognize an executive officer�s performance and contributions over the prior year, as
well as any significant changes in duties or scope of responsibility. Adjustments to base salary also take into account
peer group information and the officer�s total compensation.

We have a common annual review process beginning in December and concluding in February for base salary and
incentive compensation for all of our senior executive officers. This process allows the Compensation Committee and
the CEO to review base compensation and discuss recommended changes considering individual contributions to
overall financial and operating results for the year and to set objectives for the upcoming year.

The Compensation Committee increased our former CEO�s base salary by 3% effective January 1, 2012. In recognition
of Mr. Santi�s promotion to President and COO and then to President and CEO, his base salary was increased to
$800,000 on November 1, 2012 and to $1,000,000 on November 18, 2012. For the other NEOs, management
recommended base pay increases that ranged between 2% and 4%. The Compensation Committee accepted
management�s recommendations, and these base salary increases were effective January 1, 2012.

Annual Cash Incentives

We believe that managers generally should be rewarded for contributions to overall financial success measured by
income growth of their businesses, their group or the Company as a whole, as well as for individual accomplishments
that contribute to the longer-term health of the business. Achieving our annual business and financial objectives is
important to executing our business strategy, and thus, delivering long-term value to stockholders.

Annual cash incentive awards for the NEOs for 2012 were made pursuant to the 2011 Cash Incentive Plan and then
adjusted downward, in the discretion of the Compensation Committee, in accordance with the ITW Executive
Incentive Plan. The Compensation Committee determines and recommends for approval by the independent directors
the award amount for the CEO. The Compensation Committee considers recommendations from the CEO and
approves annual cash incentives for our other NEOs.
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The plan is designed around two elements: income performance (the �P� factor) and personal objectives (the �O� factor).
The P factor weighting is 60% of each NEO�s potential award opportunity. The remaining 40% is based on the O
factor objectives. In addition, the weighting of the P factor for operating executives is based 33% on corporate results
(Company as a whole) and 67% on the results of their respective businesses. These weightings are intended to
emphasize the financial performance element and reinforce the importance of collaborating across businesses. The P
factor weighting for the former and current CEO, the CFO and the Vice Chairman was based entirely on corporate
results.

Participation in our Executive Incentive Plan is limited to those who have an impact on the profitable growth of the
business or who have significant responsibility for a major element of business growth. The P factors are
recommended by management and must be approved by the Compensation Committee annually. The individual O
factors for the CEO are established by the Compensation Committee annually, and the individual O factors for each
other NEO are recommended by the CEO and must be approved by the Compensation Committee.

Maximum award limits are applicable to both portions of the award. Individual award maximums, expressed as
percentages and applied to year-end base salary, are determined in accordance with the executive�s level of
responsibilities and accountability. Both the P and O factors have a payout range of 0% to 100% of the maximum for
the NEOs. Although we generally do not establish any specific target or prescribed value in relation to the peer group,
comparisons are made to median annual target cash incentive levels in the peer group compensation data. The
Company�s annual cash incentives are variable and structured to provide awards above the median levels only upon the
achievement of exceptional financial results and individual performance objectives. Payments under the plan are made
following the end of the fiscal year after approval by the Compensation Committee.

Income-Based Annual Cash Incentive (P Factor)

For 2012, the P factor was based on year-over-year income growth. Current year income was compared to the prior
year to measure the percentage of increase. Elected officers earn a payment according to the scale below.

2012 Income Achievement vs. Prior Year
P Factor Award
(% of Maximum)

115% 100% 
110% 90% 
105% 82.5% 
100% 75% 
95% 65% 
90% 57% 
85% 47% 
80% 34% 
Below 80% 0% 

The 2012 P factors for Messrs. Santi, Speer, Kropp and Parry were based entirely on 2012 income from continuing
operations of the Company as a whole. For the other NEOs, the P factor was based 33% on income achievement for
the Company as a whole, and 67% on income
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achievement for their respective businesses. The following table shows the income levels in connection with the
determination of the P factor award for the NEOs:

Named Executive Officer

2011
Corporate or 
Segment

Income Levels (Millions)

2012
Corporate or Segment
Income Levels (Millions)

% of

Achievement
(By

Group)

P Factor Award
(% of 

Maximum)
(By

Group)

Final P
Factor

Award(1)
E. Scott Santi $ 1,742 $ 1,790 102.8% 79.2% 79.2% 
David B. Speer $ 1,742 $ 1,790 102.8% 79.2% 79.2% 
Ronald D. Kropp $ 1,742 $ 1,790 102.8% 79.2% 79.2% 
David C. Parry $ 1,742 $ 1,790 102.8% 79.2% 79.2% 
Craig A. Hindman $ 314 $ 337 107.4% 86.2% 83.9% 
Roland M. Martel $ 438 $ 497 113.5% 97.0% 91.1% 

(1) The composite award percentages shown in the last column above for these executives combine the achievement level for their
respective businesses with that of the Company as a whole, as follows: Mr. Hindman, 83.9% (.33 at 79.2% + .67 at 86.2%); and
Mr. Martel, 91.1% (.33 at 79.2% + .67 at 97.0%). For purposes of determining the P factor achievement level for 2012, the
Compensation Committee determined to exclude the one-time 2011 gain related to an Australian tax matter, an additional 2012
stock option and pension-related expense for David Speer, and an adjustment to treat the Decorative Surfaces segment as a
discontinued operation (including a one-time gain and the 2012 equity loss).

Personal Objectives-Based Annual Cash Incentive (O Factor)

The O factors represent the personal objectives element of the annual cash incentive awards, and are more subjective
than P factors. In early 2012, each executive submitted in writing his proposed O factor objectives and relative
weightings. Each named executive other than Mr. Speer discussed his proposed objectives and weightings with
Mr. Speer, who used his judgment of each executive�s role and responsibilities, as well as the strategic goals of the
Company, to review and approve the objectives before recommending them to the Compensation Committee. The
Compensation Committee discussed these recommendations with Mr. Speer prior to final approval. Mr. Speer
discussed his proposed O factor objectives and weightings for 2012 with the Compensation Committee. The
Compensation Committee used its judgment and understanding of the strategic goals of the Company to review and
approve the objectives and weightings for Mr. Speer.

The following is a description of the 2012 objectives and weightings as approved by the Compensation Committee.
The objectives for Messrs. Santi, Speer and Parry focused on business structure simplification (BSS) (30%),
leadership development (30%), company brand/differentiation (15%), and sourcing strategies (25%). Mr. Kropp�s
objectives focused on sourcing strategies (25%), operational excellence (15%), BSS (15%), portfolio strategy (15%),
leadership development (15%), and company brand/differentiation (15%). Mr. Hindman�s objectives focused on
portfolio strategy (60%), BSS (20%), and operational excellence (20%). Mr. Martel�s objectives focused on BSS
(50%), operational excellence (20%), and leadership development (30%).

Following the end of the year, each named executive submitted a written self-appraisal with his own assessment of the
level of achievement reached in 2012, expressed as a percentage, for each of his personal objectives. The
self-appraisals of the named executives other than Mr. Santi were reviewed by Mr. Santi, who was then CEO, and
Mr. Santi had collaborative discussions with each of these executives. Mr. Santi used his judgment of each executive�s
performance against the
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objectives, considering completion of objectives, relative weightings and the quality of the work performed, to reach
his assessment of the achievement levels prior to submitting them for final approval by the Compensation Committee.
Any adjustments made by Mr. Santi to the self-scored achievement levels for 2012 were not material. Mr. Santi�s
self-appraisal for 2012 was reviewed by the Compensation Committee, which held collaborative discussions with
Mr. Santi and used its judgment of his performance against his objectives to reach its assessment of the achievement
levels. The Compensation Committee accepted Mr. Santi�s recommendation of 85% achievement and recommended
that Mr. Speer�s achievement level be approved at 85%. The independent directors approved the Compensation
Committee�s recommendation. There were no pre-determined factors that were considered by Mr. Santi or the
Compensation Committee during this process.

The weighting for each objective was multiplied by the relevant achievement level, and the amounts so calculated
were totaled to reach the O factor achievement percentage. Based on the Compensation Committee�s determination of
the individual 2012 O factor objectives and actual achievements for Mr. Santi and Mr. Speer, and upon Mr. Santi�s
recommendations for the other NEOs, the following O factor achievement percentages were assigned: 85% for
Mr. Santi; 85% for Mr. Speer; 84% for Mr. Kropp; 85% for Mr. Parry; 86% for Mr. Hindman; and 90% for
Mr. Martel.

2012 Annual Cash Incentive Total Payouts

The total 2012 awards for the NEOs ranged from 43% to 91% of the individual maximum award level, and were
determined as follows:

Named Executive Officer
Award

Maximum

Year-End
2012
Salary

Final
P Factor

Award (% of
Maximum) Amount

Final
O

Factor
Award (% of
Maximum) Amount

Total
Award(1)

E. Scott Santi(2) 200% $ 1,000,000 79.2% $ 496,863 85.0% $ 355,500 $ 852,363
David B. Speer 200% $ 1,202,000 79.2% $ 1,142,381 85.0% $ 817,360 $ 1,718,789(3) 
Ronald D. Kropp 200% $ 401,700 79.2% $ 381,776 84.0% $ 269,942 $ 651,718
David C. Parry 200% $ 427,656 79.2% $ 406,444 85.0% $ 290,806 $ 697,250
Craig A. Hindman 200% $ 351,688 83.9% $ 354,080 86.0% $ 241,962 $ 596,042
Roland M. Martel 200% $ 331,001 91.1% $ 361,850 90.0% $ 238,321 $ 600,171

(1) These amounts are included in the Summary Compensation Table under �Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation.�
(2) 2012 annual incentive has been calculated using a weighted average 2012 salary. For more information, see �Compensation Discussion and

Analysis�Base Salary.�
(3) Amount is prorated based on Mr. Speer�s date of death, November 17, 2012.
Long-Term Incentives

We believe that ensuring the long-term growth and health of the business is a primary management responsibility.
Therefore, a significant portion of an executive officer�s compensation should be directly linked to key metrics, such as
EPS, ROIC, operating margins, revenue growth and ITW�s stock performance over time, encouraging decisions that
consider the long-term perspective. Long-term incentive awards are granted to executives and other key employees
whose positions can truly affect the Company�s long-term performance.
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The value of the overall long-term incentive grant to the CEO is determined by the Compensation Committee using its
discretion, subject to approval by the independent directors. Awards to the other named executives are recommended
by the CEO to the Compensation Committee for approval and are subject to the discretion of the CEO in making the
recommendations, as well as of the Compensation Committee in approving the awards. The key factors in determining
the awards have been the executive�s position, performance, potential to contribute to the longer-term success of the
Company, seniority, prior grants and the historical grants made to Company executives in similar positions with
similar seniority. In addition, although we generally do not establish any specific target or prescribed value in relation
to peer groups, comparisons are made to median long-term incentive levels in the peer group compensation data.
Because the Compensation Committee and the CEO in their discretion may consider factors as they deem relevant in
determining an executive�s overall award, the award in any given year may differ from historical amounts.

For 2012, the Company awarded stock options, performance-based restricted stock units, or PRSUs, and a long-term
cash incentive to the NEOs. Half of the total value of the 2012 long-term incentive grant to each NEO was in the form
of stock options, which we believe are an effective incentive for senior executives on a long-term basis because the
option loses its value entirely if the price of ITW�s common stock falls below the exercise price.

For 2013, we added operating margins as a third metric to our CGP long-term cash incentive to more closely align this
long-term incentive with the Company�s business initiatives; and in order to increase emphasis on key financial
performance metrics, we changed the relative weighting of the grant components (stock options, PRSUs and CGP). As
a result, although we continue to believe that stock options are an effective incentive, the Compensation Committee
determined that for 2013 it was appropriate to decrease the stock option weighting. The weightings of the total target
values of the 2012 and 2013 long-term incentives equity and cash grants are as follows:

Stock
Options
(%)

PRSUs
(%)

CGP
(%)

2012: CEO 50% 30% 20% 
  Other Named Executive Officers 50% 30% 20% 
2013: CEO 40% 30% 30% 
  Other Named Executive Officers 33.3% 33.3% 33.3% 

The Compensation Committee has established specific vesting and expiration provisions associated with termination
of employment due to death, disability and retirement, as defined by the Compensation Committee, and forfeiture
provisions upon other termination of employment. The Compensation Committee, in its sole discretion, may deem a
stock option, RSU, or PRSU award, whether vested or unvested, to be immediately forfeited if the recipient competes
with the Company, engages in gross misconduct or conduct that is against the business interests of the Company, or
divulges confidential information about the Company to others.

2012 Stock Option Awards

The 2012 stock options vest in equal installments over a four-year period ending in 2016. Stock options are granted
with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the common stock
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on the date of grant and expire ten years after the grant date. We currently grant only non-qualified stock options
because we believe that the tax benefits to the Company of non-qualified stock options outweigh the potential tax
benefits to the NEOs of incentive stock options.

In light of Mr. Speer�s many years of service to ITW and the fact that Mr. Speer passed away less than five months
prior to reaching retirement age as defined by the terms of his outstanding options, the Compensation Committee
determined it appropriate to amend the terms of each of Mr. Speer�s outstanding options to allow for an exercise period
equal to the exercise period that would have applied had Mr. Speer retired.

2012 PRSU Awards

PRSUs vest three years from the date of grant, subject to the achievement of the performance goal set at the beginning
of the performance period. PRSUs are granted based on the fair market value of one share of common stock on the
date of grant.

For PRSUs granted in 2012, the performance goal is based on cumulative EPS from continuing operations over a
three-year performance period (2012 through 2014) based on a sliding scale. The target is $8.25 cumulative EPS over
the three-year performance period, and the achievement of the target will result in a payout of the maximum number
of shares subject to the PRSU. If less than $6.25 cumulative EPS is achieved, none of these PRSUs will vest. If EPS
growth is at or above the $6.25 threshold but below the $8.25 target, a portion of the awards will vest in proportion to
the level of EPS achieved.

2012 Long-Term Cash Awards

In February 2012, the Company awarded an annual long-term cash incentive with a three-year performance cycle,
called the Company-wide Growth Plan, or �CGP.� The total compensation of our executives and the mix of
compensation components of our executives relative to the peer group were considerations in setting the target award
amounts. In 2012, elected and appointed officers, and group presidents, being the executives who are closest to the
business in our decentralized structure and who have the biggest impact on operating performance, were eligible to
receive CGP awards. The target amount of the award for 2012 was 20% of the total value of the Long-Term Incentive
Plan award.

Before 2012, the performance goal for the CGP cash grant was based 50% on ROIC and 50% on compound annual
revenue growth over a three-year performance period. In order to better reflect our emphasis on profitable growth, the
goals for the 2012 CGP grants over the performance period (2012 through 2014) are based 60% on ROIC and 40% on
revenue. The payout at the end of the performance period will be based on the following sliding payout scale:

Average
ROIC

Revenue
Growth

Payout
(as a % of Target)

Maximum 18% 10% 150% 
Target 16% 6% 100% 
Threshold 14% 2% 50% 
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2010 Long-Term Cash Award Total Payouts

The CGP award granted in 2010 (with a three-year performance period ended December 31, 2012) achieved a payout
level of 115.1% of the target award and was determined as follows:

2010 2011 2012 Total

Payout
(% of 
Target)

Revenue Growth 14.5% 15.8% 1.8% 12.6% 132.2% 
ROIC 15.3% 16.8% 15.0% 15.7% 98.1% 

Total 115.1% 
The following table shows the individual payout level by NEO:

Named Executive Officer
Award
Target

Final
Performance
Achievement

Final
Payout

E. Scott Santi $ 309,000 115.1% $ 355,659
David B. Speer $ 1,133,000 115.1% $ 1,304,083
Ronald D. Kropp $ 270,375 115.1% $ 311,202
David C. Parry $ 231,750 115.1% $ 266,744
Craig A. Hindman $ 251,063 115.1% $ 288,974
Roland M. Martel $ 231,750 115.1% $ 266,744

Timing of Long-Term Incentive Awards

The Compensation Committee meets in February of each year following the Company�s public release of its earnings
results for the recently completed fiscal year to consider and act with respect to long-term incentive awards for the
executive officers. In 2012, the long-term grants were in compliance with the Long-Term Incentive Plan, including the
requirement that stock options may not be granted at less than 100% of the fair market value of ITW�s common stock
on the date of grant. The exercise price of the awards granted is based on the closing price of ITW�s stock on the date
of grant. We do not time grants for the purpose of enhancing the value of executive compensation.

2011 Plan Changes

In 2010, the Board approved an amendment and restatement of the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, including a change in
the name of the plan to the 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan, effective for all awards under the plan on or after
January 1, 2011. The amendments included provisions to: (i) change the vesting provisions upon a change in control
to a double trigger from a single trigger for awards that are replaced or continued in connection with a change in
control, (ii) prohibit the purchase of underwater options, (iii) provide that awards under the plan are subject to any
Company policy regarding the recovery of erroneously awarded incentive-based compensation, (iv) restrict dividends
and other distributions (other than quarterly cash dividends in the case of awards that are subject only to service-based
vesting) on shares subject to unvested restricted stock awards to the same extent that restrictions apply to the
underlying awards unless otherwise provided by the Compensation Committee, (v) impose a minimum vesting period
of three years for restricted stock awards (one year for performance-based stock awards), (vi) impose a maximum term
of 10 years for stock appreciation rights, (vii) change the limitation on options that may be granted in any calendar
year to a single participant to 1,000,000 from 500,000, and (viii) make other non-material changes relating to plan
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Perquisites & Other Benefits

In general, we do not provide perquisites to our NEOs that are not available to other employees. However, in 2012
Mr. Speer used private aircraft for personal as well as business purposes at the request of our Board for health reasons,
and the incremental amount attributable to personal use is disclosed in the Summary Compensation Table under �All
Other Compensation.� No other perquisites were received by any other NEO.

Stock Ownership Guidelines and Hedging Policy

We believe that stock ownership is important because it links the interests of Company management and directors
with those of our stockholders. Because of the importance of stock ownership, the Board of Directors and the
Compensation Committee have adopted stock ownership guidelines for executive officers and directors. The
recommended guidelines for stock ownership as a multiple of executive officers� base salaries and of directors� annual
retainers are as follows: chief executive officer, six times; vice chair and executive vice presidents, three times; senior
vice presidents, two times; vice presidents, one time; and non-employee directors, five times. The Compensation
Committee recommends that an executive officer or non-employee director achieve the applicable ownership level
within five years. Pledged shares are not counted in determining stock ownership for purposes of meeting the
guidelines. The achievement of these guidelines is reviewed annually. All NEOs and directors who have been in their
positions for five or more years have either satisfied or exceeded the applicable stock ownership guideline. The Board
believes that its stock ownership guidelines are appropriate, reasonable and attainable given the responsibilities and
compensation levels of our executive officers and directors and has not imposed a requirement that our executive
officers and directors hold their shares for a particular length of time.

All recipients of Company equity-based grants (which includes key employees and all officers and directors) are
subject to our policy against options trading and short sales of ITW stock, as well as trading in derivatives linked to
ITW stock. In addition, our directors and executive officers are prohibited from future pledges of ITW stock after
April 1, 2013.

Financial Restatements

Effective in 2011, we adopted our Compensation Recovery Policy (a �clawback policy�). This policy covers all
executive officers of the Company subject to Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Under the policy, the
Compensation Committee will require reimbursement of incentives paid to elected officers where the payment was
predicated upon the achievement of certain financial results with respect to the applicable performance period that
were subsequently the subject of a material restatement due to material non-compliance of the Company with any
financial reporting requirement under the U.S. securities laws. The amount the Compensation Committee requires to
be reimbursed is equal to the excess of the gross incentive payment made over the gross payment that would have
been made if the original payment had been determined based on the restated financial results. Further, following a
material restatement of our financial statements, we will seek reimbursement of compensation and profits from trading
in Company stock received by our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to the extent required under
Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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Deductibility

Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m) limits the deductibility of compensation in excess of $1,000,000 paid to the
CEO and certain other executive officers employed at year-end. Certain performance-based compensation and
deferred compensation are not subject to this limit. The Compensation Committee recognizes its obligation to reward
performance that increases stockholder value and exercises its discretion in determining whether or not to conform our
executive compensation plans to the approach provided for in the Internal Revenue Code. Currently, the annual
incentive and long-term incentive compensation for our elected officers, including the NEOs, is intended to be
performance based and therefore should not be subject to the 162(m) deductibility limit.
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Executive Compensation

This section of the proxy statement provides information regarding the compensation of our NEOs.

Summary Compensation Table

Name and

Principal Position Year Salary(1)
Stock

Awards(2)
Option

Awards(2)

Non-Equity
Incentive
Plan

Compensation
(1)(3)

Change
in Pension
Value and
Nonqualified
Deferred

Compensation
Earnings(4)

All Other
Compensation

(5) Total
E. Scott Santi 2012 $ 522,794 $ 691,864 $ 1,250,000 $ 1,208,022 $ 459,310 $ 45,987 $ 4,177,977
President and Chief 2011 $ 426,420 $ 695,148 $ 1,250,005 $ 818,726 $ 403,799 $ 42,832 $ 3,636,930
Executive Officer 2010 $ 411,816 $ 649,858 $ 1,420,797 $ 797,632 $ 219,081 $ 14,414 $ 3,513,598
David B. Speer 2012 $ 1,202,000 $ 2,490,616 $ 10,100,733 $ 3,022,872 $ 1,651,374 $ 210,834 $ 18,678,429
Past Chairman and Chief 2011 $ 1,166,990 $ 2,224,545 $ 5,053,697 $ 2,184,605 $ 1,751,708 $ 117,822 $ 12,499,367
Executive Officer 2010 $ 1,132,492 $ 2,030,770 $ 4,439,997 $ 2,200,000 $ 1,303,232 $ 83,620 $ 11,190,111
Ronald D. Kropp 2012 $ 401,700 $ 622,641 $ 1,125,006 $ 962,920 $ 248,175 $ 40,478 $ 3,400,920
Senior Vice President & 2011 $ 390,000 $ 623,139 $ 1,120,497 $ 755,040 $ 186,131 $ 31,970 $ 3,106,777
Chief Financial Officer 2010 $ 360,339 $ 284,310 $ 621,605 $ 523,987 $ 123,673 $ 23,365 $ 1,937,279
David C. Parry 2012 $ 427,656 $ 691,864 $ 1,250,000 $ 963,994 $ 651,528 $ 42,644 $ 4,027,686
Vice Chairman 2011 $ 412,000 $ 556,149 $ 999,997 $ 791,040 $ 599,066 $ 41,673 $ 3,399,925
Craig A. Hindman 2012 $ 351,688 $ 373,605 $ 675,001 $ 885,016 $ 446,357 $ 34,524 $ 2,766,191
Executive Vice President
Roland M. Martel 2012 $ 331,001 $ 332,082 $ 600,002 $ 866,915 $ 446,409 $ 32,076 $ 2,608,485
Executive Vice President

(1) Salary and non-equity incentive plan compensation for 2012 includes amounts deferred by the executive under the Executive Contributory
Retirement Income Plan, or ECRIP, or the Savings and Investment Plan. The amount of deferrals in 2012 under the ECRIP for each NEO
can be found in footnote 1 to the table under �Nonqualified Deferred Compensation� below. The amount of deferrals under the ECRIP in 2011
and 2010 can be found in footnote 4 to the same table. ECRIP deferrals in 2013 of non-equity incentive plan amounts earned in 2012 were
as follows: Mr. Santi, $85,237; Mr. Speer, $343,739; Mr. Kropp, $65,172; Mr. Parry, $104,588; Mr. Hindman, $89,406; and Mr. Martel,
$120,034.

(2) The Stock Awards column represents PRSUs granted in the relevant year, and the amounts shown represent the maximum amount that may
be earned. The Option Awards column represents stock options granted in the relevant year, and the assumptions applicable to these
valuations can be found in the Notes to Financial Statements � Stock-Based Compensation contained in the Illinois Tool Works Inc. Annual
Reports on Form 10-K for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010. The 2012 amount shown for Mr. Speer includes the
$5,318,271 increase in the value of his outstanding options, as determined in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic
718, resulting from the extension of the exercise periods of those options. For more information, see �Compensation Discussion and Analysis
� Long-Term Incentives.�

(3) These amounts include 2012 annual incentive awards made under our Executive Incentive Plan and 2010 long-term cash award payouts
made under our Company-wide Growth Plan. Further information regarding these plans and awards thereunder can be found above under
�Compensation Discussion and Analysis � Annual Cash Incentives� and �Compensation Discussion and Analysis � Long-Term Incentives.�

(4)
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These amounts include an amount of interest in the applicable calendar year considered to be in excess of market rates credited to the
deferred compensation accounts of the NEOs under the ECRIP, discussed in more detail under �Nonqualified Deferred Compensation� below.
When a participant attains �retirement� eligibility at age 55 and 10 years of service, any amounts in his or her ECRIP account deferred prior to
January 1, 2010 are entitled to a return of 130% of the monthly Moody�s Corporate Bond Yield Average rate, and the excess interest portion
is deemed to be amounts exceeding 100% of such rate. This additional interest credit applies to all eligible plan
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participants, not just the NEOs. All amounts deferred after December 31, 2009 accrue interest at 100% of the Moody�s Rate. The individual
amounts of pension benefits and excess interest credits are shown in the table below. The 2012 amount shown for Mr. Speer in the Accrual
in Nonqualified Plan column includes an additional benefit of $912,838 that resulted from including his 2012 compensation for purposes of
calculating his highest average compensation under the Nonqualified Pension Plan. We determined that it was appropriate to include
Mr. Speer�s 2012 compensation in this calculation because he had served all but 4 weeks of a �worked calendar year� in 2012 under that Plan.

Footnote 4 Table

Name Year
Accrual in

Accumulation Plan
Accrual in

Nonqualified Plan

Excess Interest
Credit on Deferred
Compensation

Change in Pension Value and
Nonqualified
Deferred

Compensation
Earnings ($)

E. Scott Santi 2012 $ 53,210 $ 392,949 $ 13,151 $ 459,310
2011 $ 51,982 $ 336,732 $ 15,085 $ 403,799
2010 $ 46,836 $ 157,511 $ 14,734 $ 219,081

David B. Speer 2012 $ 50,092 $ 1,494,540 $ 106,742 $ 1,651,374
2011 $ 76,171 $ 1,542,353 $ 133,184 $ 1,751,708
2010 $ 73,813 $ 1,099,335 $ 130,084 $ 1,303,232

Ronald D. Kropp 2012 $ 31,281 $ 210,074 $ 6,820 $ 248,175
2011 $ 29,923 $ 147,589 $ 8,619 $ 186,131
2010 $ 24,874 $ 83,108 $ 15,691 $ 123,673

David C. Parry 2012 $ 66,883 $ 547,102 $ 37,543 $ 651,528
2011 $ 63,689 $ 492,313 $ 43,064 $ 599,066

Craig A. Hindman 2012 $ 72,423 $ 331,163 $ 42,771 $ 446,357
Roland M. Martel 2012 $ 75,647 $ 343,638 $ 27,124 $ 446,409

(5) For 2012, this number includes Company matching contributions to the ECRIP account or the Savings and Investment Plan, based on plan
formulas for all participants, as follows: $45,987 for Mr. Santi; $115,272 for Mr. Speer; $40,478 for Mr. Kropp; $42,644 for Mr. Parry;
$34,524 for Mr. Hindman; and $32,076 for Mr. Martel. The 2012 amount for Mr. Speer also includes $95,562, representing the cost of
private aircraft for personal use done at the request of our Board for health reasons. See �Compensation Discussion & Analysis � Perquisites
and Other Benefits.�
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The table below provides information regarding plan-based awards granted to our NEOs during fiscal 2012 under the
Executive Incentive Plan and the Long-Term Incentive Plan.

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Non-Equity

Incentive Plan Awards(1)(2)

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Equity

Incentive Plan (Award)(3)

All Other
Option
Awards
Number

of
Securities
Underlying
Options
(#)

Exercise or
Base
Price

of Option
Awards ($/
Sh)(4)

Grant
Date

Fair Value
Of Stock
And
Option
Awards

($)(5)(6)(7)Name
Grant
Date

Plan
Type

Threshold
($)

Target
($)

Maximum
($)

Threshold
(#)

Target/
Maximum

(#)
E. Scott Santi 2/10/2012 P&O $ 213,300 $ 826,015 $ 1,045,588 1,346 13,463 108,885 $ 55.71 $ 1,941,864

2/10/2012 CGP $ 250,000 $ 500,000 $ 750,000
David B. Speer 2/10/2012 P&O $ 490,416 $ 1,899,160 $ 2,404,000 4,847 48,465 391,986 $ 55.71 $ 8,629,117

2/10/2012 CGP $ 900,000 $ 1,800,000 $ 2,700,000
2/14/2012 33,270 $ 55.97 $ 338,688
4/27/2011 114,284 $ 57.67 $ 201,140
2/11/2011 324,149 $ 55.81 $ 1,212,317
2/12/2010 462,982 $ 43.64 $ 324,087
2/8/2008 500,000 $ 48.51 $ 990,000
2/9/2007 400,000 $ 51.60 $ 896,000

Ronald D. Kropp 2/10/2012 P&O $ 163,894 $ 634,686 $ 803,400 1,212 12,116 97,997 $ 55.71 $ 1,747,647
2/10/2012 CGP $ 225,000 $ 450,000 $ 675,000

David C. Parry 2/10/2012 P&O $ 174,484 $ 675,696 $ 855,312 1,346 13,463 108,885 $ 55.71 $ 1,941,864
2/10/2012 CGP $ 250,000 $ 500,000 $ 750,000

Craig A. Hindman 2/10/2012 P&O $ 143,489 $ 555,667 $ 703,376 727 7,270 58,798 $ 55.71 $ 1,048,606
2/10/2012 CGP $ 135,000 $ 270,000 $ 405,000

Roland M. Martel 2/10/2012 P&O $ 135,048 $ 522,982 $ 662,002 646 6,462 52,265 $ 55.71 $ 932,084
2/10/2012 CGP $ 120,000 $ 240,000 $ 360,000

(1) The range of potential payouts under the annual incentive (P&O) grants for the NEOs as set by the Compensation Committee in February
2012 for 2012 performance is set forth in these columns. Since there is no minimum achievement for the O factors, the �Threshold� estimated
future payout is based on the minimum P factor payout of 34%, which is realized upon achievement of 80% of income performance. �Target�
estimated future payout is based on a P factor of 75%, which is realized upon achievement of 100% of income performance, and 85%
achievement of the relevant O factors. �Maximum� estimated future payout is based on a P factor payout of 100%, which is realized upon
achievement of 115% of income performance, and 100% achievement of the relevant O factors. Actual payments, as approved by the
Compensation Committee in February 2013 for achievement of 2012 performance, can be found in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan
Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table.

(2) The range of potential payouts under the long-term cash incentive grants (CGP) for the NEOs as set by the Compensation Committee in
February 2012 for the three-year period 2012 through 2014 is set forth in these columns.

(3) The range of potential share distribution under the 2012 PRSU grant for the NEOs as set by the Compensation Committee in February 2012
for performance through 2014 is set forth in these columns. The threshold estimated future payout is based on achievement of $6.25
cumulative earnings per share over the three-year performance period. The �Target/Maximum� performance goal is $8.25 cumulative EPS
over the three-year performance period, and achievement of the target will result in a payout of the maximum number of shares subject to
the PRSU. If cumulative EPS is above the $6.25 threshold but below the $8.25 target, a portion of the awards will vest in proportion to the
level of EPS achieved.
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(4) Grant date exercise price was equal to the closing price on the date of grant.

(5) Grant date fair value of options granted on 2/10/12 is based on an implied value of $11.48 per share as determined using a binomial
valuation technique under Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718. Grant date fair value of PRSUs is based on the assumption that the
performance conditions will have been met.

(6) The grant date fair value of $8,629,117 for the PRSU and option awards granted to Mr. Speer on 2/10/12, and the grant date fair value of
$338,688 for the options granted to Mr. Speer on 02/14/12 include the incremental fair value of the extension of the exercise period
described in footnote 7 below of $1,638,501, and $56,226, respectively.
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(7) Mr. Speer�s outstanding options were amended to extend the exercise period to equal the period that would have applied had Mr. Speer
retired. The incremental fair value of these award modifications was $201,140, $1,212,317, $324,087, $990,000, and $896,000 for the
04/27/11, 02/11/11, 02/12/10, 02/08/08, and 02/09/07 awards, respectively. The grant date fair value shown for these awards represents the
incremental value, determined in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, which resulted from the extension of the
exercise period of the option. For more information, see �Compensation Discussion and Analysis � Long-Term Incentives � 2012 Stock Option
Award.�
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End 2012

The following table sets forth details, on an award-by-award basis, of the outstanding equity awards held by each
NEO as of December 31, 2012.

Stock Awards

Option Awards Equity
Incentive

Plan Awards:
Number

of
Unearned
Units
That
Have
Not

Vested(2)

Equity
Incentive

Plan Awards:
Market or
Payout
Value

of Unearned
Units That
Have Not
VestedName

Grant
Date(1)

Number
of

Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)

Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)

Unexercisable

Option
Exercise
Price
($)

Option
Expiration

Date
E. Scott Santi 02/08/2008 80,000 � $48.51 02/07/2018

02/13/2009 104,062 34,688 $35.12 02/12/2019
02/12/2010 74,077 74,077 $43.64 02/11/2020 16,279 $ 989,926
02/11/2011 25,324 75,973 $55.81 02/10/2021 13,438 $ 817,165
02/10/2012 � 108,885 $55.71 02/09/2022 13,463 $ 818,685

David B. Speer(3) 02/09/2007 400,000 � $51.60 02/08/2017
02/08/2008 500,000 � $48.51 11/17/2017
02/13/2009 433,593 � $35.12 02/12/2019
02/12/2010 462,982 � $43.64 02/11/2020 50,871 $ 3,093,466
02/11/2011 324,149 � $55.81 02/10/2021 43,003 $ 2,615,012
04/27/2011 114,284 � $57.67 01/31/2016
02/10/2012 391,986 � $55.71 02/09/2022 48,465 $ 2,947,157
02/14/2012 33,270 � $55.97 01/31/2016

Ronald D. Kropp 02/09/2007 30,067 � $51.60 02/08/2017
02/08/2008 70,000 � $48.51 02/07/2018
02/13/2009 45,527 15,176 $35.12 02/12/2019
02/12/2010 32,409 32,409 $43.64 02/11/2020 7,122 $ 433,089
02/11/2011 22,700 68,102 $55.81 02/10/2021 12,046 $ 732,517
02/10/2012 � 97,997 $55.71 02/09/2022 12,116 $ 736,774

David C. Parry 12/10/2004 20,000 � $47.13 12/09/2014
02/01/2006 20,000 � $42.08 01/31/2016
02/09/2007 60,000 � $51.60 02/08/2017
02/08/2008 70,000 � $48.51 02/07/2018
02/13/2009 30,527 15,176 $35.12 02/12/2019
02/12/2010 32,409 32,409 $43.64 02/11/2020 7,122 $ 433,089
02/11/2011 20,259 60,778 $55.81 02/10/2021 10,751 $ 653,768
02/10/2012 � 108,885 $55.71 02/09/2022 13,463 $ 818,685

Craig A. Hindman 02/09/2007 80,000 � $51.60 02/08/2017
02/08/2008 80,000 � $48.51 02/07/2018
02/13/2009 52,031 17,344 $35.12 02/12/2019
02/12/2010 37,038 37,039 $43.64 02/11/2020 8,139 $ 494,933
02/11/2011 13,675 41,025 $55.81 02/10/2021 7,257 $ 441,298
02/10/2012 � 58,798 $55.71 02/09/2022 7,270 $ 442,089

Roland M. Martel 02/09/2007 60,000 � $51.60 02/08/2017
02/08/2008 70,000 � $48.51 02/07/2018
02/13/2009 45,527 15,176 $35.12 02/12/2019
02/12/2010 32,409 32,409 $43.64 02/11/2020 7,122 $ 433,089
02/11/2011 12,155 36,467 $55.81 02/10/2021 6,450 $ 392,225
02/10/2012 � 52,265 $55.71 02/09/2022 6,462 $ 392,954

(1) Stock options vest at the rate of 25% per year from grant date with exceptions for termination upon death, disability, retirement and change
in control. Stock options granted in 2004 and 2006 contain a reload feature providing that if the exercise price is paid by surrender of

Edgar Filing: ILLINOIS TOOL WORKS INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents 67



previously owned shares of ITW common stock, a new option in the amount of the shares surrendered will be granted. The exercise price of
the new option would equal the fair market value of a share of ITW common stock on the date the reload option is granted. The new option
will

44

Edgar Filing: ILLINOIS TOOL WORKS INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents 68



Table of Contents

vest in one year, provided the shares acquired on exercise of the underlying option are held for one year, and will expire on the same date as
the underlying option. The reload feature was eliminated for options granted after 2006.

(2) PRSUs are subject to three-year vesting, as well as a performance goal based on cumulative earnings per share from continuing operations
over a three-year period.

(3) A reload option was granted to Mr. Speer on 2/14/12. See footnote 1 above for more information about the reload option.
Option Exercises and Stock Vested

The following table provides information for each NEO who exercised stock options during 2012. The value realized
upon the exercise of options is calculated using the difference between the option exercise price and the market price
at the time of exercise multiplied by the number of shares underlying the option.

Option Awards Stock Awards

Name

Number of
Shares
Acquired
on Exercise
(#) (1)

Value Realized
on Exercise

($)

Number of
Shares
Acquired
on Vesting

(#)

Value Realized
on Vesting

($)
E. Scott Santi 140,000 $ 1,367,624 28,770 $ 1,609,678
David B. Speer 500,000 $ 8,042,080 94,533 $ 5,289,123
Ronald D. Kropp 69,933 $ 731,203 16,324 $ 913,330
David C. Parry 15,000 $ 379,314 15,256 $ 853,588
Craig A. Hindman 130,000 $ 1,830,512 17,054 $ 954,193
Roland M. Martel 36,700 $ 653,814 15,256 $ 853,588

(1) Mr. Speer was granted a reload option on 2/14/12 for 33,270 shares at an exercise price of $55.97. See footnote 1 to the �Outstanding
Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End 2012� table above for more information about the reload option.

Pension Benefits

The following table provides pension benefit information through our financial statement measurement date of
December 31, 2012 for each NEO serving as of that date. Pension benefit payments made in respect of Mr. Speer
following his death are discussed below under �Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control � Payments
and Benefits in Respect of Mr. Speer.�

Name Plan Name

Number of
Years of
Credited
Service
(#)

Present
Value of

Accumulated
Benefit
($)(1)(2)

E. Scott Santi ITW Retirement Accumulation Plan 30.621 $ 540,934
ITW Nonqualified Pension Plan 30.621 $ 1,874,389

Ronald D. Kropp ITW Retirement Accumulation Plan 19.083 $ 249,710
ITW Nonqualified Pension Plan 19.083 $ 678,509

David C. Parry ITW Retirement Accumulation Plan 18.742 $ 664,662
ITW Nonqualified Pension Plan 18.742 $ 1,980,123
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Craig A. Hindman ITW Retirement Accumulation Plan 36.547 $ 886,060
ITW Nonqualified Pension Plan 36.547 $ 2,286,514

Roland M. Martel ITW Retirement Accumulation Plan 18.927 $ 692,847
ITW Nonqualified Pension Plan 18.927 $ 1,292,233

45

Edgar Filing: ILLINOIS TOOL WORKS INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents 70



Table of Contents

(1) Assuming the individual receives a lump sum distribution at normal retirement, present values are based on the 3.70% discount rate used for
financial reporting purposes.

(2) In the event of a change in control or departure due to death, disability, or retirement, the total pension payable would reflect the above
amounts in total. The allocation between the ITW Retirement Accumulation Plan and the ITW Nonqualified Pension Plan would depend on
the actual lump sum and annuity values calculated using the actual applicable interest rates and IRS limits.

ITW Retirement Accumulation Plan

We maintain the ITW Retirement Accumulation Plan (the �Pension Plan�) for the benefit of eligible employees of
participating U.S. businesses to provide a portion of the income necessary for retirement. The Pension Plan was closed
to new entrants effective January 1, 2007. The Pension Plan is structured as a �pension equity plan� under which a
participant accumulates certain percentages for each year of plan participation. The accumulated percentages (from
both columns shown below), when multiplied by final average annual pay (generally, salary and executive incentive
payable in the highest five years out of the last ten complete calendar years of service), produce an amount that can be
received as a lump sum payment or an actuarially equivalent lifetime annuity. For each year of credited service after
December 31, 2000, percentages are structured as follows:

Age During the Year On Total Final Average Pay

On Final Average Pay in Excess

of Covered Compensation(1)
Less than 30 2% 2%

30-34 3% 2%
35-39 4% 2%
40-44 5% 2%
45 7% 2%

46-49 7% 6%
50-54 10% 6%
55-59 13% 6%

60 or older 16% 6%

(1) Covered compensation is a 35-year average of the maximum earnings recognized in calculating Social Security benefits. For 2012, the
amount of covered compensation for an individual attaining age 65 was $67,200, while for an employee age 35 or younger it was
$110,100.

Prior to 2001, the Pension Plan operated under a traditional annuity formula (a normal retirement benefit equal to 1%
of final average pay and 0.65% of such pay in excess of covered compensation for each of the first 30 years of
credited service plus 0.75% of average pay for any additional years). As part of the transition to the pension equity
formula, as of December 31, 2000:

� Accrued benefits under the traditional annuity formula were converted to an initial pension equity
percentage by calculating the lump sum value of the normal retirement annuity and dividing by the
average annual pay at that time.
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� Anyone who had at least five years of vesting service and had attained age 50 was entitled to a benefit
under the pre-2001 formula if that benefit was more valuable than the benefits calculated under the new
formula.

Nonqualified Pension Plan

The Nonqualified Pension Plan is maintained to make up for benefits that cannot be paid under the tax-qualified
Pension Plan due to Internal Revenue Code limitations on the amount of compensation that may be considered and the
amount of benefit that may be paid. The Company has not considered granting additional years of service to executive
officers under the plan and, therefore, does not currently have a policy on such grants. For the most part, the
Nonqualified Pension Plan uses the same formulas and other computation elements as the Pension Plan with certain
exceptions, including the following:

1)  The Pension Plan uses net compensation after deferrals under the current ECRIP, and the Nonqualified Pension
Plan uses total eligible compensation (generally, salary and non-equity incentive compensation).

2)  The Nonqualified Pension Plan provides that a participant who leaves the Company, other than upon retirement,
may forfeit any plan benefits based on eligible compensation above the maximum amount ($250,000 in 2012) that
may be recognized under a tax-qualified plan.

3)  In addition to the annuity and lump sum options available under the Pension Plan, a participant in the Nonqualified
Pension Plan may elect to receive fixed monthly installments over 2 to 20 years. If the executive left employment
prior to death, disability or retirement, or if the plan is terminated in conjunction with a change in control, the benefit
from the Nonqualified Pension Plan would be paid as a lump sum.

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

In 1985, the Company established an Executive Contributory Retirement Income Plan (the �1985 ECRIP�), which
offered designated executives an opportunity to defer a portion of their salary and non-equity incentive earned in 1985
through 1989 to a deferred compensation account, to receive the matching contributions they would otherwise receive
if such deferrals had been made under our tax-qualified Savings and Investment Plan (in lieu of any matching
contributions under that plan) and to receive a rate of interest on the account based on the monthly Moody�s
Long-Term Corporate Bond Yield Average (the �Moody�s Rate�). With certain exceptions, the 1985 ECRIP account is
paid in monthly installments over 15 years following a death, disability or retirement event and in a lump sum
following any other termination of employment. Mr. Speer was designated as eligible for the 1985 ECRIP.

In 1993, the Company established a new Executive Contributory Retirement Income Plan (the �Current ECRIP� and,
together with the 1985 ECRIP, the �ECRIP�), which has most of the same features as the 1985 ECRIP. All of the NEOs
are eligible for the Current ECRIP. A Current ECRIP participant can defer from 6%-50% of his or her salary and from
6%-85% of his or her non-equity (annual and CGP) incentive, with the applicable matching contribution on either
component under the Savings and Investment Plan formula (in lieu of any matching contributions under that
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plan). Deferrals under the Current ECRIP reduce the compensation that may be recognized under the Savings and
Investment Plan and the tax-qualified Pension Plan.

The Current ECRIP has a limit on the amount of interest under the Moody�s Rate that would be recognized (12%
annualized, or 15.6% for amounts eligible to receive 130% of the Moody�s Rate), a return of deferral feature whereby
an individual could elect to receive a return of the principal amount deferred after a period of at least five years, and
options for payment following death, disability or retirement as a lump sum or in monthly installments over 2 to
20 years.

The following table sets forth ECRIP account information for each NEO during fiscal year 2012. Other than the
distributions described below, there were no withdrawals by, or distributions to, an NEO under the ECRIP in 2012.

Name

Executive
Contributions in

2012
($)(1)

Registrant
Contributions in

2012
($)(2)

Aggregate
Earnings in

2012
($)(3)

Aggregate Balance
at December 31,

2012
($)(3)(4)

Aggregate
Distributions in

2012
($)(5)

E. Scott Santi $131,390 $  45,987 $  72,735 $1,470,206
David B. Speer $658,694 $115,272 $536,757 $   271,616 $11,016,082
Ronald D. Kropp $  69,391 $  40,478 $  38,547 $   779,451 $         9,078
David C. Parry $161,392 $  42,644 $190,711 $3,696,355
Craig A. Hindman $116,217 $  34,524 $200,678 $3,807,054
Roland M. Martel $183,292 $  32,076 $140,624 $2,760,549

(1) Includes deferrals of 2012 salary reflected in the Salary column of the Summary Compensation Table (Mr. Santi, $49,518; Mr. Speer,
$221,773; Mr. Kropp, $24,089; Mr. Parry, $42,736; Mr. Hindman, $52,734; and Mr. Martel, $66,163). Also includes deferrals of 2011
executive incentive amounts paid in 2012 reflected in the Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation column of the Summary Compensation
Table for 2011 (Mr. Santi, $81,873; Mr. Speer, $436,921; Mr. Kropp, $45,302; and Mr. Parry $118,656).

(2) These amounts are also included in the All Other Compensation column of the Summary Compensation Table for 2012.

(3) Footnote 4 to the Summary Compensation Table sets forth above-market interest for 2012 included in aggregate earnings in this table. If
Mr. Santi�s employment is terminated prior to him being �retirement eligible,� he will forfeit above-market interest of $13,151 for 2012 and
$114,742 in the aggregate. If Mr. Kropp�s employment is terminated prior to him being �retirement eligible,� he will forfeit above-market
interest of $6,820 for 2012 and $53,792 in the aggregate. Above-market interest was discontinued for amounts deferred after December 31,
2009.

(4) In addition to the Company�s contributions shown in the table above, and excess interest as disclosed for 2012 in footnote 4 to the Summary
Compensation Table, the following amounts of executive and Company contributions to the ECRIP and excess interest are reported as
compensation in the Summary Compensation Table for 2011 and 2010:
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Footnote 4 Table

Name
Year Ended

December 31, 2011
Year Ended

December 31, 2010
E. Scott Santi $180,294 $  70,330
David B. Speer $924,273 $515,601
Ronald D. Kropp $  95,393 $  79,110
David C. Parry $359,578 *
Craig A. Hindman * *
Roland M. Martel * *

* Mr. Parry was not an NEO in 2010. Messrs. Hindman and Martel were not NEOs in 2010 or 2011.

(5) Mr. Speer�s beneficiary received a distribution under the plan as a result of Mr. Speer�s death. Mr. Kropp received a distribution under
the return of deferral feature of the plan.

Retirement under the ECRIP is defined as having attained age 55 with at least 10 years of service, or age 65 with at
least 5 years of service. If an ECRIP participant�s employment ends due to retirement, death, or disability, the entire
1985 ECRIP and amounts deferred to the Current ECRIP prior to January 1, 2010 would receive interest crediting of
130% of the Moody�s Rate. Amounts deferred to the Current ECRIP after December 31, 2009 are not eligible to
receive 130% of the Moody�s Rate and would receive interest crediting at 100% of the Moody�s Rate. If the executive
leaves employment due to termination prior to February 15, 2014, his ECRIP accounts would be paid in a lump-sum
after being credited with 100% of the Moody�s Rate (in lieu of 130% where applicable), with all employer
contributions being subject to forfeiture if the termination is for cause. After February 15, 2014, such executive�s
account would be distributed in accordance with his distribution election. During 2012, the Moody�s Rate applied to
ECRIP accounts ranged from 4.07% to 4.49% for amounts eligible for 100% of Moody�s, and 5.29% to 5.83% for
amounts eligible for 130% of Moody�s.

If the plans are terminated in conjunction with a change in control, participants would receive their 1985 ECRIP in
monthly installments over 15 years (with certain exceptions) and their Current ECRIP as a lump sum, as if a
retirement event had occurred.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control

Payments and benefits received by NEOs upon termination are governed by the arrangements described below and,
except for Mr. Speer, quantified at the end of this section. We have estimated the amounts involved assuming that the
termination became effective as of the last business day of fiscal year 2012. The actual amounts to be paid out can
only be determined at the time of the NEOs departure from the Company. Payments and benefits due as a result of
Mr. Speer�s death are set forth immediately below.

Payments and Benefits to Former Chief Executive Officer

As a result of Mr. Speer�s death on November 17, 2012, payment from the nonqualified retirement plans (ECRIP and
the Nonqualified Pension Plan) commenced to Mr. Speer�s beneficiary according to each plan�s applicable provisions,
beneficiary designations, and distribution elections. A payment in the amount of $12,010,930 from the Nonqualified
Pension Plan included an additional $912,838 benefit discussed in footnote 4 of the Summary Compensation Table. A
payment from the ECRIP is shown in the Nonqualified Deferred Compensation table. Mr. Speer�s annual incentive
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CGP long-term cash award payout for Mr. Speer was $1,304,083. Mr. Speer�s outstanding options were amended to
extend the exercise period to equal the period that would have applied had Mr. Speer retired. The incremental value of
this modification to outstanding options, as discussed in footnotes 5, 6 and 7 of the Grants of Plan-Based Awards
table, was $5,318,271. The following unvested options became vested upon Mr. Speer�s death:

Grant Date Grant Price Expiration Date Options
2/14/2012 $55.97 1/31/2016 33,270
2/10/2012 $55.71 2/9/2022 391,986
2/11/2011 $55.81 2/10/2021 243,112
2/12/2010 $43.64 2/11/2020 231,491
2/13/2009 $35.12 2/12/2019 108,398

The following outstanding PRSU and CGP Awards vested upon Mr. Speer�s death pursuant to their respective grant
terms, but are still subject to the performance goals that determine payout levels. If the performance goals are met, the
following shares and amounts become payable at the end of the three-year performance period of each grant:

Grant Date PRSU CGP Target
2/10/2012 48,465 shares $1,800,000
2/11/2011 43,003 shares $1,600,000
2/12/2010 50,871 shares $1,304,083*

*Payout based on actual achievement level.
Executive Incentive Plan

The Executive Incentive Plan provides that if a participant is employed as of the last day of the fiscal year, he or she
would receive any amounts earned under the Executive Incentive Plan for that fiscal year. In the event an NEO
becomes permanently disabled or dies, the NEO would be eligible for a possible payout under the Executive Incentive
Plan. If termination of employment other than for death, disability, retirement or change in control occurs prior to the
last day of the fiscal year, a participant forfeits his or her award; however, the Compensation Committee has the
discretion to award an amount prorated for the portion of the fiscal year that the participant was employed. Actual
amounts earned based on performance by the NEOs in 2012 are discussed in more detail above in �Compensation
Discussion and Analysis � Annual Cash Incentives.�

ITW Retirement Accumulation Plan and Nonqualified Pension Plan

NEOs who are terminated for any reason receive their benefits under the ITW Retirement Accumulation Plan and
Nonqualified Pension Plan as described in the Pension Benefits table above.

Executive Contributory Retirement Income Plan

NEOs who are terminated for any reason receive contributions and accumulated earnings as outlined in the
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation section above.
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Long-Term Incentive Plan

Stock Options and Performance Restricted Stock Units: In the event of a termination upon death or disability, all
unvested options and PRSUs held by the NEOs would immediately vest. In the event of a termination upon retirement
(defined as termination after (1) age 62 and 10 years of service for grants prior to 2009; or (2) age 62 with 10 years of
service or age 65 with 5 years of service for grants made in 2009 or later), unvested options and PRSUs granted more
than one year prior to retirement would immediately vest, and unvested options and PRSUs granted within one year
prior to retirement would become 25% vested. No NEO was eligible for retirement as of December 31, 2012. In the
event of a change in control, unvested options and PRSUs granted before 2011 would immediately vest, and unvested
options and PRSUs granted in 2011 or later that are continued or replaced would only vest upon a termination of
employment after a change in control. In the case of PRSUs, all such vesting events are subject to the achievement of
performance goals. For all NEOs, in the event of a termination other than upon retirement, death, disability or a
change in control, any unvested options and PRSUs held on such date by the NEOs would be forfeited.

Long-Term Cash Award �CGP�: In the event of a termination upon death or disability, the CGP award would vest at
100% of the actual performance level achieved and be paid after the end of the performance period. In the event of a
termination upon retirement (defined as termination after (1) age 62 and 10 years of service for grants prior to 2009; or
(2) age 62 with 10 years of service or age 65 with 5 years of service for grants made in 2009 or later), the CGP award
would vest pro-rata and be paid after the end of the performance period. No NEO was eligible for retirement as of
December 31, 2012. In the event of an actual or constructive termination following a change in control, the CGP
award would vest pro-rata and be paid at the target level (or actual achievement level if greater) under the terms of the
2011 Change-in-Control Severance Policy. For all NEOs, in the event of a termination other than upon retirement,
death, disability or a change in control, the unvested CGP award held on such date by the NEOs would be forfeited.

Change-in-Control Severance Policy

Prior to 2011, we did not have any plans or agreements especially for executive officers regarding termination of
employment or a change in control of the Company. Effective January 1, 2011, the Company adopted the 2011
Change-in-Control Severance Compensation Policy, which provides that, upon an actual or constructive termination
following a change in control of the Company, the NEOs and other elected officers would be entitled to receive:
(i) two times annual cash compensation (base salary plus average annual incentive pay over the prior three years);
(ii) a prorated amount of that year�s annual incentive bonus at the target level (or actual achievement level if greater);
and (iii) a prorated amount of the value of any long-term cash incentive awards at the target level (or actual
achievement level if greater).
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Payments and Benefits Assuming Termination as of December 31, 2012

The payments and benefits for the NEOs other than Mr. Speer under each termination scenario are outlined below.

Termination and Change-in-Control Payments and Benefits

Benefit or Payment Retirement
Death/

Disability Change in Control Other
Executive Incentive Plan(1)(2) Pro-rata vesting Pro-rata vesting See Change-in-Control Severance

Policy No
Executive Contributory Retirement
Income Plan(1) Yes Yes Yes Yes

Retirement Accumulation Plan and
Nonqualified Pension
Plan(1)

Yes Yes Yes Yes

Vesting of Unvested Performance
Restricted Stock Units(2)(3)

Pre-2012 grants �
100% vesting(4)

Post 2011 grants � 25% vesting (4)

100% vesting(4) Pre-2011 grants � 100% vesting

Post 2010 grants � 100% vesting,
subject to double-trigger(5)

No

Vesting of Unvested Stock Options(3) Pre-2012 grants �
100% vesting (4)

Post 2011 grants � 25% vesting(4)

100% vesting No

Payment of Long-Term Cash
(CGP)(2)(3)

Pro-rata vesting(4) 100% vesting(4)

Pre-2011 grants �pro-rata vesting

Post 2010 grants � pro-rata vesting,
subject to double-trigger(5)

No

Change-in-Control Severance Policy

No No

2 years� salary & annual incentive,
and a pro rata payout of
outstanding cash incentives subject
to double trigger(6)

No

(1) Retirement for these awards is defined as termination after age 55 and 10 years of service.

(2) All vesting for these awards is subject to achievement of performance goals, except for termination upon death or disability.

(3) Retirement for these awards is defined as termination after: (a) age 62 and 10 years of service for grants prior to 2009; or (b) age 62 with
10 years of service or age 65 with 5 years of service for grants made in 2009 or later.

(4) Vesting is limited to the extent that the performance level for the award is achieved. If the minimum performance level is not achieved, the
award is forfeited.

(5) Double-trigger vesting occurs for awards that are continued or replaced if actual or constructive termination occurs within two years of a
change in control of the Company.

(6) Double trigger occurs upon actual or constructive termination within two years of change in control.
The following table outlines the value of payments and benefits that the NEOs other than Mr. Speer would receive
pursuant to the 2011 Long-Term Incentive Plan and the 2011 Change-In-Control Severance Compensation Policy
under various termination scenarios assuming that termination occurred as of the last business day of fiscal 2012. For
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accelerated upon a change in control or termination, is determined using the excess, if any, of $60.81 (the closing
price of ITW common stock on December 31, 2012) over the option exercise price.
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Name
Retirement

($)(1)
Death/Disability

($)
Change in
Control ($)

Other
($)

E. Scott Santi $ 5,055,875 $ 12,135,525 $ 15,281,340 $ 5,055,875
Ronald D. Kropp $ 2,977,468 $ 7,875,879 $ 9,517,041 $ 2,977,468
David C. Parry $ 3,503,796 $ 8,381,620 $ 10,281,712 $ 3,503,796
Craig A. Hindman $ 3,761,794 $ 7,555,608 $ 9,238,047 $ 3,761,794
Roland M. Martel $ 3,200,426 $ 6,560,659 $ 8,162,133 $ 3,200,426

(1) Retirement for this purpose is retirement of the executive at December 31, 2012. No NEO had reached retirement age under the
Long-Term Incentive Plan as of that date.

Stock options, PRSUs and CGP awards, whether vested or unvested, are subject to forfeiture if the holder competes
with, or divulges confidential information about, the Company, or if the Compensation Committee determines that the
holder engaged in gross misconduct or conduct that is against the business interests of the Company. Awards granted
after January 1, 2011 are also subject to forfeiture, in whole or in part, in order to comply with applicable law,
regulation, stock exchange or accounting rule, or in order to comply with the Company clawback policy.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2012 about the Long-Term Incentive Plan (formerly
known as the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan).

Plan Category

(a)
Number of securities
to be issued upon

exercise of outstanding
options, warrants and

rights

(b)
Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding
options

(c)
Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding

securities reflected in
column (a))

Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 14,488,640(1) $48.50 29,143,301

(1) Includes directors� deferred shares, and shares subject to RSUs and PRSUs.
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Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors hereby furnishes the following report to the stockholders of
the Company in accordance with rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

We have reviewed and discussed with management the Compensation Discussion and Analysis contained in this
proxy statement. Based on our review and discussions, we have recommended to the Board of Directors that the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in this proxy statement and the Company�s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission for the year ended December 31, 2012.

This report is submitted on behalf of the members of the Compensation Committee:

James A. Skinner, Chairman

Susan Crown

James W. Griffith

Robert S. Morrison

Kevin M. Warren
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Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

We review related-party transactions in accordance with our Statement of Principles of Conduct, by-laws and
Corporate Governance Guidelines rather than a separate written policy. A related-party transaction is a transaction
involving the Company and any of the following persons: a director, director nominee or executive officer of the
Company; a holder of more than 5% of ITW common stock; or an immediate family member or person sharing the
household of any of these persons.

Our Statement of Principles of Conduct states that our directors, officers and employees must avoid engaging in any
activity, such as related-party transactions, that might create a conflict of interest or a perception of a conflict of
interest. These individuals are required to raise for consideration any proposed or actual transaction that they believe
may create a conflict of interest. Our by-laws provide that no related-party transaction is void or voidable solely
because a director has an interest if (1) the material facts are disclosed to or known by the Board of Directors and the
transaction is approved by the disinterested directors or an appropriate Board committee comprised of disinterested
directors, (2) the material facts are disclosed to or known by the stockholders and the transaction is approved by the
stockholders, or (3) the transaction is fair to the Company as of the time it is approved. Our Corporate Governance
Guidelines provide that the Board will apply established Categorical Standards for Director Independence in making
its independence determinations. Under the standards, certain relationships between the Company and a director
would preclude a director from being considered independent.

On an annual basis, each director and executive officer completes a Directors� and Officers� Questionnaire, which
requires disclosure of any transactions with the Company in which he or she, or any member of his or her immediate
family, has a direct or indirect material interest. The Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee reviews these
questionnaires and discusses any related-party transaction disclosed therein.

In addition, under its charter, the Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing, approving, ratifying or disapproving
all proposed related-party transactions that, if entered into, would be required to be disclosed under the rules and
regulations of the SEC. In reviewing related-party transactions, the Audit Committee considers the factors set forth in
our Statement of Principles of Conduct, by-laws and Corporate Governance Guidelines, as well as other factors,
including the Company�s rationale for entering into the transaction, alternatives to the transaction, whether the
transaction is on terms at least as fair to the Company as would be the case were the transaction entered into with a
third party, and the potential for an actual or apparent conflict of interest. No member of the Audit Committee having
an interest in a related-party transaction may participate in any decision regarding that transaction.

We maintain a commercial banking relationship with The Northern Trust Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries.
The Northern Trust Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Northern Trust Corporation and beneficially owns
approximately 10.1% of our common stock. Ms. Susan Crown and Mr. David B. Smith, Jr., directors of the Company,
are also directors of Northern Trust Corporation and The Northern Trust Company. In 2012, The Northern
Trust Company provided the following services to the Company: credit services, treasury and investment management
services, trade services, credit enhancement or payment guaranty, acting as agent or fiduciary, consulting services, risk
management services, securities lending services and broker

55

Edgar Filing: ILLINOIS TOOL WORKS INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents 84



Table of Contents

dealer services. In addition, The Northern Trust Company serves as the trustee under the Company�s principal pension
plans. The banking and trustee relationships with The Northern Trust Company are conducted in the ordinary course
of business on an arms-length basis. Banking, investment management, trustee and other administrative fees paid to
The Northern Trust Company or affiliates by the Company were approximately $3 million in 2012.

Audit Committee Report

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is composed of seven independent directors, as defined in the listing
standards of the New York Stock Exchange. In addition, the Board of Directors has determined that all Audit
Committee members are �financially literate� and meet the Securities and Exchange Commission criteria of �audit
committee financial expert.� The Audit Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors,
which was most recently reviewed by the Audit Committee in February 2013.

The Audit Committee is responsible for providing oversight to the Company�s financial reporting process through
periodic meetings with ITW�s independent registered public accountants, internal auditors and management in order to
review accounting, auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee is also responsible
for assisting the Board in overseeing: (a) the integrity of the Company�s financial statements; (b) the Company�s
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (c) the independent registered public accounting firm�s
qualifications, independence and performance; (d) the Company�s overall risk policies and practices; and (e) the
performance of the Company�s internal audit function. Company management is responsible for the preparation and
integrity of the financial reporting information and related systems of internal controls. The Audit Committee, in
carrying out its role, relies on Company senior management, including senior financial management, and ITW�s
independent registered public accounting firm.

The following is the report of the Audit Committee.

We have reviewed and discussed with senior management the audited financial statements of the Company.
Management has confirmed to the Audit Committee that the financial statements have been prepared in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles.

We have reviewed and discussed with senior management their assertion and opinion regarding the Company�s
internal controls. Management has confirmed to the Audit Committee that internal controls over financial reporting
have been appropriately designed, and are operating effectively to prevent or detect any material financial statement
misstatements. We have also reviewed and discussed with Deloitte & Touche LLP, ITW�s independent registered
public accounting firm, its audit and opinion regarding the Company�s internal controls.

We have reviewed and discussed with Deloitte & Touche LLP the matters required to be discussed by AU Section 380
(Communication with Audit Committees) under which Deloitte & Touche LLP must provide us with additional
information regarding the scope and results of its audit of the Company�s financial statements. This information
includes: (1) Deloitte & Touche LLP�s responsibility under generally accepted auditing standards; (2) significant
accounting policies; (3) management judgments and estimates; (4) any significant audit adjustments; (5) any
disagreements with management; and (6) any difficulties encountered in performing the audit.
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We have received from Deloitte & Touche LLP a letter providing the disclosures required by applicable requirements
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding the independent accountant�s communications with the
Audit Committee concerning independence with respect to any relationships between Deloitte & Touche LLP and the
Company that in its professional judgment may reasonably be thought to bear on independence. Deloitte & Touche
LLP has discussed its independence with us, and has confirmed in the letter that, in its professional judgment, it is
independent of the Company within the meaning of the federal securities laws.

The Audit Committee also discussed with the Company�s internal auditors and independent registered public
accounting firm the overall scope and plans for their respective audits. The Audit Committee meets periodically with
the internal auditors and independent registered public accounting firm, with and without management present, to
discuss the results of their examinations, their evaluations of the Company�s internal controls, and the overall quality of
the Company�s financial reporting.

Based on the reviews and discussions described above, we recommended to the Board of Directors, and the Board
approved, the inclusion of the audited financial statements in the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2012, for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Pamela B. Strobel, Chairman

Daniel J. Brutto

James W. Griffith

Robert C. McCormack

David B. Smith, Jr.

Kevin M. Warren

Anré D. Williams

57

Edgar Filing: ILLINOIS TOOL WORKS INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents 86



Table of Contents

Ratification of the Appointment of

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Audit Committee has engaged Deloitte & Touche LLP to serve as ITW�s independent registered public accounting
firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013. Deloitte & Touche LLP has been employed to perform this
function for the Company since 2002.

Audit Fees

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and their respective affiliates (collectively,
the �Deloitte Entities�) will bill us approximately $13,541,000 for professional services in connection with the 2012
audit of the annual financial statements and internal controls, as compared with $13,608,000 for the 2011 audit. These
fees relate to: (i) the audit of the annual financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K; (ii) the
review of the quarterly financial statements included in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q; (iii) the internal controls
audit; and (iv) statutory audits.

Audit-Related Fees

During 2012 and 2011, the Deloitte Entities billed us approximately $4,104,000 and $2,852,000, respectively, for
audit-related services. These fees relate to work performed with respect to divestiture audits, acquisition-related due
diligence and other technical accounting assistance.

Tax Fees

Tax fees for 2012 and 2011 include work performed by the Deloitte Entities with respect to tax compliance services,
such as assistance in preparing various types of tax returns globally ($2,848,000 and $3,206,000, respectively) and tax
planning services, often related to our many acquisitions and restructurings ($1,375,000 and $828,000, respectively).

All Other Fees

Fees for other accounting services rendered by the Deloitte Entities were $0 and $8,000, respectively, for 2012 and
2011.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies

The Audit Committee has adopted policies and procedures for pre-approval of all audit and non-audit related work to
be performed by ITW�s independent registered public accounting firm. As a part of those procedures, the Audit
Committee performs a qualitative analysis of all non-audit work to be performed by our independent registered public
accounting firm. Each year, the Audit Committee receives a detailed list of the types of audit-related and non-audit
related services to be performed, along with estimated fee amounts. The Audit Committee then reviews and
pre-approves audit work and certain categories of tax and other non-audit services that may be performed. In
conducting its analysis, the Audit Committee carefully contemplates the nature of the services to be provided and
considers whether such services: (i) are prohibited under applicable rules; (ii) would result in our accountants auditing
their own work; (iii) would result in our accountants performing management functions; (iv) would place our
accountants in a position of acting as an advocate for
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the Company; or (v) would present a real risk of a conflict of interest or otherwise impair our accountants�
independence. The Audit Committee also annually pre-approves the budget for annual GAAP, statutory and benefit
plan audits. Company management provides quarterly updates to the Audit Committee regarding year-to-date
expenditures versus budget for audit and non-audit services. The Audit Committee also considers whether specific
projects or expenditures could potentially affect the independence of ITW�s independent registered public accounting
firm.

Although we are not required to do so, we believe that it is appropriate for us to request stockholder ratification of the
appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm. If stockholders do not
ratify the appointment, the Audit Committee will investigate the reasons for the stockholders� rejection and reconsider
the appointment. Representatives of Deloitte & Touche LLP will be present at our Annual Meeting and will have the
opportunity to make a statement and respond to questions.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote �FOR� ratification of the appointment of

Deloitte & Touche LLP.
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Advisory Vote on Executive Compensation

In accordance with the recommendation by the Board and the preference expressed by our stockholders at the 2011
Annual Meeting, the Company has an advisory vote on executive compensation annually. The Company is seeking
your advisory vote on our executive compensation, as disclosed in the �Compensation Discussion and Analysis� section,
the compensation tables and any related material disclosed in this proxy statement pursuant to the SEC�s compensation
disclosure rules. The Compensation Committee will review the voting results and take them into consideration when
making future decisions regarding executive compensation, but because your vote is advisory, it will not be binding
on the Compensation Committee, the Board or the Company.

We believe that our executive compensation program is competitive and strongly aligned with the long-term interests
of our stockholders. Our executive compensation programs support our decentralized company structure and have
played a material role in our ability to drive strong financial results, as well as motivate, attract and retain a highly
experienced, successful management team. These programs have been designed to promote a performance-based
culture. At least 87% of each of our NEOs� 2012 compensation was performance based, with the majority of
performance-based compensation being in the form of long-term incentives. The Company has in the past sought and
obtained stockholder approval of our incentive plan performance metrics. Our incentive programs are directly linked
to key Company metrics such as income, return on invested capital, revenue growth, strategic long-term objectives of
the Company and importantly, ITW�s stock price performance.

ITW achieved strong results in 2012 versus 2011 as the Company focused on its 2012-2017 Enterprise Strategy
through its three key initiatives announced in 2012: Portfolio Management, Business Structure Simplification, and
Strategic Sourcing. The Company�s 2012 operating revenues of $17.9 billion compare to $17.8 billion in 2011 and
$15.4 billion in 2010. Divestitures reduced revenues in 2012, which reflect the Company�s ongoing focus on divesting
businesses that are no longer aligned with its enterprise strategies and long-term objectives. On October 31, 2012, the
Company divested a 51% interest in its Decorative Surfaces segment.

Organic revenues, or base revenues, increased 1.7% in 2012 versus 2011. Operating margins for 2012 were 15.9%,
compared to 15.4% in 2011 and 14.6% in 2010. In addition, the closing price of our stock was $46.71 at the end of
2011 and $60.81 at the end of 2012, an increase of 30.2%.

Despite the challenges in the macroeconomic environment, ITW�s core capabilities (80/20 business model, sustainable
differentiation, and our entrepreneurial culture) drove profitable growth in a slower growth economy. We leverage
these core capabilities as we execute our key strategic initiatives, and we believe that each element of our
compensation structure plays an important role in motivating our employees to achieve profitable growth with strong
returns on capital.

Maintaining a high level of corporate governance over our executive pay programs is important to us. We closely
monitor the compensation programs and pay levels of executives from companies of similar size and complexity, so
that we may ensure that our compensation programs are consistent with our values and within the norm of a range of
market practices. In addition, we
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have responded to both the economic environment and new government regulations. Examples of changes to our
compensation practices related to the compensation of our NEOs are:

� Leadership Change

¡ In October 2012, E. Scott Santi was promoted to President and Chief Operating Officer, or COO.
In addition, Mr. Santi was appointed acting Chief Executive Officer, or CEO, due to Mr. Speer�s
medical leave of absence.

¡ Mr. Speer served as Chairman and CEO until his death on November 17, 2012. Mr. Santi was
elected President and CEO on November 18, 2012 to succeed Mr. Speer.

� Base Salary

¡ Mr. Santi, in recognition of his promotions first to President and COO then to President and
CEO, received base salary increases to $800,000 and $1 million, respectively. Our other NEOs
received salary increases in 2012 in the range of 2% to 4%.

� Annual Incentive Plan

¡ In 2011, the payment provisions upon a change in control of the Company were changed for
awards made after March 1, 2011. First, payment will now only occur following both a change in
control and termination of employment (a �double-trigger�) for awards that are continued or
replaced, and second, the payment amount was reduced to payment at Target (or actual
achievement, if greater) from payment at Maximum award levels.

� Long-Term Incentive Plan

¡ In 2013, the weighting of the long-term incentive award components was adjusted to decrease
the stock option component in order to emphasize key financial performance metrics. In 2012,
the weighting was 50% stock options, 30% PRSUs and 20% long-term cash, or CGP, for all
NEOs. For 2013, the weighting for the CEO is 40% stock options, 30% PRSUs and 30% CGP,
and the weighting for the other NEOs is 33% each for options, PRSUs and CGP.

¡ For 2013, we added operating margins as a third metric to our CGP award to more closely align
this award with the Company�s 2012-2017 enterprise strategy and increased the weighting of this
award as described above.
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¡ 2012 was the final year in the three-year performance cycle of the first CGP awards granted in
2010. The goals for CGP grants made prior to 2012 were based 50% on ROIC and 50% on
revenue. The 2012 grants were based 60% on ROIC and 40% on revenue in order to place more
emphasis on profitable growth, and the 2013 grants were based 40% on operating margins, 30%
on ROIC and 30% on revenue growth to better align the award with our enterprise strategy as
described above.
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¡ Effective in 2011, we amended the plan to:

¯ Hedging Activities
          The Company�s ability to utilize financial instruments as hedges was significantly
restricted due to the Chapter 11 filing.
          In accordance with SFAS 133, �Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities�, as amended and interpreted, the Company reports all derivative financial
instruments on the balance sheet at their fair values. For derivative instruments designated
as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of any hedge is reported in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss) until it is cleared to earnings during the same period in
which the hedged item affects earnings. The ineffective portion of all hedges is recognized
in current period earnings. The Company uses no derivative instruments designated as fair
value hedges. In the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the Company reports the cash
flows resulting from its hedging activities in the same category as the related item that is
being hedged.
          The Company enters into foreign exchange rate agreements to hedge exposure to the
currency fluctuation of certain transactions denominated in a currency other than the
applicable local currency.
          The Company has also entered into certain lead forward purchase and put option
agreements to economically hedge the cost of externally purchased lead.
          Counterparties to foreign exchange and commodity and option agreements are major
financial institutions. The Company believes the risk of incurring losses related to credit risk
is remote.

Warranty and Return Allowance
          For a majority of the Company�s sales, an up-front �warranty discount� is provided at the
time of sale, after which there is no additional warranty obligation or customer
right-of-return. For the remaining sales on which an up-front discount is not provided, the
Company provides for an allowance for product returns and/or allowances. Based upon its
manufacturing re-work process, the Company believes that the majority of its product
returns are not the result of product defects. Many returns are in fact subsequently sold as
seconds at a reduced price. The Company recognizes warranty discounts and the estimated
cost of product returns as a reduction of sales in the period in which the related revenue is
recognized. The product return
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estimates are based on historical trends and claims experience, and include assessment of
the anticipated lag between the date of sale and claim/return date.

Income Taxes
          The Company accounts for income taxes under the provisions of SFAS 109
�Accounting for Income Taxes�, which requires the use of the liability method in accounting
for deferred taxes. If it is more likely than not that some portion, or all, of a deferred tax
asset will not be realized, a valuation allowance is recognized.

Revenue Recognition
          The Company records sales when revenue is earned. Shipment terms are generally
FOB shipping point and revenue is recognized when product is shipped to the customer. In
limited cases, terms are FOB destination and in these cases, revenue is recognized when
product is delivered to the customer�s delivery site.

Accounting for Shipping and Handling Costs
          The Company records shipping and handling costs incurred in cost of sales and
records shipping and handling costs billed to customers in net sales.

Advertising
          The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred.

Stock Options
          As provided for in SFAS No. 123, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation� (�SFAS
123�) the Company utilizes the intrinsic value method of expense recognition under APB
Opinion No. 25. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for the stock
option plans as the fair market value at date of grant was less than or equal to the exercise
price. Had compensation expense for the stock option plans been determined consistently
with the provisions of SFAS 123, the Company�s net income (loss) and net income (loss) per
share would have been the pro forma amounts indicated below:

Fiscal Period from Period from Fiscal

Year Ended
May 6, 2004

to
April 1,
2004 to Year Ended

March 31,
2006

March 31,
2005 May 5, 2004

March 31,
2004

Net income (loss) as
reported: $ (172,732) $ (466,923) $ 1,748,564 $ (114,083)
Less: total stock-based
employee compensation
expense determined under
fair value based method
for all awards, net of
related tax effects (1,041) �  (86) (587)

Pro forma net income
(loss) $ (173,773) $ (466,923) $ 1,748,478 $ (114,670)

Basic and diluted net
income (loss) per share:
As reported $ (6.91) $ (18.68) $ 63.86 $ (4.17)
Pro forma $ (6.95) $ (18.68) $ 63.85 $ (4.19)
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The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following range of assumptions:

Volatility 75.0%
Risk-free interest rate 4.1% to 4.7%
Expected life in years 10.0
Dividend yield 0.0%

Net Income (Loss) Per Share
          Basic net income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding for the period, while diluted net income (loss) per share is
computed assuming conversion of all dilutive securities. Shares which are contingently
issuable under the Plan have been included as outstanding common shares for purposes of
calculating net loss per share for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006 and the period
May 6, 2004 to March 31, 2005. Options to purchase 3,925,000 shares of common stock
and warrants to purchase 1,286,000 shares of common stock were outstanding during the
period April 1, 2004 to May 5, 2004. These common stock equivalents were not included in
the computation of diluted earnings per share for the period April 1, 2004 to May 5, 2004
because the exercise prices of the options and warrants were greater than the average market
price of the common shares and they would have had an anti-dilutive effect. These options
and warrants were cancelled upon emergence from bankruptcy. For fiscal year ended
March 31, 2004 and 2006 and the period
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from May 6, 2004 to March 31, 2005 the Company incurred net losses, therefore, dilutive
common stock equivalents were not used in the calculation of loss per share as they would
have an anti-dilutive effect.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements
          The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles (�GAAP�) requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
          In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), �Share-Based
Payment� (�SFAS 123R�). SFAS 123R requires that a public entity measure the cost of equity
based service awards based on the grant date fair value of the award (with limited
exceptions) and that cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is
required to provide service in exchange for the award or the requisite service period. SFAS
123R is effective as of the beginning of the first annual reporting period that begins after
June 15, 2005. The Company will adopt SFAS 123R effective April 1, 2006. The Company
expects the adoption of SFAS 123R will not have a material impact on its financial position
or results of operations.
          In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, �Inventory Costs, an Amendment
of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4� (�SFAS 151�). The standard requires that abnormal amounts of idle
capacity and spoilage costs within inventory should be excluded from the cost of inventory
and expensed when incurred. The provisions of SFAS 151 are applicable to inventory costs
incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The Company will adopt SFAS
151 effective April 1, 2006. The Company expects the adoption of SFAS 151 will not have
a material impact on its financial position or results of operations.
          In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position No. FAS 109-1, �Application of
FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax Deduction on Qualified
Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004� (�FAS 109-1�),
and Staff Position No. FAS 109-2, �Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign
Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004� (�FAS
109-2�). These staff positions provide accounting guidance on how companies should
account for the effects of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (�AJCA�) that was signed
into law on October 22, 2004. FAS 109-1 states that the tax relief (special tax deduction for
domestic manufacturing) from this legislation should be accounted for as a �special
deduction� instead of a tax rate reduction. FAS 109-2 gives a company additional time to
evaluate the effects of the legislation on any plan for reinvestment or repatriation of foreign
earnings for purposes of applying SFAS No. 109. FAS 109-1 and FAS 109-2 will not have a
material impact on the Company�s financial position or results of operations.
(3) WARRANTS
               In connection with the consummation of the Plan, the Company issued Warrants
entitling the holders to purchase up to 6,250 shares of new common stock at an exercise
price of $32.11 per share (the number of Warrants issuable being subject to adjustments
allowed for by the claims reconciliation and allowance process set forth in the Plan.) The
Company has accounted for the Warrants in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force
(�EITF�) Issue No. 00-19 �Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments Indexed to and
Potentially Settled in a Company�s Own Stock� (�EITF 00-19�) and SFAS No. 150 �Accounting
for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity� (�SFAS
150�). Because the Warrant Agreement provides for a cash settlement upon a change in
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control under certain specified conditions, the Warrants have been accounted for and
classified as a liability in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
               Upon the adoption of Fresh Start reporting, on the Effective Date, May 5, 2004,
the Warrants were ascribed a fair value of approximately $74,300, reflecting the underlying
enterprise value of the Company underlying the Plan. The fair value of the Warrants was
determined using a Black Scholes Model with an assumed volatility of 40%, a risk free rate
of 3%, fair value of common shares and exercise price of $32.11 and a dividend yield of
0%. As no active market existed when the Warrants were initially valued, the Company
believed a Black Scholes Model, which is widely accepted in valuing warrants and call
options, was the appropriate valuation model to use as no active market existed for the
warrants at the date of emergence. Subsequent to the Company�s emergence from
bankruptcy, the Warrants began to trade on the NASDAQ National Market under the ticker
�XIDEW.� Subsequent to the Warrants becoming actively traded, the Warrants were
measured using market prices as quoted market prices are the best indicator of fair value.
               The Warrants are exercisable through May 5, 2011. The exercise price, the number
of shares purchasable upon the exercise of each Warrant and the number of Warrants
outstanding are subject to adjustment from time to time upon
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occurrence of certain events described in the Warrant Agreement. In accordance with EITF
00-19 and SFAS 150, the Warrants have been marked-to-market based upon quoted market
prices. This mark-to-market resulted in recognition of unrealized gain of $9,125 and
$63,112 for fiscal 2006 and the period May 6, 2004 to March 31, 2005, which is reported in
Other (income) expense, net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Future results of
operations may be subject to volatility from changes in the market value of such Warrants.
(4) ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS
          Effective April 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 143, �Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations� (�SFAS 143�). The provisions of SFAS 143 address financial
accounting and reporting requirements for obligations associated with the retirement of
tangible long-lived assets. This statement requires companies to record an asset and related
liability for the cost associated with the retirements. The adoption of SFAS 143 resulted in a
charge, which is reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations as a cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle, of $15,593, or $0.57 per share for the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2004. The charge results primarily from certain commitments made in
accordance with permit requirements for its North American lead recycling and hazardous
waste facilities. The Company is obligated under these permits to undertake agreed-upon
remediation and decommissioning activities in the event of a facility closure. The recorded
asset retirement obligations are based upon estimated investigation, remediation and
decommissioning costs.
          In March 2005, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 47, �Accounting for Conditional
Asset Retirement Obligations, an interpretation of SFAS 143.� (�FIN 47�). This Interpretation
clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement obligation refers to a legal obligation to
perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are
conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the control of the entity. The
obligation to perform the asset retirement activity is unconditional even though uncertainty
exists about the timing and/or method of settlement. Accordingly, an entity is required to
recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement obligation if the fair
value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. This Interpretation also clarifies when an
entity would have sufficient information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset
retirement obligation. The Company�s adoption of FIN 47, which was effective March 31,
2006, did not have a material effect on its consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.
(5) ACCOUNTING FOR DERIVATIVES
          The Company accounts for derivative instruments and hedging activities in
accordance with SFAS 133 �Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities�,
as amended by SFAS 138, �Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain
Hedging Activities� and SFAS 149, �Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities�, (collectively, �SFAS 133�). SFAS 133 establishes accounting and
reporting standards for derivative instruments and hedging activities. SFAS 133 requires
that all derivatives be recognized as either assets or liabilities at fair value. The Company
does not enter into derivative contracts for trading purposes. Derivatives are used only to
hedge the volatility arising from movements in a portion of the cost of lead purchases as
well as hedging certain interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Changes in the
fair value of cash flow hedges for which the hedged item affects earnings immediately
(foreign currency transaction hedges and interest rate hedges), ineffective portions of
changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges and fair value changes on certain derivatives
that, despite being utilized to effectively manage the above mentioned activities, do not
qualify for hedge accounting, are recognized in earnings immediately. The change in fair
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value of cash flow hedges for which the hedged item affects earnings immediately, related
to hedge ineffectiveness and of derivatives not qualifying for hedge accounting, and for the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2006 resulted in a net gain of $7,390, of which a gain of $1,081
was recognized in other (income) expense and a gain of $6,309 was recognized in cost of
sales. For the period May 6, 2004 to March 31, 2005 the net loss was $7,128, of which a
loss of $13,165 was recognized in other (income) expense and a gain of $6,037 was
recognized in cost of sales. At March 31, 2006, a net liability of $2,812 was recorded for
outstanding derivative contracts.
(6) REORGANIZATION ITEMS
          Reorganization items represent amounts the Company incurred as a result of the
Chapter 11 process and are presented separately in the consolidated statements of
operations. The following have been incurred:
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For the
fiscal

For the
period

For the
period

For the
fiscal

year
ended

May 6,
2004 to

April 1, 2004
to year ended

March 31,
2006

March 31,
2005 May 5, 2004

March 31,
2004

Professional fees $ 4,051 $ 9,817 $ 18,515 $ 64,441
Employee costs � � � 2,169
Preference Payments � (788) � �
Interest income � � (81) (1,171)
Income from rejected
contract � (600) � �
Other 2,107 3,098 � 1,603

Total reorganization items,
net 6,158 11,527 18,434 67,042

Gain on settlement of
liabilities subject to
compromise and
recapitalization � � (1,558,839) �
Fresh Start accounting
adjustments � � (228,371) �

Loss (gain) on
reorganization items $ 6,158 $ 11,527 ($ 1,768,776) $ 67,042

          Net cash paid for reorganization items during fiscal 2006, the period May 6, 2004 to
March 31, 2005, the period April 1, 2004 to May 5, 2005 and fiscal 2004 was $11,626,
$41,320, $6,074, and $46,914, respectively.
          The following paragraphs provide additional information relating to the above
reorganization items:

Professional fees
          Professional fees include financial, legal and valuation services directly associated
with the reorganization process, including fees incurred related to asset sales, success fees
payable to the Company�s advisors related to emergence from Chapter 11 and fees for the
ongoing claims reconciliation process. Professional fees for the period April 1, 2004 to
May 5, 2004 include success fees of $12,466 payable to the Company�s advisors upon
emergence from Chapter 11.

Employee costs
          The Company implemented a Bankruptcy Court-approved retention plan that
provided cash incentives to key members of the Company�s management team. The retention
plan was a milestone-based plan established to encourage employees to continue their
employment through the reorganization process.

Preference Payments
          In the period May 6, 2004 to March 31, 2005, the Company received refunds related
to payments made to suppliers prior to the bankruptcy filing.

Income from rejected contract
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          In connection with the bankruptcy, the Company recorded $600 upon rejection of a
contract providing retirement benefits to a former employee.

Interest income
          Interest income represents interest income earned by the Debtors as a result of
assumed excess cash balances due to the Chapter 11 filing.

Other
          Other reorganization costs for fiscal year 2004 primarily represents the net write-off
of deposits and cash collateral associated with certain leases rejected under the Bankruptcy
Code. During fiscal 2006 and the period May 6, 2004 to March 31, 2005, the Company
recognized annual expenses of approximately $2,000 related to Predecessor Company
directors and officer�s liability insurance coverage.
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(7) ACCOUNTING FOR INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
Intangible Assets

          The Company completed its most recent annual impairment assessment of intangible
assets (as required under SFAS 142) effective March 31, 2006, utilizing its updated
five-year business plan as the basis for development of cash flows and an estimate of fair
values. As a result of the comparison of the book carrying values of its reporting units
against these estimated fair values, no adjustment of carrying values was deemed necessary.
Intangible assets consist of:

Trademarks
and

Trademarks
and

Tradenames
(not

Tradenames
(subject to Customer

subject to
amortization) amortization) relationships Technology Total

As of March 31,
2005
Gross Amount $ 56,331 $ 12,813 $ 105,968 $ 23,781 $ 198,893
Accumulated
Amortization � (928) (4,029) (1,082) (6,039)

Net $ 56,331 $ 11,885 $ 101,939 $ 22,699 $ 192,854

As of March 31,
2006
Gross Amount $ 56,331 $ 12,813 $ 106,594 $ 23,781 $ 199,519
Accumulated
Amortization � (1,939) (8,499) (2,261) (12,699)

Net $ 56,331 $ 10,874 $ 98,095 $ 21,520 $ 186,820

Aggregate annual amortization expense was $6,660, $6,039, and $1,120 for the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2006, the period May 6, 2004 to March 31, 2005, and the fiscal year ended
March 31, 2004, respectively, and is expected to amount to approximately $6,600 for each
of the next five fiscal years.

Goodwill
          The Company�s emergence from bankruptcy on May 6, 2004 resulted in a new
reporting entity (the �Successor Company�) and adoption of Fresh Start reporting and
reporting in accordance with SOP 90-7. Fresh Start reporting required the Company to
allocate the reorganization value to its assets based upon their estimated fair values in
accordance with SFAS No. 141.
          The fair values of the assets as determined by Fresh Start reporting were based on
estimates of future cash flows. The estimated enterprise value of the Company of
$1,500,000 which served as the basis for the Plan approved by the Bankruptcy Court, was
used to determine the reorganization value, which was estimated at $2,729,404. The portion
of reorganization value which could not be attributed to specific tangible or identified
intangible assets was $399,388. The determination of fair values of assets and liabilities is
subject to significant estimation and assumptions. The enterprise value that served as the
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basis for determining the reorganization value was calculated using the discounted cash
flow method. The cash flows, taken from the Company�s Plan of Reorganization, were
projected over five years, utilizing discount rates of 9% to 11%, respectively, for the
transportation and industrial businesses in order to reflect the inherent risks of each
business. The enterprise value was based on an assumed tax rate of 0% in the U.S. in years 1
through 3 (in consideration of the Company�s NOL tax position), and 38% in the remaining
years. For Europe and ROW, a tax rate of 25% was assumed for all periods reflected.
          The Company completed its annual impairment assessment of goodwill effective
December 31, 2004, utilizing its five-year business plan as the basis for development of
discounted cash flows and an estimate of fair values. The Company�s impairment assessment
also considered the market value of the Company�s securities as of December 31, 2004. As a
result of the comparison of the book carrying values of its reporting units, including
goodwill, against these estimated fair values, the Company determined that goodwill was
fully impaired and a write-down of the entire $399,388 balance of goodwill was recorded in
the third quarter of fiscal 2005. During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company
revised its estimate of deferred income tax liabilities recognized on the step-up of fixed
assets and intangible assets in Fresh Start reporting. This resulted in a reduction in deferred
tax liabilities of $10,864. A corresponding amount was recognized in the statement of
operations as a reduction of the goodwill impairment charge previously recognized,
resulting in a net goodwill impairment charge for the period from May 6, 2004 to March 31,
2005 of $388,524.
(8) INVENTORIES
     Inventories, valued using the first-in, first-out (�FIFO�) method, consist of:
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March 31,
2006

March 31,
2005

Raw materials $ 64,248 $ 62,552
Work-in-process 79,923 76,097
Finished goods 270,772 259,040

$ 414,943 $ 397,689

(9) OTHER ASSETS
     Other assets consist of:

Fiscal Fiscal
Year ended Year ended
March 31,
2006

March 31,
2005

Deposits $ 10,317 $ 10,211
Capitalized software, net 6,524 10,390
Loan to affiliate 3,563 4,930
Other 3,686 4,214

$ 24,090 $ 29,745

           Deposits above principally represent amounts drawn and held by the beneficiaries as
cash collateral for those parties� contingent obligations with respect to certain environmental
matters, workers compensation insurance and operating lease commitments.
(10) DEBT
          At March 31, 2006 and 2005, short-term borrowings of $11,375 and $1,595,
respectively, consisted of various operating lines of credit and working capital facilities
maintained by certain of the Company�s non-U.S. subsidiaries. Certain of these borrowings
are collateralized by receivables, inventories and/or property. These borrowing facilities,
which are typically for one-year renewable terms, generally bear interest at current local
market rates plus up to one percent per annum. The weighted average interest rate on
short-term borrowings was approximately 3.6% and 11.1% at March 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively
Total long-term debt at March 31, 2006 comprised the following:

March 31,
2006

Senior Secured Credit Facility $ 316,277
10.5% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 290,000
Floating Rate Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 60,000
Other, including capital lease obligations and other loans at interest
rates generally ranging up to 11.0% due in installments through
2015(1) 23,352

Total 689,629
Less�current maturities 5,643
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$ 683,986

Total debt at March 31, 2006 was $701,004.
Total long-term debt at March 31, 2005 comprised the following:

March 31,
2005

Senior Secured Credit Facility $ 266,470
10.5% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 290,000
Floating Rate Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due 2013 60,000
Other, including capital lease obligations and other loans at interest
rates generally ranging up to 11.0% due in installments through
2015(1) 35,693

Total 652,163
Less�current maturities(2) 632,116

$ 20,047

Total debt at March 31, 2005 was $653,758.
F-18

Edgar Filing: ILLINOIS TOOL WORKS INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents 105



Table of Contents

(1) Includes various
operating lines
of credit and
working capital
facilities
maintained by
certain of the
Company�s
non-U.S.
subsidiaries.

(2) The Company
had reclassified
its borrowings
under the Credit
Agreement, the
10.5% Senior
Secured Notes
and the Floating
Rate
Convertible
Senior
Subordinated
Notes as current
as a result of the
default under
the Credit
Agreement. The
default was
cured in the first
quarter of fiscal
2006.

          On May 5, 2004, the Company entered into a $600,000 Senior Secured Credit
Agreement (the �Credit Agreement�) which included a $500,000 Multi-Currency Term Loan
Facility and a $100,000 Multi-Currency Revolving Loan Facility including a letter of credit
sub-facility of up to $40,000. The Credit Agreement is the Company�s most important source
of liquidity outside of its cash from operations. The Revolving Loan Facility matures on
May 5, 2009, while the Term Loan Facility matures on May 5, 2010. The Term Loan
Facility and the Revolving Loan Facility bear interest at LIBOR plus 6.25% per annum.
Credit Agreement borrowings are guaranteed by substantially all of the subsidiaries of the
Company and are collateralized by substantially all of the assets of the Company and the
subsidiary guarantors. Availability under the Revolving Loan Facility was $29,669 as of
March 31, 2006. At March 31, 2006 and 2005, weighted average interest on the Credit
Agreement was 10.58% and 7.06%, respectively.
          The Credit Agreement requires the Company to comply with financial covenants,
including a minimum consolidated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation,
amortization and restructuring (�Adjusted EBITDA�) covenant and a leverage ratio of
consolidated debt to adjusted EBITDA for the relevant periods. The Credit Agreement also
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contains other customary covenants, including reporting covenants and covenants that
restrict the Company�s ability to incur indebtedness, create or incur liens, sell or dispose of
assets, make investments, pay dividends, change the nature of the Company�s business or
enter into related party transactions.
          On February 1, 2006, the Company obtained amendments to the Credit Agreement
which, provided $46,250 of additional borrowings, eliminated scheduled amortization of
principal payments during the term of the facility, eliminated most financial covenants,
relaxed the covenant related to Adjusted EBITDA modified covenants for the maximum
capital expenditures and leverage ratios for permitted acquisitions, expanded the amount of
non-core asset sale proceeds to be retained by the Company and enhanced existing call
protection for the lenders as well as extended such call protection to include outstanding
amounts of the Company�s revolving loan facility.
          On March 15, 2006, the Company obtained further amendments to the Credit
Agreement, which relaxed the covenant related to Adjusted EBITDA, eliminated the �going
concern� covenant for fiscal year 2006, increased call protection for the lenders in the event
the Company refinances the senior credit facility, increased the applicable margin for the
outstanding loans and an agreement to pay certain fees for a financial advisor for the
lenders.
          In March 2005, the Company issued $290,000 in aggregate principal amount of
10.5% Senior Secured Notes due 2013. Interest of $15,225 is payable semi-annually on
March 15 and September 15. The 10.5% Senior Secured Notes are redeemable at the option
of the Company, in whole or in part, on or after March 15, 2009, initially at 105.25% of the
principal amount, plus accrued interest, declining to 100% of the principal amount, plus
accrued interest on or after March 15, 2011. The 10.5% Senior Secured Notes are
redeemable at the option of the Company, in whole or in part, subject to payment of a make
whole premium, at any time prior to March 15, 2009. In addition, until May 15, 2008, up to
35% of the 10.5% Senior Secured Notes are redeemable at the option of the Company, using
the net proceeds of one or more qualified equity offerings. In the event of a change of
control or the sale of certain assets, the Company may be required to offer to purchase the
10.5% Senior Secured Notes from the note holders. Those notes are secured by a junior
priority lien on the assets of the U.S. parent company, including the stock of its subsidiaries.
The indenture for these notes contains financial covenants which limit the ability of the
Company and its subsidiaries to among other things incur debt, grant liens, pay dividends,
invest in non-subsidiaries, engage in related party transactions and sell assets.
          Also, in March 2005, the Company issued Floating Rate Convertible Senior
Subordinated Notes due September 18, 2013, with an aggregate principal amount of
$60,000. These notes bear interest at a per annum rate equal to the 3-month LIBOR,
adjusted quarterly, minus a spread of 1.5%. The weighted average interest on these notes
was 3.41% and 1.53% at March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Interest is payable
quarterly. The notes are convertible into the Company�s common stock at a conversion rate
of 57.5705 shares per one thousand dollars principal amount at maturity, subject to
adjustments for any common stock splits, dividends on the common stock, tender and
exchange offers by the Company for the common stock and third party tender offers, and in
the case of a change in control in which 10% or more of the consideration for the common
stock is cash or non-traded securities, the conversion rate increases, depending on the value
offered and timing of the transaction, to as much as 70.2247 shares per one thousand dollars
principal amount.
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          At March 31, 2006, the Company was in compliance with covenants contained in the
Credit Agreement and Indenture agreements that cover the Senior Secured Notes and
Floating Rate Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes.
          The Company�s variable rate debt at March 31, 2006 and 2005 was $387,652 and
$328,064, respectively, none of which was hedged.
          Annual principal payments required under long-term debt obligations at March 31,
2006 are as follows:

Fiscal Year Amount
2007 $ �
2008 �
2009 �
2010 26,545
2011 289,732
2012 and beyond 350,000

$ 666,277

(11) EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS AND POSTRETIREMENT HEALTH CARE
AND LIFE INSURANCE BENEFITS

          The Company has a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan covering
substantially all hourly and salaried employees in the U.S. Most plan formulas covering
hourly employees provide pension benefits of stated amounts for each year of credited
service, while a few provide benefits based on final average pay. Salaried employees in the
U.S. are covered by a cash balance formula providing pay credits as a percentage of salary
up to qualified limits and interest credits on the account balances.
          On March 31, 2006, Exide announced that it would be freezing the benefit accruals
for all non-union employees in their U.S. plan effective May 15, 2006. Due to the timing of
this announcement and the accounting rules, the partial plan freeze did not have an impact
on the net periodic pension cost, the footnote liabilities or the balance sheet net amount
recognized for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2006. The freeze is reflected in the
Company�s projections of future contributions and will be recognized in the following year�s
expense.
          Europe and ROW subsidiaries of the Company sponsor several defined benefit plans
that cover substantially all employees who are not covered by statutory plans. For defined
benefit plans, charges to expense are based upon costs computed by independent actuaries.
In most cases, the defined benefit plans are not funded.
          The Company also has some defined contribution plans in North America, Europe
and ROW with related expense of $7,030, $5,267, $482, and $5,325 for fiscal 2006, the
period May 6, 2004 to March 31, 2005, the period April 1, 2004 to May 5, 2005, and fiscal
2004, respectively.
          The Company provides certain health care and life insurance benefits for a limited
number of retirees. The Company accrues the estimated cost of providing post-retirement
benefits during the employees� applicable years of service.
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          The following tables set forth the plans� funded status and the amounts recognized in
the Company�s Consolidated Financial Statements at March 31, 2006 and 2005:
Pension Benefits:

Fiscal Period From Period From
Year Ended May 6, 2004 to April 1, 2004 to

March 31, 2006 March 31, 2005 May 5, 2004
Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of
period $ 650,318 $ 605,638 $ 614,129
Service cost 10,638 9,596 856
Interest cost 32,552 31,586 2,798
Actuarial loss (gain) 2,408 24,913 63
Plan participants� contributions 1,218 1,210 106
Benefits paid (30,003) (28,177) (2,477)
Plan amendments 259 �  �  
Currency translation (22,699) 22,934 (9,808)
Settlements and other (6,461) (17,382) (29)

Benefit obligation at end of period 638,230 650,318 605,638

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning
of period 295,298 284,804 283,967
Actual return on plan assets 36,136 24,258 4,394
Employer contributions 41,082 21,442 3,245
Plan participants� contributions 1,218 1,210 106
Benefits paid (30,003) (28,177) (2,477)
Currency translation (10,129) 8,255 (4,431)
Settlements and other (7,122) (16,494) �  

Fair value of plan assets at end of
period 326,480 295,298 284,804

Reconciliation of funded status:
Funded status (311,750) (355,020) (320,834)
Prior service cost 258 �  �  
Actuarial loss (gain) 11,654 24,290 �  
Contributions after measurement date 7,908 1,264 �  

Net amount recognized (291,930) (329,466) (320,834)
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Amounts recognized in Statement of
Financial Position:
Prepaid benefit cost 332 86 �  
Accrued benefit cost (324,770) (355,461) (320,834)
Intangible asset 258 �  �  
Accumulated other comprehensive
(income) loss 32,250 25,909 �  

Net amount recognized $ (291,930) $ (329,466) $ (320,834)
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Other Post-Retirement Benefits:

Fiscal Period From Period From
Year Ended May 6, 2004 to April 1, 2004 to
March 31,
2006 March 31, 2005 May 5, 2004

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of
period $ 24,684 $ 26,962 $ 29,099
Service cost 101 82 6
Interest cost 1,573 1,222 147
Actuarial loss (gain) 6,509 (1,475) (1,922)
Plan participants� contributions 195 199 19
Benefits paid (3,023) (2,865) (235)
Currency translation 109 559 (152)

Benefit obligation at end of period 30,148 24,684 26,962

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning
of period �  �  �  
Employer contributions 2,828 2,666 216
Plan participants� contributions 195 199 19
Benefits paid (3,023) (2,865) (235)

Fair value of plan assets at end of
period �  �  �  

Reconciliation of funded status:
Funded status (30,148) (24,684) (26,962)
Actuarial loss (gain) 5,532 (783) �  
Contributions after measurement date 505 577 �  

Net amount recognized (24,111) (24,890) (26,962)

Amounts recognized in statement of
financial position:
Accrued benefit cost (24,111) (24,890) (26,962)

Net amount recognized $ (24,111) $ (24,890) $ (26,962)

Disclosure Assumptions:
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Pension Other Post-Retirement
Benefits Benefits

March 31,
2006

March 31,
2005

March 31,
2006

March 31,
2005

Weighted-average assumptions as of
Discount rate 5.2% 5.3% 5.4% 5.4%
Rate of compensation increase 3.7% 3.1% n/a n/a

Expense Assumptions:

Pension Other Post-Retirement
Benefits Benefits

FY
2007

Expense
FY 2006
Expense

FY
2007

Expense
FY 2006
Expense

Weighted-average assumptions for
Discount rate 5.2% 5.3% 5.4% 5.4%
Expected return on plan assets 6.9% 7.3% n/a n/a
Rate of compensation increase 3.7% 3.6% n/a n/a
     For fiscal year 2006 expense, the Company assumed an expected weighted average
return on plan assets of 7.3%. In developing this rate assumption, the Company evaluated
input from third party pension plan asset managers, including their review of asset class
return expectations and long-term inflation assumptions.
          For other post-retirement benefit measurement purposes, a 9.7% annual rate of
increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for 2006 and
2005. The rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 5.0% over seven and eight years for
2006 and 2005, respectively, and remain at that level thereafter.
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          The following tables set forth the plans� expense recognized in the Company�s
Consolidated Financial Statements:

Pension Benefits
Period
From

Period
From

Fiscal
Year
Ended

May 6, 2004
to April 1, 2004 to

Fiscal Year
Ended

March
31, 2006

March 31,
2005

May 05,
2004

March 31,
2004

Components of net periodic
benefit cost:
Service cost $ 10,638 $ 9,596 $ 856 $ 10,131
Interest cost 32,552 31,586 2,798 32,336
Expected return on plan
assets (21,179) (19,406) (1,640) (17,932)
Amortization of: Transition
obligation �  �  �  11
Prior service cost �  �  4 35
Actuarial loss �  �  836 10,069

Net periodic benefit cost (a) $ 22,011 $ 21,776 $ 2,854 $ 34,650

(a) Excludes the
impact of
settlement net
losses (gains) of
$622, $156 and
($1,437) in
fiscal 2006, in
the period from
May 6, 2004 to
March 31, 2005
and fiscal 2004,
respectively,
and curtailment
net losses
(gains) of
($829), ($646),
and ($2,744) in
fiscal 2006, in
the period from
May 6, 2004 to
March 31, 2005
and fiscal 2004,
respectively.
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Other Post-Retirement Benefits
Period
From

Period
From

Fiscal
Year
Ended

May 6,
2004 to April 1, 2004 to

Fiscal Year
Ended

March
31,
2006

March 31,
2005

May 05,
2004

March 31,
2004

Components of net periodic
benefit cost:
Service cost $ 101 $ 82 $ 6 $ 69
Interest cost 1,573 1,222 147 1,773
Amortization of: Transition
obligation �  �  3 23
Prior service cost �  �  (52) (629)
Actuarial loss 208 �  20 229

Net periodic benefit cost $ 1,882 $ 1,304 $ 124 $ 1,465

          The measurement dates for the Company�s U.S. Pension and Other Post-Retirement
benefit plans were December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 for the fiscal years ending
March 31, 2006 and March 31, 2005, respectively. The measurement dates equaled the
fiscal year ends for the non-U.S. plans.
          The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of
plan assets for the pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan
assets were $488,604, $479,970 and $189,782, respectively, as of March 31, 2006 and
$641,855, $604,880, and $286,434 respectively, as of March 31, 2005.
          The accumulated benefit obligation for the Company�s pension plans was $603,331 as
of March 31, 2006. Expected future benefit payments are as follows:

Other Post- Other Post-
Retirement Retirement

Pension
Gross

Expected
Expected
Medicare

Fiscal Year Benefits
Benefit
Payment

Subsidy
Payments

2007 $ 30,155 $ 3,012 $ 170
2008 30,370 2,964 190
2009 31,949 2,731 200
2010 32,604 2,604 210
2011 33,175 2,597 210
2012 to 2016 188,054 12,611 1,090
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          The asset allocation for the Company�s pension plans at March 31, 2006, and the long
term target allocation, by asset category, are as follows:

Target

Allocation
Percentage of Plan Assets at

Year End
Asset Category 2007 2006 2005
Equity securities 68% 71% 69%
Fixed income securities 30% 26% 28%
Real estate and other � 1% 2%
Cash 2% 2% 1%

Total 100% 100% 100%

          The Company invests in a diversified portfolio of investments consisting almost
entirely of equity and fixed income securities. The equity portfolio includes direct and
indirect interests in both U.S. and global equity securities, both in developed and emerging
market companies. The fixed income portfolio is primarily U.S. and global high-quality
bond funds.
          The estimated fiscal 2007 pension plan contributions are $62,754 and other
post-retirement contributions are $2,842. If the provisions of the Pension Funding Equity
Act of 2004 are not extended to the 2006 plan year, the estimated fiscal 2007 pension plan
contributions would be $72,254.
          Cash contributions to the Company�s pension plans are generally made in accordance
with minimum regulatory requirements. Because of the downturn experienced in global
equity markets and ongoing benefit payments, the Company�s U.S. plans are currently
significantly under-funded. Based on current assumptions and regulatory requirements, the
Company�s minimum future cash contribution requirements for its U.S. plans are expected to
remain relatively high for the next few fiscal years. On November 17, 2004, the Company
received written notification of a tentative determination from the Internal Revenue Service
(�IRS�) granting a temporary waiver of its minimum funding requirements for its U.S. plans
for calendar years 2003 and 2004, amounting to approximately $50,000, net, under Section
412(d) of the Internal Revenue Code, subject to providing a lien satisfactory to the Pension
Benefit Guaranty Corporation (�PBGC�). In accordance with the senior credit facility and
upon the agreement of the administrative agent, on June 10, 2005, the Company reached
agreement with the PBGC on a second priority lien on domestic personal property,
including stock of its U.S. and direct foreign subsidiaries to secure the unfunded liability.
The temporary waiver provides for deferral of the Company�s minimum contributions for
those years to be paid over a subsequent five-year period through 2010.
          Based upon the temporary waiver and sensitivity to varying economic scenarios, the
Company expects its cumulative minimum future cash contributions to its U.S. pension
plans will total approximately $115,000 to $165,000 from fiscal 2007 to fiscal 2011,
including $46,700 in fiscal 2007. These projections also assume that the provisions of the
Pension Funding Equity Act of 2004 are extended for the 2006 plan year and funding
reform legislation similar to the bills currently before Congress is passed and takes effect for
the 2007 plan year.
          The Company expects that cumulative contributions to its non U.S. pension plans will
total approximately $84,000 from fiscal 2007 to fiscal 2011, including $16,054 in fiscal
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2007. In addition, the Company expects that cumulative contributions to its other
post-retirement benefit plans will total approximately $13,000 from fiscal 2007 to fiscal
2011, including $2,842 in fiscal 2007.
          Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported
for other post-retirement benefits. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care
cost trend rates would have the following effects:

One Percentage- One Percentage-
Point

Increase
Point

Decrease
Effect on total of service and interest cost
components $ 179 ($ 149)
Effect on the postretirement benefit obligation $ 2,830 ($ 2,435)
          Several plans had under-funded accrued benefit obligations that exceeded their
accrued benefit liabilities at March 31, 2006 and 2005. Additional minimum liabilities of
$32,508 and $25,909 were established at March 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, to increase
the accrued benefit liabilities to the values of the under-funded accrued benefit obligations.
The
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additional minimum liability at March 31, 2006 was partially offset by an intangible asset of
$258. The intangible relates to unrecognized prior service cost in France.
(12) STOCK BASED COMPENSATION PLANS
          On August 30, 2005, the stockholders approved the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the
�2004 Plan�) to provide incentives and awards to employees and directors of the Company as
well as certain consultants. Under the 2004 Plan, all employees are eligible to receive
awards. The 2004 Plan permits the granting of stock options, restricted shares and
performance awards. The maximum number of shares that the Company may issue is 3,125
for all awards, but not more than 850 shares as restricted shares.
          During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006 and the period from May 6, 2004 to
March 31, 2005, 525 and 105 shares of restricted stock, respectively, were approved to be
granted to certain eligible employees. The restricted stock awards were approved by the
Compensation Committee of the Company�s Board of Directors.
          Under the terms of the 2004 Plan, stock options are generally subject to a three-year
vesting schedule and shares of restricted stock are generally subject to a five-year vesting
schedule. The vesting schedules are subject to certain change in control provisions,
including full vesting if an employee is terminated within 12 months of a change in control.
The per share exercise price for the stock options was calculated based on a 10-day trailing
average closing price of the Company�s common stock as listed on the NASDAQ National
Market immediately prior to the award date.
          Also, pursuant to the 2004 Plan and as part of their annual compensation, each
non-employee member of the Company�s Board of Directors received stock options and
restricted stock, each valued at $20. These awards are 100% vested as of the grant date. The
per share exercise price for the stock options and the restricted stock price were calculated
based on a 10-day trailing average closing price of the Company�s common stock as listed on
the NASDAQ National Market immediately prior to the grant date. Stock option activity for
the fiscal years ended March 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 is summarized as follows:

The 2004 Plan
Predecessor Company

Plan
Weighted
Average

Weighted
Average

Stock
Options

Exercise
Price

Stock
Options

Exercise
Price

Shares under option:
Outstanding at March 31,
2003 � � 4,250 $ 10.67

Forfeited � � (325) $ 11.09

Outstanding at March 31,
2004 � � 3,925 $ 10.63

Granted 521 $ 15.73 � �
Forfeited (35) $ 15.82 � �
Cancelled � � (3,925) $ 10.63
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Outstanding at March 31,
2005 486 $ 15.72 � �

Granted 1,059 $ 6.63 � �
Forfeited (225) $ 13.39 � �

Outstanding at March 31,
2006: � �
Total: 1,320 $ 8.83
By Exercise Price Range:
$3.89 - $5.00 753 $ 4.49
$12.87 - $15.82 567 $ 14.58

Exercisable at March 31,
2004 � � 3,292 $ 10.47
Exercisable at March 31,
2005 � � � �
Exercisable at March 31,
2006 114 $ 15.67 � �
All stock options outstanding at March 31, 2006 have a remaining contractual life of
approximately 9 to 12 years.
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(13) INCOME TAXES
          The provision for income taxes includes federal, state and foreign taxes currently
payable and those deferred because of net operating losses and temporary differences
between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities. The components of
the provision for income taxes for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, the period May 6,
2004 to March 31, 2005, the period April 1, 2004 to May 5, 2004, and fiscal year ended
March 31, 2004 are as follows:

Period

From
Period
From

Year
Ended

May 6,
2004 to

April 1,
2004 to

Year Ended
March

March 31,
2006

March 31,
2005

May 5,
2004 31, 2004

Current:
Federal 637 $ � $ � $ �
State � � � �
Foreign 15,361 7,668 697 10,614

15,998 7,668 697 10,614

Deferred:
Federal � � � �
State � � � �
Foreign (36) 6,551 (3,179) (7,343)

(36) 6,551 (3,179) (7,343)

Total provision (benefit) 15,962 $ 14,219 $ (2,482) $ 3,271

          Major differences between the federal statutory rate and the effective tax rate are as
follows:

Period

From
Period
From

Year
Ended

May 6,
2004 to

April 1,
2004 to

Year
Ended
March

March
31, 2006

March
31, 2005

May 5,
2004 31, 2004

Federal statutory rate (35.0)% (35.0)% (35.0)% (35.0)%
Loss on Liquidation 2.8 � � �
I/C Debt Forgiveness (20.0) � � �
Thin Cap Disallowance 2.5 � 2.1 �
Nondeductible goodwill
impairment/amortization � 30.1 � �
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Fresh start accounting
adjustments � � 4.6 �
Discharge of liabilities subject
to compromise � � 31.2 �
Tax losses not benefited � (9.9) 0.2 41.7
Increase (decrease) in valuation
allowances 61.4 9.2 � (10.1)
Revaluation of Warrants (2.0) (4.9) � �
Rate differences on foreign
subsidiaries (3.7) 7.1 (0.2) 3.3
Intercompany stock sales � 3.2 � (2.8)
Other, net 4.2 3.3 (2.8) 6.4

Effective tax rate 10.2% 3.1% 0.1% 3.5%

The following is a summary of the significant components of the Company�s deferred tax
assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2006 and 2005:

March 31,
2006

March 31,
2005

Deferred tax assets:
Operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards $ 298,312 $ 496,022
Compensation reserves 80,659 78,134
Environmental reserves 12,797 24,058
Warranty 11,434 12,311
Asset and other realization reserves � 4,795
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March 31,
2006

March 31,
2005

Purchase commitments 7,160 10,817
Other 32,412 65,617
Valuation allowance (300,718) (597,500)

142,056 94,254

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment (46,849) (31,169)
Intangible assets (61,373) (27,062)

(108,222) (58,231)

Net deferred tax assets $ 33,834 $ 36,023

          The net deferred income tax asset is classified in the consolidated balance sheet as
follows:

March 31, March 31,
2006 2005

Current asset $ 11,066 $ 4,305
Noncurrent asset 56,358 55,896
Noncurrent liability (33,590) (24,178)

$ 33,834 $ 36,023

As of March 31, 2006 the Company has net operating loss carry-forwards (�NOLs�) for U.S.
and state income tax purposes of approximately $465,000. This amount reflects a reduction
of $398,000 required by Sec 108 of the Internal Revenue Code (�IRC�) when the Company
emerged from bankruptcy under Chapter 11 of the U.S. bankruptcy laws. These loss
carry-forwards will expire in years 2022 through 2026. The Company has determined that a
Sec. 382 ownership change occurred during the fiscal year ending March 31, 2006. IRC
Sec. 382 places annual limits on the amount of the Company�s U.S. NOLs that may be used
to offset future taxable income. The Company estimates the annual Sec. 382 limitation to be
approximately $6,000. The U.S. NOLs available to the Company, given the limitation
provisions of IRC Sec 382, are estimated to be $182,000 . Due to the complexity of Sec.
382, the Company is performing an ongoing analysis of IRC Sec. 382, which may result in
revisions to the NOLs available and the related full valuation allowance currently provided
on the NOLs. (see discussion below).
          At March 31, 2006, certain of the Company�s foreign subsidiaries have net operating
loss carry-forwards for income tax purposes of approximately $742,747, of which
approximately $102,336 expire in years 2006 through 2019. The remaining losses are
available for carry-forward indefinitely.
          A full valuation allowance has been provided on Exide Technologies (the US parent
company) and all of its U.S. subsidiaries. Additionally, valuation allowances have been
recognized in certain foreign tax jurisdictions, to reduce the deferred tax assets for net
operating loss carry-forwards and temporary differences for which it is more likely than not
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that the related tax benefits will not be realized. In other jurisdictions, the Company�s net
deferred tax assets include net operating loss carry-forwards and temporary differences
which management believes are realizable through a combination of forecasted future
taxable income and anticipated tax planning strategies. The Company has implemented
certain tax planning strategies in prior years to utilize a portion of such deferred tax assets.
Failure to achieve forecasted future taxable income might affect the ultimate realization of
any remaining deferred tax assets.
          As of March 31, 2006, the Company had not provided for withholding or U.S. Federal
income taxes on current year undistributed earnings of certain other foreign subsidiaries
since such earnings are expected to be reinvested indefinitely or be substantially offset by
available foreign tax credits and operating loss carry forwards. As of March 31, 2006, the
Company had approximately $205,000 of undistributed earnings in its foreign subsidiaries.
(14) ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
               As a result of its multinational manufacturing, distribution and recycling
operations, the Company is subject to numerous federal, state and local environmental,
occupational safety and health laws and regulations, as well as similar laws and regulations
in other countries in which the Company operates. For a discussion of environmental
matters, see Note 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(15) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Claims Reconciliation

          Holders of general unsecured claims will receive collectively 2,500 shares of new
common stock and Warrants to purchase 6,250 shares of new common stock at $32.11 per
share, and approximately 13.4% of such new common stock and Warrants were initially
reserved for distribution for disputed claims under the Plan�s claims reconciliation and
allowance procedures. The Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors, in consultation with
the Company, established such reserve to provide for a pro rata distribution of new common
stock and Warrants to holders of disputed claims as they become allowed. As claims are
evaluated and processed, the Company will object to some claims or portions thereof, and
upward adjustments (to the extent stock and Warrants not previously distributed remain) or
downward adjustments to the reserve will be made pending or following adjudication of
such objections. Predictions regarding the allowance and classification of claims are
inherently difficult to make. With respect to environmental claims in particular, there is
inherent difficulty in assessing the Company�s potential liability due to the large number of
other potentially responsible parties. For example, a demand for the total cleanup costs of a
landfill used by many entities may be asserted by the government using joint and several
liability theories. Although the Company believes that there is a reasonable basis to believe
that it will ultimately be responsible for only its share of these remediation costs, there can
be no assurance that the Company will prevail on these claims. In addition, the scope of
remedial costs, or other environmental injuries, are highly variable and estimating these
costs involves complex legal, scientific and technical judgments. Many of the claimants
who have filed disputed claims, particularly environmental and personal injury claims
produce little or no proof of fault on which the Company can assess its potential liability
and either specify no determinate amount of damages or provide little or no basis for the
alleged damages. In some cases, the Company is still seeking additional information needed
for claims assessment and information that is unknown to the Company at the current time
may significantly affect the Company�s assessment regarding the adequacy of the reserve
amounts in the future.
          As general unsecured claims have been allowed in the bankruptcy court, the Company
has distributed approximately one share per $383.00 in allowed claim amount and
approximately one Warrant per $153.00 in allowed claim amount. These rates were
established based upon the assumption that the common stock and Warrants allocated to
holders of general unsecured claims on the effective date of the Plan, including the reserve
established for disputed claims, would be fully distributed so that the recovery rates for all
allowed unsecured claims would comply with the Plan without the need for any
redistribution or supplemental issuance of securities. If the amount of general unsecured
claims that is eventually allowed exceeds the amount of claims anticipated in the setting of
the reserve, additional common stock and Warrants will be issued for the excess claim
amounts at the same rates as used for the other general unsecured claims. If this were to
occur, additional common stock would also be issued to the holders of pre-petition secured
claims to maintain the ratio of their distribution in common stock at nine times the amount
of common stock distributed for all unsecured claims.
          On April 20, 2006, the Company made its eighth distribution of new common stock
and Warrants.

Historical Federal Plea Agreement
          In 2001, the Company reached a plea agreement with the U.S. Attorney for the
Southern District of Illinois resolving an investigation into a scheme by former officers and
certain corporate entities involving fraudulent representations and promises in connection
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with the distribution, sale and marketing of automotive batteries between 1994 and 1997.
The Company agreed to pay a fine of $27,500 over five years, to five-years probation and to
cooperate with the U.S. Attorney in its prosecution of the former officers. The Company
was sentenced pursuant to the terms of the plea agreement in February 2002. Generally,
failure to comply with the provisions of the plea agreement, including the obligation to pay
the fine, would permit the U.S. Government to reopen the case against the Company.
          On April 15, 2002, the Company filed for protection under Chapter 11 of the
Bankruptcy Code. Later in 2002, the United States Attorney�s Office for the Southern
District of Illinois filed a claim as a general unsecured creditor of the Company�s subsidiary,
Exide Illinois, Inc. for $27,900. The Company did not pay any installments of the criminal
fine before or during its bankruptcy proceedings, nor did it pay any installments of the
criminal fine after the Company emerged from bankruptcy in May 2004. As previously
reported, if the U.S. Government were to assert that the obligation to pay the fine was not
discharged under the Plan of Reorganization, the Company could be required to pay it.
          In December 2004, the U.S. Attorney�s Office requested additional information
regarding whether the Company adequately disclosed its financial condition at the time the
plea agreement and the associated fine were approved by the U.S. District Court. The
Company supplied correspondence and other materials responsive to this request.
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          On November 18, 2005 the U.S. Attorney�s Office filed a motion in the District Court
for a hearing to make inquiry of the Company�s failure to comply with the Court�s judgment
and terms of probation, principally through failure to pay the fine, and a motion to show
cause why the Company should not be held in contempt. In its motion, the U.S. Attorney�s
Office asserts that Exide Illinois is in default from its nonpayment of the criminal fine and is
in violation of the terms of probation. The U.S. Attorney also asserted that bankruptcy does
not discharge criminal fines, and that the Company did not adequately disclose its financial
condition at the time the plea agreement and associated fines were approved by the District
Court.
          On May 31, 2006, the District Court approved a Joint Agreement and Proposed Joint
Resolution of Issues Raised in the Government�s Motion Filed on November 18, 2005
Regarding the Payment of Criminal Fine. The District Court entered an order consistent
with the Joint Agreement and Proposed Joint Resolution, and modified the Company�s
schedule to pay the $27,500 fine through quarterly payments over the next five years,
ending in 2011.
          Under the order, Exide Technologies must provide security in a form acceptable to
the court and to the government by February 26, 2007 for its guarantee of any remaining
unpaid portion of the fine, but may petition the court prior thereto if the Company believes
its financial viability would be jeopardized by providing such security. The court�s order
reflects that the Company is not obligated to pay interest on outstanding amounts of unpaid
fine if the Company is current on all installment payments, and allows for penalties and
interest to be imposed if the Company does not comply with the modified fine payment
schedule.

Pre-Petition Litigation Settlements
          The Company previously disclosed in its most recent Report on Form 10-K for fiscal
2005 tentative settlements with various plaintiffs who alleged personal injury and/or
property damage from the release of hazardous materials used in the battery manufacturing
process prior to the Company�s filing for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection. The Company
has finalized a settlement of these claims, as well as claims they could have asserted against
third parties who may have had claims of indemnification against the Company on a
pre-petition or post-petition basis. The claims will be paid in new common stock and
Warrants to be paid out of the reserve established under the claims reconciliation process.
The terms of the settlement are still subject to approval of appropriate state courts.

Private Party Lawsuits and other Legal Proceedings
          On March 14, 2003, the Company served notices to reject certain executory contracts
with EnerSys, including a 1991 Trademark and Trade Name License Agreement (the
�Trademark License�), pursuant to which the Company had licensed to EnerSys use of the
�Exide� trademark on certain industrial battery products in the United States and 80 foreign
countries. EnerSys objected to the rejection of certain of the executory contracts, including
the Trademark License, and the Bankruptcy Court conducted a hearing on the Company�s
rejection request. On April 3, 2006, the Court granted the Company�s request to reject the
contracts. EnerSys has filed a notice of appeal. Unless the appeal is successful, EnerSys will
likely lose all rights to use the �Exide� trademark over time and the Company will have
greater flexibility in its ability to use that mark for industrial battery products. Because the
Bankruptcy Court authorized rejection of the Trademark License, as with other executory
contracts at issue, EnerSys will have a pre-petition general unsecured claim relating to the
alleged damages arising therefrom. The Company reserves the ability to consider payment
in cash of some portion of any settlement or ultimate award on Enersys� claim of alleged
rejection damages.
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          In July 2001, Pacific Dunlop Holdings (US), Inc. (�PDH�) and several of its foreign
affiliates under the various agreements through which Exide and its affiliates acquired GNB,
filed a complaint in the Circuit Court for Cook County, Illinois alleging breach of contract,
unjust enrichment and conversion against Exide and three of its foreign affiliates. The
plaintiffs maintain they are entitled to approximately $17,000 in cash assets acquired by the
defendants through their acquisition of GNB. In December 2001, the Court denied the
defendants� motion to dismiss the complaint, without prejudice to re-filing the same motion
after discovery proceeds. The defendants filed an answer and counterclaim. On July 8, 2002,
the Court authorized discovery to proceed as to all parties except Exide. In August 2002, the
case was removed to the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Illinois and in
October 2002, the parties presented oral arguments, in the case of PDH, to remand the case
to Illinois state court and, in the case of Exide, to transfer the case to the U.S. Bankruptcy
Court for the District of Delaware. On February 4, 2003, the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the
Northern District of Illinois transferred the case to the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in Delaware.
On November 19, 2003, the Bankruptcy Court denied PDH�s motion to abstain or remand
the case and issued an opinion holding that the Bankruptcy Court had jurisdiction over
PDH�s claims and that liability, if any, would lie solely against Exide Technologies and not
against any of its foreign affiliates. PDH subsequently filed a motion to reconsider, and on
June 16, 2005, the Bankruptcy Court denied PDH�s motion to reconsider. PDH has appealed
the Bankruptcy court�s decisions to the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware. That
court, pursuant to a Standing Order requiring mandatory mediation of all appeals from the
Bankruptcy Court, scheduled a mediation in Wilmington, Delaware which took place on
November 3, 2005. The appeal will proceed and remains pending. In December 2001, PDH
filed a separate action in the Circuit Court for Cook County, Illinois seeking recovery of
approximately
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$3,100 for amounts allegedly owed by Exide under various agreements between the parties.
The claim arises from letters of credit and other security allegedly provided by PDH for
GNB�s performance of certain of GNB�s obligations to third parties that PDH claims Exide
was obligated to replace. Exide�s answer contested the amounts claimed by PDH and Exide
filed a counterclaim. Although this action has been consolidated with the Cook County suit
concerning GNB�s cash assets, the claims relating to this action have been transferred to the
U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware and are currently subject to a stay
injunction by that court. The Company plans to vigorously defend itself and pursue its
counterclaims.
          From 1957 to 1982, CEAC, the Company�s principal French subsidiary, operated a
plant using crocidolite asbestos fibers in the formation of battery cases, which, once formed,
encapsulated the fibers. Approximately 1,500 employees worked in the plant over the
period. Since 1982, the French governmental agency responsible for worker illness claims
received 56 employee claims alleging asbestos-related illnesses. For some of those claims,
CEAC is obligated to and has indemnified the agency in accordance with French law for
approximately $260 and $378 in calendar 2003 and 2004, respectively. In addition, CEAC
has been adjudged liable to indemnify the agency for approximately $200 and $107 during
the same periods to date for the dependents of four such claimants. The Company was not
required to indemnify or make any payments in calendar year 2005. Although the Company
cannot predict the number or size of any future claims, the Company does not believe
resolution of the current or any future claims, individually or in the aggregate, will have a
material adverse effect on the Company�s financial condition, cash flows or results of
operations.
          The Company�s Shanghai, China subsidiary, Exide Technologies (Shanghai) Company
Limited (�Exide Shanghai�), has been the subject of an investigation by the Anti-Smuggling
Bureau of the Shanghai Customs Administration (�Anti-Smuggling Bureau�). A report was
submitted by the Anti-Smuggling Bureau to the Shanghai Municipal People�s Public
Prosecutor�s Office, First Division (�Prosecutor�s Office�). The Prosecutor�s Office rejected the
report, and with regard to two supplemental investigatory reports, the Company understands
that in both instances no criminal prosecution was recommended against Exide Shanghai, its
officers, directors and employees.
          In April 2003, the Company sold its Torrejon, Spain nickel-cadmium plant. The
Company has learned that the Torrejon courts are conducting an investigation of three
petitions submitted to determine whether criminal charges should be filed for alleged
injuries and endangerment of workers� health at the former Torrejon plant. The petitions
contain criminal allegations against current and former employees but only allegations of
civil liability against the Company. The investigations have been consolidated into one
court. The Company has retained counsel in the event that any charges ultimately are filed.
          Between 1996 and 2002, one of the Company�s Spanish subsidiaries negotiated
dual-scale salaries under collective bargaining agreements for workers at numerous
facilities. Several claims challenging the dual-scale salary system have been brought in
various Spanish courts covering multiple jurisdictions. To date, the Company has lost its
challenges in only one jurisdiction, and prevailed in other jurisdictions. The Company
continues to litigate these matters in the one jurisdiction and does not currently anticipate
any material adverse affect on the Company�s financial condition, cash flows or results of
operations.
          In June 2005, the Company received notice that two former stockholders, Aviva
Partners LLC and Robert Jarman, had separately filed purported class action lawsuits
against the Company and certain of its current and former officers alleging violations of
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certain federal securities laws. The cases were filed in the United States District Court for
the District of New Jersey purportedly on behalf of those who purchased the Company�s
stock between November 16, 2004 and May 17, 2005. The complaints allege that the named
officers violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act and SEC
Rule 10b-5 in connection with certain allegedly false and misleading public statements
made during this period by the Company and its officers. The complaints did not specify an
amount of damages sought. The Company denies the allegations in the complaints and
intends to vigorously pursue its defense.
          On August 29, 2005, District Judge Mary L. Cooper consolidated the Aviva Partners
and Jarman cases under the Aviva Partners v. Exide Technologies, Inc. caption, lead docket
number 05-3098 (MLC). On March 24, 2006 District Judge Cooper appointed the Alaska
Hotel & Restaurant Employees Pension Trust Fund and Lakeway Capital Management
Co-Lead Plaintiffs for the putative class of former Exide stockholders and appointed the law
firms of Lerach Coughlin Stoja Geller Rudman & Robbins LLP and Schatz & Nobel, P.C.
as Co-Lead Counsel for the putative class. On May 8, 2006 Co-Lead Plaintiffs filed their
consolidated amended complaint in which they reiterated the claims described above but
purported to state a claim on behalf of those who purchased the Company�s stock between
May 5, 2004 and May 17, 2005. Defendants intend to move to dismiss all claims against
them on or before June 22, 2006. Discovery is currently stayed pursuant to the
discovery-stay provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
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          On October 6, 2005, Murray Capital Management, Inc., filed suit against the
Company, certain of its current and former officers and Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc. The
case was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York under the
caption Murray Capital Management, Inc. v. Exide Technologies, et al., docket number 05
Civ. 8570 (AKH), and alleges that the defendants violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act and SEC Rule 10b-5, among other related state laws, in connection
with certain allegedly false and misleading public statements made by the Company and its
officers. While Murray�s claims are largely duplicative of those set out in the Aviva and
Jarman complaints, Murray also claims that false and misleading statements were made in
connection with the Company�s March 2005 issuance of convertible notes and concurrent
issuance of senior notes. The complaint does not specify the amount of damages sought in
the suit. All Defendants have moved to dismiss the Murray Capital complaint in its entirety
and the parties await a ruling on Defendants� motions to dismiss. Discovery in the case has
not yet begun and Defendants believe it will be stayed throughout the pendency of their
motions to dismiss pursuant to the discovery-stay provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The Company denies the allegations in the complaint and
intends to vigorously pursue its defense.
          In October 2005, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. made formal written demand that the
Company indemnify it in connection with the Murray litigation pursuant to the purchase
agreement for the Senior Secured Notes and the Floating Rate Convertible Senior
Subordinated Notes. The Company has accepted its indemnification obligations from
Deutsche Bank.
          The Company has been informed by the Enforcement Division of the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the �SEC�) that it has commenced a preliminary inquiry into
statements the Company made earlier this year regarding its ability to comply with fiscal
2005 loan covenants and the going concern modification in the audit report in the
Company�s annual report on Form 10-K for fiscal 2005. The SEC noted that the inquiry
should not be construed as an indication by the SEC or its staff that any violations of law
have occurred. The Company intends to fully cooperate with the inquiry and continues to do
so.
          The Company�s Norwegian subsidiary, Exide Sonnak AS, has received notice of
claims for property damage in the approximate amount of $5,300 allegedly as the result of a
warehouse fire occurring on or about July 8, 2005 in Trondheim, Norway due to an alleged
malfunctioning battery charger allegedly manufactured by the Company. The Company and
its counsel are evaluating those claims.

Environmental Matters
          As a result of its manufacturing, distribution and recycling operations, the Company
is subject to numerous federal, state and local environmental, occupational safety and health
laws and regulations, including limits on employee blood lead levels, as well as similar laws
and regulations in other countries in which the Company operates (collectively, �EH&S
laws�).
          The Company is exposed to liabilities under such EH&S laws arising from its past
handling, release, storage and disposal of hazardous substances and hazardous wastes. The
Company previously has been advised by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (�EPA�)
or state agencies that it is a �Potentially Responsible Party� under the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (�CERCLA�) or similar state laws
at 96 federally defined Superfund or state equivalent sites. At 44 of these sites, the Company
has paid its share of liability. While the Company believes it is probable its liability for most
of the remaining sites will be treated as disputed unsecured claims under the Plan, there can
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be no assurance these matters will be discharged. If the Company�s liability is not discharged
at one or more sites, the government may be able to file claims for additional response costs
in the future, or to order the Company to perform remedial work at such sites. In addition,
the EPA, in the course of negotiating this pre-petition claim, had notified the Company of
the possibility of additional clean-up costs associated with Hamburg, Pennsylvania
properties of approximately $35,000, as described in more detail below. To date the EPA
has not made a formal claim for this amount or provided any support for this estimate. To
the extent the EPA or other environmental authorities dispute the pre-petition nature of these
claims, the Company would intend to resist any such effort to evade the bankruptcy law�s
intended result, and believes there are substantial legal defenses to be asserted in that case.
However, there can be no assurance that the Company would be successful in challenging
any such actions.
          The Company is also involved in the assessment and remediation of various other
properties, including certain Company owned or operated facilities. Such assessment and
remedial work is being conducted pursuant to applicable EH&S laws with varying degrees
of involvement by appropriate legal authorities. Where probable and reasonably estimable,
the costs of such projects have been accrued by the Company, as discussed below. In
addition, certain environmental matters concerning the Company are pending in various
courts or with certain environmental regulatory agencies with respect to these currently or
formerly owned or operating locations. While the ultimate outcome of the foregoing
environmental matters is uncertain, after consultation with legal counsel, the Company does
not believe the resolution of these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will have a
material adverse effect on the Company�s financial condition, cash flows or results of
operations.
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          On September 6, 2005, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit issued an
opinion in U.S. v. General Battery/Exide (No. 03-3515) affirming the district court�s holding
that the Company is liable, as a matter of federal common law of successor liability, for lead
contamination at certain sites in the vicinity of Hamburg, Pennsylvania. This case involves
several of the pre-petition environmental claims of the federal government for which the
Company, as part of its Chapter 11 proceeding, had established a reserve of common stock
and Warrants. The current amount of the government claims for these sites is approximately
$14,000. In October 2004, the EPA, in the course of negotiating a comprehensive settlement
of all its environmental claims against the Company, had notified the Company of the
possibility of additional clean-up costs associated with other Hamburg, Pennsylvania
properties of approximately $35,000. To date the EPA has not made a formal claim for this
amount or provided any support for this estimate.
          As unsecured claims are allowed in the Bankruptcy Court, the Company is required to
distribute common stock and Warrants to the holders of such claims. To the extent the
government is able to prove the Company is responsible for the alleged contamination at the
other Hamburg, Pennsylvania properties and substantiate its estimated $35,000 of additional
clean-up costs, and if the Company is unsuccessful in challenging the Third Circuit�s
decision above, these claims would ultimately result in an inadequate reserve of common
stock and Warrants to the extent not offset by the reconciliation of all other claims for lower
amounts than the aggregate reserve. The Company would still retain the right to perform
and pay for such cleanup activities, which would preserve the existing reserved common
stock and Warrants discussed in this Note 15. It is the Company�s position that it is not liable
for the contamination of this area, and that any liability it may have derives from
pre-petition events which would be administered as a general, unsecured claim, and
consequently no provisions have been recorded in connection therewith.
          The Company has established reserves for on-site and off-site environmental
remediation costs where such costs are probable and reasonably estimable and believes that
such reserves are adequate. As of March 31, 2006 and 2005, the amount of such reserves on
the Company�s consolidated balance sheet was approximately $36,650 and $39,742,
respectively. Because environmental liabilities are not accrued until a liability is determined
to be probable and reasonably estimable, not all potential future environmental liabilities
have been included in the Company�s environmental reserves and, therefore, additional
earnings charges are possible. Also, future findings or changes in estimates could have a
material effect on the recorded reserves and cash flows.
          The Company is conducting an investigation and risk assessment of lead exposure
near its Reading smelter from past facility emissions and non-Company sources such as lead
paint. This is being done under a Consent Order with the USEPA. The Company has
previously removed soil from properties with the highest soil lead content, and is in
negotiations and proceedings with USEPA to resolve differences regarding the need for, and
extent of, further actions by the Company. Alternatives have been reviewed and appropriate
reserve estimates made. At this time the Company cannot determine from available
information whether additional cleanup will occur and, if so, the extent of any cleanup and
costs that may finally be incurred.
          The sites that currently have the largest reserves include the following:

Tampa, Florida
          The Tampa site is a former secondary lead smelter, lead oxide production facility, and
sheet lead-rolling mill that operated from 1943 to 1989. Under a RCRA Part B Closure
Permit and a Consent Decree with the State of Florida, Exide is required to investigate and
remediate certain historic environmental impacts to the site. Cost estimates for remediation
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(closure and post-closure) range from $12,500 to $20,500 depending on final State of
Florida requirements. The remediation activities are expected to occur over the course of
several years.

Columbus, Georgia
          The Columbus site is a former secondary lead smelter that was mothballed in 1999,
which is part of a larger facility that includes an operating lead acid battery manufacturing
facility. Groundwater remediation activities began in 1988. Costs for supplemental
investigations, remediation and site closure are currently estimated from $6,000 to $9,000.

Azambuja (SONALUR) Portugal
          The Azambuja (SONALUR) facility is an active secondary lead smelter. Materials
from past operations present at the site are stored in above-ground concrete containment
vessels and in underground storage deposits. The Company finalized the
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process of obtaining site characterization data to evaluate remediation alternatives agreeable
to local authorities. Costs for remediation are currently estimated at $3,500 to $7,000.

Guarantees
          At March 31, 2006, the Company had outstanding letters of credit with a face value of
$43,785 and surety bonds with a face value of $30,089. The majority of the letters of credit
and surety bonds have been issued as collateral or financial assurance with respect to certain
liabilities the Company has recorded, including but not limited to environmental
remediation obligations and self-insured workers compensation reserves. Failure of the
Company to satisfy its obligations with respect to the primary obligations secured by the
letters of credit or surety bonds could entitle the beneficiary of the related letter of credit or
surety bond to demand payments pursuant to such instruments. The letters of credit
generally have terms up to one year. The Company expects limited availability of new
surety bonds from traditional sources, which could impact the Company�s liquidity needs in
future periods. Pursuant to authorization from the Bankruptcy Court, the Company reached
an agreement with the surety to maintain its current surety bonds through July 31, 2006.
Collateral held by the surety in the form of letters of credit at March 31, 2006, pursuant to
the terms of the agreement, was $30,089.
          Certain of the Company�s European subsidiaries have bank guarantees outstanding,
which have been issued as collateral or financial assurance in connection with
environmental obligations, income tax claims and customer contract requirements. At
March 31, 2006, bank guarantees with a face value of $16,849 were outstanding.

Warranty and Return Allowance
          For a majority of the Company�s sales, an up-front �warranty discount� is provided at the
time of sale, after which there is no additional warranty obligation or customer
right-of-return. For the remaining sales on which an up-front discount is not provided, the
Company provides for an allowance for product returns and/or allowances. Based upon its
manufacturing re-work process, the Company believes that the majority of its product
returns are not the result of product defects. Many returns are in fact subsequently sold as
seconds at a reduced price. The Company recognizes warranty discounts and the estimated
cost of product returns as a reduction of sales in the period in which the related revenue is
recognized. The product return estimates are based upon historical trends and claims
experience, and include assessment of the anticipated lag between the date of sale and
claim/return date.
     A reconciliation of changes in the Company�s consolidated warranty and return liability
follows:

Balance at March 31, 2005 $ 49,030
Accrual for warranties and returns provided during the period 48,473
Settlements made (in cash or credit) during the period (50,543)
Currency translation (1,342)

Balance at March 31, 2006 $ 45,618

Leases
          Future minimum lease payments under operating and capital leases that have initial or
remaining noncancelable lease terms in excess of one year at March 31, 2006, are:

Fiscal Year Operating Capital
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2007 $ 27,695 $ 4,237
2008 18,434 3,972
2009 11,343 3,178
2010 6,656 4,561
2011 4,461 1,600
Thereafter 16,899 6,275

Total minimum payments $ 85,488 23,823

Less�Interest on capital leases 3,947

Total principal payable on capital leases (included in
Long-term debt) $ 19,876

          Rent expense amounted to $58,016, $51,074, $5,488, and $62,143 for the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2006, the period May 6, 2004 to March 31, 2005, the period April 1, 2004
to May 5, 2004 and the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, respectively.
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          The Company has various purchase commitments for materials, supplies and other
items incident to the ordinary course of business. See Note 19 for discussion of the battery
separator agreement entered into as part of the Company�s sale of these operations.
(16) RESTRUCTURING
          During fiscal 2006, the Company has continued to implement operational changes to
streamline and rationalize its structure in an effort to simplify the organization and eliminate
redundant and/or unnecessary costs. As part of these restructuring programs, the nature of
the positions eliminated range from plant employees and clerical workers to operational and
sales management.
          During the year ended March 31, 2006, the Company recognized restructuring and
impairment charges of $21,714, representing $14,392 for severance and $7,322 for related
closure costs. These charges resulted from actions completed during fiscal 2006, which
related to consolidation efforts in the Industrial Energy Europe and ROW segment, closure
costs for the Company�s Casalnuovo, Italy industrial facility, corporate severance, headcount
reductions in the Transportation Europe and ROW segment, the closure of the
Lawrenceville, New Jersey office and fiscal 2006 North America headcount reductions in
corporate and in the Transportation North America and Industrial Energy North America
segments. Approximately 476 positions have been eliminated in connection with the fiscal
2006 restructuring activities. The following is a summary of restructuring reserve
movements from March 31, 2003 through March 31, 2006:

Severance
Closure
Costs Total

Balance, March 31, 2003 $ 19,360 $ 13,524 $ 32,884
Charges, Fiscal 2004 43,519 8,972 52,491
Payments and Currency Changes (25,185) (5,716) (30,901)
Reclassification (8,120) (3,855) (11,975)

Balance, March 31, 2004 29,574 12,925 42,499
Charges, April 1, 2004 to May 5, 2004 190 394 584
Payments and currency translation (4,900) (1,556) (6,456)

Balance at May 5, 2004 24,864 11,763 36,627
Charges, May 6, 2004 to March 31, 2005 32,066 6,413 38,479
Payments and currency translation (31,071) (9,039) (40,110)
Reclassification 1,159 � 1,159

Balance, March 31, 2005 27,018 9,137 36,155
Charges, Fiscal 2006 14,392 7,322 21,714
Payments and Currency Translation (34,637) (13,434) (48,071)

Balance, March 31, 2006 $ 6,773 $ 3,025 $ 9,798

          Remaining expenditures principally represent a) severance and related benefits
payable per employee agreements over periods up to three years and/or regulatory
requirements; b) lease commitments for certain closed facilities, branches and offices, as
well as leases for excess and permanently idle equipment payable in accordance with
contractual terms, over periods up to five years; and c) certain other closure costs including
dismantlement and costs associated with removal obligations incurred in connection with
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the exit of facilities.
          The following tables provide additional detail of specific restructuring actions taken
during each of the fiscal periods covered in the table above:

Severance Closure
Fiscal 2006 Costs Costs Totals

U.S. Headcount Reductions (including
Corporate) $ 1,930 $ 216 $ 2,146
Closure of Nanterre, France 234 2,711 2,945
Closure of Transportation North America
Facilities 1,228 1,570 2,798
Closure of Casalnuovo, Italy 2,004 2,670 4,674
Headcount Reductions (Transportation Europe
and ROW) 2,953 317 3,270
European Headcount Reductions (including
Corporate) 3,135 � 3,135
Headcount Reductions and Closure Costs
(Industrial Energy Europe and ROW) 2,908 (162) 2,746

Total Charge in the Statement of Operations $14,392 $7,322 $21,714
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Severance Closure
Period May 6, 2004 to March 31, 2005 Costs Costs Total

U.S. Headcount Reductions (including Corporate) $ 3,200 $ � $ 3,200
Closure of Nanterre, France 15,475 1,518 16,993
Closure of Weiden, Germany 323 606 929
Closure of Transportation North America
Facilities 3,000 494 3,494
Closure of Casalnuovo, Italy 529 2,696 3,225
Headcount Reductions (Transportation Europe
and ROW) 6,011 1,034 7,045
European Headcount Reductions (including
Corporate) 1,356 112 1,468
Headcount Reductions and Closure Costs
(Industrial Energy Europe and ROW) 2,172 (47) 2,125

Total Charge in the Statement of Operations $ 32,066 $ 6,413 $ 38,479

Severance Closure
Period April 1, 2004 to May 5, 2004 Costs Costs Total

Closure of Transportation North America Facilities $ � $ 65 $ 65
Closure of Casalnuovo, Italy � 143 143
Headcount Reductions (Transportation Europe and
ROW) 152 180 332
European Headcount Reductions (including
Corporate) 12 � 12
Headcount Reductions and Closure Costs (Industrial
Energy Europe and ROW) 26 6 32

Total Charge in the Statement of Operations $ 190 $ 394 $ 584

Severance Closure
Fiscal 2004 Costs Costs Total

U.S. Headcount Reductions (including Corporate) $ 600 $ � $ 600
Closure of Weiden, Germany 11,189 2,862 14,051
Closure of Transportation North America
Facilities 411 1,570 1,981
Closure of Casalnuovo, Italy 7,361 708 8,069
Headcount Reductions (Transportation Europe
and ROW) 6,934 1,173 8,107
European Headcount Reductions (including
Corporate) 3,121 164 3,285
Headcount Reductions and Closure Costs
(Industrial Energy Europe and ROW) 13,903 2,495 16,398
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Total Charge in the Statement of Operations $ 43,519 $ 8,972 $ 52,491

(17) INTEREST EXPENSE, NET
          Interest income of $1,013, $2,026, $21, and $1,129 is included in interest expense, net
for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, the period May 6, 2004 to March 31, 2005, the
period April 1, 2004 to May 5, 2005 and the fiscal year end March 31, 2004, respectively.
Interest income earned as a result of assumed excess cash balances due to the Chapter 11
filing was recorded in Reorganization items, net in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the period April 1, 2004 to May 5, 2004. See Note 6.
          As of the Petition Date, the Company ceased accruing interest on certain unsecured
pre-petition debt classified as Liabilities subject to compromise in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets in accordance with SOP 90-7. Interest was accrued on certain pre-petition debt to the
extent that the Company believed it was probable of being deemed an allowed claim by the
Bankruptcy Court. Interest at the stated contractual amount on pre-petition debt that was not
charged to results of operations for the period April 1, 2004 to May 5, 2004 was
approximately $3,339.

(18) OTHER (INCOME) EXPENSE, NET
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          Other (income) expense, net consist of:

Period

From
Period
From

Year
Ended

May 6,
2004 to April 1, 2004 to Year Ended

March 31,
2006

March 31,
2005

May 5,
2004

March 31,
2004

Net loss on sales of
accounts receivable $ � $ � $ � $ 11,260
Net (gain) loss on asset
sales 8,044 7,649 � (9,700)
Equity income (1,881) (2,160) (164) (2,089)
Currency (gain) loss 11,280 (2,580) 6,283 (43,846)
(Gain) loss on revaluation
of foreign currency forward
contract (1,081) 13,165 � �
Gain on revaluation of
Warrants (9,125) (63,112) � �
Other (a) (3,553) (9,860) 103 3,651

$ 3,684 $ (56,898) $ 6,222 $ (40,724)

(a) On
September 24,
2004, the
Company
experienced a
fire at one of its
facilities in
Europe. While
damage to the
facility was
contained, the
Company has
experienced
disruption to
certain of its
business
operations and
activities while
the Company
restored
production
capacity and
diverted
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production to
alternative sites.
During fiscal
2005, the
Company
recognized
$13,645 of
insurance
recoveries;
$10,807
included above
in other and
$2,838 in cost of
sales. This
represents partial
reimbursement
for both business
interruption and
replacement of
property
damaged by the
fire. In fiscal
2006, the
Company
recognized the
remaining
$4,791(included
in Other above)
of total
insurance
recoveries of
$18,436 related
to this incident.

(19) PURCHASE COMMITMENTS
          The Company�s primary purchase obligation relates to an arrangement with its sole
supplier of polyethylene battery separators. The Company sold its separator manufacturing
operations in fiscal 2000 for approximately $47,000, including $26,100 in cash proceeds, to
an unrelated party, Daramic, Inc. (�Daramic� or the �Buyer�). In connection with the sale, the
Company entered into a ten-year supply agreement with Daramic that includes minimum
annual purchase commitments and penalty payments if such minimum annual purchase
commitments are not met. The agreement also required adjustment for the minimum annual
purchase commitments if the Company acquired any customers of Daramic during the term
of the agreement. The Company recorded a gain on this sale of $9,500 and established a
liability for estimated purchase commitment shortfall penalties of $8,500 based on
anticipated future purchases from Daramic.
          As a result of acquiring GNB, which was a customer of Daramic, the Company
renegotiated the supply agreement. Under the renegotiated terms and based on the
Company�s estimates of its purchases from the Buyer given the Company�s plan to integrate
GNB, the Company recorded a charge of $29,000 to cost of sales in fiscal 2001.
          Based on development of its five-year business plan, in fiscal 2002, the Company
revised its unit volume outlook. This revision increased its expected liability related to

Edgar Filing: ILLINOIS TOOL WORKS INC - Form DEF 14A

Table of Contents 140



purchase commitment shortfall penalties to a total of $53,400 for the then remaining eight
years of this supply agreement. This resulted in recognition of an additional charge to cost
of sales of $15,500 in fiscal 2002. At March 31, 2006, the remaining estimated liability was
$18,359.
          The Company uses both polyethylene and absorbed glass microfibre (�AGM�)
separators. There are a number of suppliers from whom the Company purchases AGM
separators. Polyethylene separators are purchased solely from Daramic, with supply
agreements expiring in December 2009. The agreements restrict the Company�s ability to
source separators from other suppliers unless there is a technical benefit that Daramic
cannot provide. In addition, the agreements provide for substantial minimum annual
purchase commitments. There is no second source that could readily provide the volume of
polyethylene separators used by the Company. As a result, any major disruption in supply
from Daramic would have an adverse impact on the Company
(20) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
          The estimated fair value of financial instruments has been determined by the
Company using available market information and appropriate methodologies; however,
considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop these estimates.
Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts
that the Company could realize in a current market exchange. Certain of these financial
instruments are with major financial institutions and expose the Company to market and
credit risks and may at times be concentrated with certain counterparties
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or groups of counterparties. The creditworthiness of counterparties is continually reviewed,
and full performance is anticipated.
          The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial
instruments are set forth below:

� Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable�the carrying
amounts of these items are a reasonable estimate of their fair values.

� Long-term receivables�the carrying amounts of these items are a reasonable estimate
of their fair value.

� Short-term borrowings�Borrowings under miscellaneous line of credit arrangements
have variable rates that reflect currently available terms and conditions for similar
debt. The carrying amount of these line of credit arrangements is a reasonable
estimate of its fair value.

� Long-term debt�Borrowings by foreign subsidiaries have variable rates that reflect
currently available terms and conditions for similar debt.

          The carrying values and estimated fair values of these obligations are as follows at
March 31, 2006 and 2005:

March 31, 2006 March 31, 2005
Estimated

Fair
Estimated

Fair
Carrying
Value Value

Carrying
Value Value

Senior Secured Credit Facility $316,277 $319,440 $266,470 $264,700
Senior Secured Notes due 2013 290,000 218,950 290,000 276,950
Convertible Senior Subordinated
Notes due 2013 60,000 30,000 60,000 55,044
          At March 31, 2006, the Company had a liability of $2,812 representing the estimated
fair value of various outstanding foreign currency forward contracts. At March 31, 2005, the
Company recognized an asset of $2,656 representing the estimated fair value of outstanding
lead forward contracts.
(21) SEGMENT INFORMATION
          The Company reports its results in four business segments Transportation North
America, Transportation Europe and ROW, Industrial Energy North America and Industrial
Energy Europe and ROW. The Company will continue to evaluate its reporting segments
pending future organizational changes that may take place.
          The Company is a global producer and recycler of lead-acid batteries. The Company�s
four business segments provide a comprehensive range of stored electrical energy products
and services for transportation and industrial applications.
          Transportation markets include original-equipment and aftermarket automotive,
heavy-duty truck, agricultural and marine applications, and new technologies for hybrid
vehicles and 42-volt automotive applications. Industrial markets include batteries for
telecommunications systems, fuel-cell load leveling, electric utilities, railroads,
uninterruptible power supply (UPS), lift trucks, mining and other commercial vehicles.
          The Company�s four reportable segments are determined based upon the nature of the
markets served and the geographic regions in which they operate. The Company�s chief
decision-maker monitors and manages the financial performance of these four business
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groups. Costs of shared services and other corporate costs are not allocated or charged to the
business groups.
          Certain asset information required to be disclosed is not reflected below as it is not
allocated by segment nor utilized by management in the Company�s operations.
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     Selected financial information concerning the Company�s reportable segments is as
follows:

Fiscal 2006
Transportation Industrial

Europe Europe
North and North and Other
America ROW America ROW (a) Consolidated

Net sales $913,317 $810,894 $274,976 $820,689 �  $2,819,876
Gross profit (b) 97,092 102,680 53,153 153,906 406,831
Income
(loss) before
reorganization
items, income
taxes, minority
interest and
cumulative
effect of change
in accounting
principle (b) (6,080) 24,396 8,846 39,696 (216,941) (150,083)
Depreciation
and
amortization 29,720 31,567 10,869 33,107 17,166 122,429

Period May 6, 2004 to March 31, 2005
Transportation Industrial

Europe Europe
North and North and Other
America ROW America ROW (a) Consolidated

Net sales $ 772,272 $ 764,238 $203,815 $735,934 �  $2,476,259
Gross profit 100,970 106,645 44,264 125,623 �  377,502
Income
(loss) before
reorganization
items, income
taxes, minority
interest and
cumulative
effect of
change in
accounting
principle (107,185) (106,183) (21,062) (97,694) (109,071) (441,195)
Depreciation
and
amortization 24,634 30,469 9,576 31,335 12,738 108,752

Period April 1, 2004 to May 5, 2004
Transportation Industrial

Europe Europe
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North and North and Other
America ROW America ROW (a) Consolidated

Net sales $75,299 $58,927 $19,193 $61,188 �  $214,607
Gross profit 11,121 7,850 4,775 11,724 �  35,470
Income
(loss) before
reorganization
items, income
taxes, minority
interest and
cumulative effect
of change in
accounting
principle 2,413 691 1,607 1,914 (29,293) (22,668)
Depreciation and
amortization 1,904 1,817 1,052 2,223 852 7,848

Fiscal 2004
Transportation Industrial

Europe Europe
North and North and Other
America ROW America ROW (a) Consolidated

Net sales $817,710 $760,512 $210,572 $711,699 �  $2,500,493
Gross profit 146,790 159,062 47,032 156,441 �  509,325
Income
(loss) before
reorganization
items, income
taxes, minority
interest and
cumulative
effect of change
in accounting
principle 63,020 75,640 14,397 4,439 (185,206) (27,710)
Depreciation
and
amortization 23,794 24,438 12,568 26,786 10,230 97,816

(a) Other includes
shared services
and corporate
expenses,
interest expense,
net, currency
remeasurement
loss (gain) and
losses on sales
of accounts
receivable.

(b)
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For fiscal 2006,
gross profit and
income
(loss) before
reorganization
items, income
taxes and
minority interest
and cumulative
effect of change
in accounting
principle for
Transportation
North America
and Industrial
Energy North
America reflect
a change in the
allocation of
lead costs
between the two
segments as
compared to the
prior period.
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The amounts for Industrial Energy North America would have been higher and
Transportation North America lower by $6,275 if the allocation change had not been made.
     Geographic information is as follows:

Revenues from External Customers

Period From
Period
From

Year
Ended

May 6, 2004
to

April 1,
2004 to Year Ended

March 31,
2006

March 31,
2005 May 5, 2004

March 31,
2004

United States $ 1,103,453 $ 907,813 $ 88,950 $ 956,596
France 204,839 197,195 14,644 213,235
Germany 348,435 329,147 25,143 327,014
UK 153,396 139,500 12,097 158,069
Italy 170,305 170,463 11,375 180,001
Spain 228,225 213,957 16,954 195,574
Other 611,223 518,184 45,444 470,004

Total $ 2,819,876 $ 2,476,259 $ 214,607 $ 2,500,493

Long-Lived Assets
2006 2005

United States $ 267,356 $ 300,666
France 65,529 76,192
Germany 77,189 91,233
UK 37,637 44,266
Portugal 42,346 49,735
Italy 54,165 65,135
Spain 89,705 111,008
Other 51,915 61,528

Total $ 685,842 $ 799,763

(22) SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (Unaudited)
          The following is a summary of the Company�s quarterly consolidated results of
operations for fiscal years 2006 and 2005:

2006
First Second Third Fourth

Net sales $669,332 $686,485 $733,442 $730,617
Gross profit 102,216 103,898 118,833 81,884
Net loss $ (35,709) $ (33,023) $ (27,658) $ (76,342)
Basic and diluted loss per
share $ (1.43) $ (1.32) $ (1.11) $ (3.05)

2005
Period From
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Period
From

April 1, 2004 toMay 6, 2004 to
May 5, 2004

(a)
June 30,
2004 Second Third (b) Fourth (c)

Net sales $ 214,607 $ 397,928 $637,599 $ 727,902 $712,830
Gross profit 35,470 64,799 95,012 125,751 91,940
Net income (loss) $1,748,564 $ 33,627 $ (17,101) $(439,040) $ (44,409)
Basic and diluted
income (loss) per
share $ 63.86 $ 1.35 $ (0.68) $ (17.56) $ (1.78)

(a) Includes gain on
discharge of
liabilities
subject to
compromise of
$1,558,839 and
Fresh Start
reporting
adjustments of
$228,371

(b) Includes the
Company�s
goodwill
impairment
charge of
$399,388.

(c) Includes an
adjustment to
the goodwill
impairment
charge of
$10,864.

(23) Subsequent Events
     On June 28, 2006, the Company entered into a Standby Purchase Agreement with
investors who would backstop a rights offering of common stock by the Company to its
shareholders and purchase additional shares of common stock. Such transactions would
provide gross proceeds to the Company of up to $125,000 before expenses. The closing of
such transactions is subject to several conditions, including shareholder approval (which the
Company plans to seek at its annual meeting of shareholders in August 2006), there being
no material adverse effect on the Company�s business and there not being trading
suspensions or other adverse developments in the financial markets. Subsequent to this
transaction the Company will have more common stock issued and as a result this
transaction will have a dilutive affect.

F-39
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EXIDE TECHNOLOGIES AND SUBSIDIARIES
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

Schedule II

Balance
at Additions Deductions/ Balance

Beginning
Charged

to Charge- at end

of period Expense offs
Other
(1) of period

(Amounts in thousands)
Allowance for
Doubtful Accounts
Year ended March 31,
2004 $ 35,666 5,140 (19,031) 2,658 $ 24,433

Period April 1, 2004 to
May 5, 2004 $ 24,433 473 (189) (516) $ 24,201

Period May 6, 2004 to
March 31, 2005 $ 24,201 1,973 (4,041) 338 $ 22,471

Year ended March 31,
2006 $ 22,471 4,116 (3,378) (1,572) $ 21,637

Valuation Allowance
on Deferred Tax
Assets
Year ended March 31,
2004 $ 495,111 37,556 (9,540) 14,032 $ 537,159

Period April 1, 2004 to
May 5, 2004 $ 537,159 15,547 (4,096) (2,700) $ 545,910

Period May 6, 2004 to
March 31, 2005 $ 545,910 90,515 (45,058) 6,133 $ 597,500

Year ended March 31,
2006 $ 597,500 $ 48,905 $ (339,642) $ (6,045) $ 300,718

(1) Primarily the
impact of
currency
changes as well
as the
acquisitions and
divestitures of
certain
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